
If you would like help to understand this document, or would like it in 
another format or language, please call David Penrose, Democratic 
Services Officer on 01432 383690 or e-mail 
dpenrose@herefordshire.gov.uk in advance of the meeting. 

 

 

 
 

AGENDA 
 

Adult Social Care and 
Strategic Housing Scrutiny 
Committee 

 

Date: Monday 14 December 2009 

Time: 9.30 am 

Place: The Council Chamber, Brockington, 35 Hafod Road, 
Hereford 

Notes: Please note the time, date and venue of the meeting. 

For any further information please contact: 

David Penrose, Democratic Services Officer 

Tel: 01432 383690 

Email: dpenrose@herefordshire.gov.uk 

 
 

 
 



 

GUIDANCE ON DECLARING PERSONAL AND PREJUDICIAL INTERESTS AT MEETINGS 
 

The Council’s Members’ Code of Conduct requires Councillors to declare against an Agenda item(s) 
the nature of an interest and whether the interest is personal or prejudicial.  Councillors have to 
decide first whether or not they have a personal interest in the matter under discussion.  They will 
then have to decide whether that personal interest is also prejudicial. 

  
A personal interest is an interest that affects the Councillor more than most other people in the area.  
People in the area include those who live, work or have property in the area of the Council.  
Councillors will also have a personal interest if their partner, relative or a close friend, or an 
organisation that they or the member works for, is affected more than other people in the area.  If they 
do have a personal interest, they must declare it but can stay and take part and vote in the meeting.   

 

Whether an interest is prejudicial is a matter of judgement for each Councillor.  What Councillors have 
to do is ask themselves whether a member of the public – if he or she knew all the facts – would think 
that the Councillor’s interest was so important that their decision would be affected by it.  If a 
Councillor has a prejudicial interest then they must declare what that interest is.  A Councillor who 
has declared a prejudicial interest at a meeting may nevertheless be able to address that meeting, 
but only in circumstances where an ordinary member of the public would be also allowed to speak.  In 
such circumstances, the Councillor concerned will have the same opportunity to address the meeting 
and on the same terms.  However, a Councillor exercising their ability to speak in these 
circumstances must leave the meeting immediately after they have spoken. 

 

Agenda for the Meeting of the Adult Social Care 
and Strategic Housing Scrutiny Committee 
  

Membership  
  

Chairman Councillor PA Andrews 
Vice-Chairman Councillor AE Gray 

  

Councillor ME Cooper  
Councillor H Davies  
Councillor BA Durkin  
Councillor MJ Fishley  
Councillor KG Grumbley  
Councillor MD Lloyd-Hayes  
Councillor JE Pemberton  
Councillor GA Powell  
Councillor RV Stockton  
  

 
Mr R Kelly (Voluntary Sector)  

 
 

Non Voting 



 
HEREFORDSHIRE COUNCIL  14 DECEMBER 2009 

 

 

AGENDA 
 Pages 
  
   
1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE     
   
 To receive apologies for absence.  
   
2. NAMED SUBSTITUTES     
   
 To receive details of any Member nominated to attend the meeting in place 

of a Member of the Committee 
 

   
3. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST     
   
 To receive any declarations of interest by Members in respect of items on 

the Agenda. 
 

   
4. MINUTES   1 - 2  
   
 To approve and sign the Minutes of the meeting held on 30 October 2009.  
   
5. SUGGESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC ON ISSUES FOR 

FUTURE SCRUTINY   
  

   
 To consider suggestions from members of the public on issues the 

Committee could scrutinise in the future. 
 

   
6. REVENUE BUDGET MONITORING REPORT 2009/10   3 - 12  
   
 To advise members of the financial position for Adult Social Care and 

Strategic Housing revenue budgets for the period to 31st October 2009. The 
report lists the variations against budget at this stage in the year and a 
projected outturn for the year.  

 

   
7. SUPPORTING PEOPLE PROGRAMME GRANT BUDGET POSITION   13 - 16  
   
 To receive a report on the Supporting People Programme Grant budget.  
   
8. ADULT SOCIAL CARE PERFORMANCE MONITORING 2009/10   17 - 36  
   
 To report on the national performance indicators position and other 

performance management information for the Adult Social Care Division 
within the Joint Commissioning Directorate. 

 

   
9. STRATEGIC HOUSING SERVICE PERFORMANCE   37 - 44  
   
 To update the Committee on the progress towards the achievement of 

national performance indicator targets and other performance management 
information for the Strategic Housing Service within the Regeneration 
Directorate. 

 

   
10. SAFEGUARDING BOARD, ADULT SOCIAL CARE – IMPROVEMENT 

PROGRAMME (TO FOLLOW)   
  

   
 To receive a progress report on the work of the Safeguarding Board.  
   
11. SCOPING REPORT FOR THE SCRUTINY REVIEW OF HOME CARE IN 

HEREFORDSHIRE   
45 - 50  

   
 To consider a proposal to scrutinise the Support for Home Care in 

Herefordshire. 
 

  
 
 



 

 

 
 
  
12. HOMELESSNESS PREVENTION AND ALLEVIATION APPROACHES   51 - 58  
   
 To inform the Committee of the measures used to help prevent 

homelessness in Herefordshire. 
 

   
13. LIVING WELL WITH DEMENTIA – A NATIONAL STRATEGY - UPDATE ON 

IMPLEMENTATION   
59 - 86  

   
 To receive a report on Herefordshire’s implementation of the National 

Dementia Strategy: Living well with Dementia. 
 

   
14. COMMITTEE WORK PROGRAMME   87 - 90  
   
 To consider the Work Programme.  
   



PUBLIC INFORMATION 

HEREFORDSHIRE COUNCIL'S SCRUTINY COMMITTEES 

The Council has established Scrutiny Committees for Adult Social Care 
and Strategic Housing, Childrens’ Services, Community Services, 
Environment, and Health.  A Strategic Monitoring Committee scrutinises 
corporate matters and co-ordinates the work of these Committees. 

The purpose of the Committees is to ensure the accountability and 
transparency of the Council's decision making process. 

The principal roles of Scrutiny Committees are to 
 

•  Help in developing Council policy 
 

• Probe, investigate, test the options and ask the difficult questions 
before and after decisions are taken 

 

• Look in more detail at areas of concern which may have been raised 
by the Cabinet itself, by other Councillors or by members of the public 

 

• "call in" decisions  - this is a statutory power which gives Scrutiny 
Committees the right to place a decision on hold pending further 
scrutiny. 

 

• Review performance of the Council 
 

• Conduct Best Value reviews  
 

• Undertake external scrutiny work engaging partners and the public  
 
Formal meetings of the Committees are held in public and information 
on your rights to attend meetings and access to information are set out 
overleaf 
 



PUBLIC INFORMATION 

Public Involvement at Scrutiny Committee Meetings 

You can contact Councillors and Officers at any time about Scrutiny 
Committee matters and issues which you would like the Scrutiny 
Committees to investigate.  

There are also two other ways in which you can directly contribute at 
Herefordshire Council’s Scrutiny Committee meetings. 

1. Identifying Areas for Scrutiny 

At the meeting the Chairman will ask the members of the public present if 
they have any issues which they would like the Scrutiny Committee to 
investigate, however, there will be no discussion of the issue at the time 
when the matter is raised.  Councillors will research the issue and consider 
whether it should form part of the Committee’s work programme when 
compared with other competing priorities. 

Please note that the Committees can only scrutinise items which fall within 
their specific remit (see below).  If a matter is raised which falls within the 
remit of another Scrutiny Committee then it will be noted and passed on to 
the relevant Chairman for their consideration.   

2. Questions from Members of the Public for Consideration at 
Scrutiny Committee Meetings and Participation at Meetings 

You can submit a question for consideration at a Scrutiny Committee 
meeting so long as the question you are asking is directly related to an item 
listed on the agenda.  If you have a question you would like to ask then 
please submit it no later than two working days before the meeting to 
the Committee Officer.  This will help to ensure that an answer can be 
provided at the meeting.  Contact details for the Committee Officer can be 
found on the front page of this agenda.   

Generally, members of the public will also be able to contribute to the 
discussion at the meeting.  This will be at the Chairman’s discretion.   

(Please note that the Scrutiny Committees are not able to discuss 
questions relating to personal or confidential issues.) 



 
Remits of Herefordshire Council’s Scrutiny Committees 
 
Adult Social Care and Strategic Housing 
 
Statutory functions for adult social services including: 
Learning Disabilities 
Strategic Housing 
Supporting People 
Public Health 
 
Children’s Services 
 
Provision of services relating to the well-being of children including 
education, health and social care. 
 
Community Services Scrutiny Committee 
 
Libraries 
Cultural Services including heritage and tourism 
Leisure Services 
Parks and Countryside 
Community Safety 
Economic Development 
Youth Services 
 
Health 
 
Planning, provision and operation of health services affecting the area 
Health Improvement 
Services provided by the NHS 
 
Environment 
 
Environmental Issues 
Highways and Transportation 
 
Strategic Monitoring Committee 
Corporate Strategy and Finance 
Resources  
Corporate and Customer Services 
Human Resources 

 

 



The Public’s Rights to Information and Attendance at 
Meetings  
 
YOU HAVE A RIGHT TO: - 
 
 

• Attend all Council, Cabinet, Committee and Sub-Committee meetings unless the 
business to be transacted would disclose ‘confidential’ or ‘exempt’ information. 

• Inspect agenda and public reports at least five clear days before the date of the 
meeting. 

• Inspect minutes of the Council and all Committees and Sub-Committees and written 
statements of decisions taken by the Cabinet or individual Cabinet Members for up to 
six years following a meeting. 

• Inspect background papers used in the preparation of public reports for a period of up 
to four years from the date of the meeting.  (A list of the background papers to a 
report is given at the end of each report).  A background paper is a document on 
which the officer has relied in writing the report and which otherwise is not available 
to the public. 

• Access to a public Register stating the names, addresses and wards of all 
Councillors with details of the membership of Cabinet and of all Committees and 
Sub-Committees. 

• Have a reasonable number of copies of agenda and reports (relating to items to be 
considered in public) made available to the public attending meetings of the Council, 
Cabinet, Committees and Sub-Committees. 

• Have access to a list specifying those powers on which the Council have delegated 
decision making to their officers identifying the officers concerned by title. 

• Copy any of the documents mentioned above to which you have a right of access, 
subject to a reasonable charge (20p per sheet subject to a maximum of £5.00 per 
agenda plus a nominal fee of £1.50 for postage). 

• Access to this summary of your rights as members of the public to attend meetings of 
the Council, Cabinet, Committees and Sub-Committees and to inspect and copy 
documents. 

 

 

 



 

Please Note: 

Agenda and individual reports can be made available in large 
print.  Please contact the officer named on the front cover of this 
agenda in advance of the meeting who will be pleased to deal 
with your request. 

The Council Chamber where the meeting will be held is accessible for 
visitors in wheelchairs, for whom toilets are also available. 

A public telephone is available in the reception area. 
 
Public Transport Links 
 
 
• Public transport access can be gained to Brockington via the service runs 

approximately every half hour from the ‘Hopper’ bus station at the Tesco store in 
Bewell Street (next to the roundabout junction of Blueschool Street / Victoria Street / 
Edgar Street). 

• The nearest bus stop to Brockington is located in Old Eign Hill near to its junction 
with Hafod Road.  The return journey can be made from the same bus stop. 

 
 
 
 
 
If you have any questions about this agenda, how the Council works or would like more 
information or wish to exercise your rights to access the information described above, 
you may do so either by telephoning the officer named on the front cover of this agenda 
or by visiting in person during office hours (8.45 a.m. - 5.00 p.m. Monday - Thursday 
and 8.45 a.m. - 4.45 p.m. Friday) at the Council Offices, Brockington, 35 Hafod Road, 
Hereford. 

 

 

 

 

 
Where possible this agenda is printed on paper made from 100% Post-Consumer waste. De-

inked without bleaching and free from optical brightening agents (OBA). Awarded the 

Nordic Swan for low emissions during production and the Blue Angel environmental label. 

 



 

HEREFORDSHIRE COUNCIL 
 
 

BROCKINGTON, 35 HAFOD ROAD, HEREFORD. 
 
 
 

FIRE AND EMERGENCY EVACUATION PROCEDURE 
 
 

 

In the event of a fire or emergency the alarm bell will ring 
continuously. 

You should vacate the building in an orderly manner through the 
nearest available fire exit. 

You should then proceed to Assembly Point J which is located at 
the southern entrance to the car park.  A check will be undertaken 
to ensure that those recorded as present have vacated the 
building following which further instructions will be given. 

Please do not allow any items of clothing, etc. to obstruct any of 
the exits. 

Do not delay your vacation of the building by stopping or returning 
to collect coats or other personal belongings. 
 



HEREFORDSHIRE COUNCIL 

MINUTES of the meeting of Adult Social Care and Strategic 
Housing Scrutiny Committee held at The Council Chamber, 
Brockington, 35 Hafod Road, Hereford on Friday 30 October 2009 
at 2.00 pm 
  

Present: Councillor PA Andrews (Chairman) 
 

 Councillors: MJ Fishley, KS Guthrie and AT Oliver 
 

  
In attendance: Councillors LO Barnett (Cabinet Member, Older People & Social Care Adults), 

WLS Bowen and KG Grumbley 
  
144. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE   

 
Apologies for Absence were received from Councillors ME Cooper, H Davies, B Durkin, AE 
Gray, MD Lloyd-Hayes, JE Pemberton and GA Powell. 
 

145. NAMED SUBSTITUTES   
 
Councillor AT Oliver was present as a substitute for Councillor H Davies. 
 

146. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   
 
There were no Declarations of Interest. 
 

147. MINUTES   

RESOLVED: That the Minutes of the Meeting held on 2 October 2009 be confirmed as a 
correct record and signed by the Chairman. 

 
148. SUGGESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC ON ISSUES FOR FUTURE 

SCRUTINY   
 
There were no suggestions from Members of the Public for issues for future scrutiny. 
 

149. REVIEW OF THE SUPPORT TO CARERS IN HEREFORDSHIRE   
 
The Committee received the Review of the Support to Carers in Herefordshire.  The 
Chairman of the Review Group expressed his thanks to the Review Group for all the hard 
work that had gone into putting this report together and added that he hoped that the 
Recommendations would help to improve the position of carers in the County.  In the ensuing 
discussion the following points were raised: 
 

• That paragraph 4.1 of the report stated that the Council received £831.5k in funding 
from central Government for carers services through the Area-based Grant.  This sum 
was augmented by a budget of £50k from the Primary Care Trust, and provided funding 
for the carers’ support system in the County.  This money was allocated solely for the 
needs of carers. 

 

• That it was important that the Area Based Grant for carers should be protected, as 
outlined in Recommendation 2.  The County was faced with an ageing population, 
and support for those who were caring for their spouses and relatives would become 
increasingly important. 

AGENDA ITEM 4

1



 

 

• That as all six Partnership Groups were covered by the Area Based Grant, 
consideration might be given to not merely targeting the Health and Well Being 
Partnership, but also the others that provided both direct and indirect services to 
carers. 

 

• In reply to a question from a Member regarding what provisions were in place for 
the cared for if their carer fell ill, the Associate Director of Joint Commissioning 
said that there were a number of options available to the Council, including 
placing a temporary carer into the home of the cared for. 

 

• It was noted that whilst personal budget allocations to carers would be an 
important issue for the future, the Council was having problems in setting a 
formula for the allocation of points as part of the system.  Whilst work had been 
done on this issue at local level, on the national level, there was still no set 
formula from Government. 

 

• That there were now a full team of Carer Assessors in post, and a designated 
officer was in place to fulfil the role outlined in Recommendation 7 of the report. 

 
The Cabinet Member (Older People & Social Care Adults) said that the Review had 
been a good and worthwhile exercise, and thanked the Review Group for their work. 
 
 

RESOLVED: 
 

That:  
 

(a)  the report of the Carers Scrutiny Review Group, in particular its 
recommendations should be approved and be submitted to 
Cabinet. 

 

(b)  the Executive’s response to the Review including an action plan 
be reported to the first available meeting of the Committee after 
the Executive had approved its response; 

 

and; 
 

(c)  a further report on progress in response to the Review be made 
after six months with consideration then being given to the need 
for any further reports to be made. 

 
 

The meeting ended at 2.40 pm CHAIRMAN 

2



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Greg Evans, Management Accountancy Manager (Tel: 
01432 261848) 

  

CLASSIFICATION: Open  

Wards Affected 

County-wide  

Purpose 

To advise members of the committee of the financial position for Adult Social Care and Strategic 
Housing revenue budgets for the period to 31

st
 October 2009. The report lists the variations 

against budget at this stage in the year and a projected outturn for the year. 

Key Decision 

This is not a key decision 

Recommendations  

THAT: the report be noted 

Reasons for Recommendations 

1. To enable Scrutiny Committee to carry out its function in relation to the Adult Social Care 
and Strategic Housing revenue budget for 2009/10. 

 

Key Considerations 

2. A detailed Budget Monitoring Report to 31
st
 October 2009 is attached at Appendix 1 for 

Members’ consideration.  

3. The Adult Social Care budget sits within the Integrated Commissioning Directorate whilst 
the Strategic Housing budget sits within the Regeneration Directorate. 

4. The summary position is set out in the following table. 

 

 

 

MEETING: ADULT SOCIAL CARE AND STRATEGIC HOUSING 

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

DATE: 14 DECEMBER 2009 

TITLE OF REPORT: REVENUE BUDGET MONITORING REPORT 2009/10 

PORTFOLIO AREA:  ADULT SOCIAL CARE AND STRATEGIC HOUSING 

AGENDA ITEM 6

3



  

 Annual 

Budget 

£000  

 July 09 Net 

Forecast 

Over or 

(under) 

spend £000  

 October 09 

Net Forecast 

Over or 

(under) spend 

£000  

Older People 14,783 945 316 

Learning Disabilities 11,135 1,344 1,504 

Mental Health 7,010 552 133 

Physical Disabilities / Sensory Impairment 3,826 284 538 

Section 75 Arrangements 895 34 118 

Management and Support 254 (268) (30) 

Modernisation 162 (271) (74) 

Total Adult Social Care 38,065 2,620 2,505 

    

Strategic Housing 1,917 35 (30) 

    

Total 39,982 2,655 2,475 

 

Adult Social Care 

5. The forecast outturn position is an over spend of £2.5 million. The forecast includes 
£1.088m savings arising from the recovery plan and £70k of potential continuing 
healthcare pressures.  Further recovery action is being undertaken and is outlined in the 
report. 

6. The forecasts are based on client commitments identified within the different social care 
systems and projected forward. Planned implementation of a commitment accounting 
approach for homecare has faced considerable software difficulties, and these are unlikely 
to be solved this financial year. Work is progressing on the implementation of the finance 
module of the Frameworki system which will enable full commitment accounting in 2010-
11. 

7. The attached activity information, appendix 2, shows the trend in packages for 2009/10 
and indicates the increases in all areas except mental health where more a robust panel 
process for younger adults and the use of the mental health intermediate care project has 
helped to dampen down the affect of numbers going into residential care.  Service 
Managers are now challenging care packages in all client groups put forward to panel, and 
have access to void information to aid their decision making. 

8. Residential care is the most expensive category of care and the attached graph in 
appendix 2 illustrates the trend in residential numbers for the current year for each client 
group. The pattern is fairly consistent, with slight increases experienced in Learning 
Disabilities and Older People earlier in the year which have now reduced. 

9.  The key area of overspend is Learning Disabilities where work is on-going to transfer 
clients out of residential care into supported living making use of block contracts and 
housing related support purchased through the supporting people programme. Savings will 
have a part-year effect of around £30k if achieved and the full-year effect for 2010/11 is 
estimated at around £120k.  This will be offset by the increase in transitions of four clients 
from children’s services which if transferred at current cost level will have an impact of 
£279k.  There is a further pressure due to the reduction of LSC funding for those clients 
going into further education.  

10. Since the July report the social work teams have been strengthened to deal with 
emergency safeguarding issues. These issues require re-prioritisation of staff resources 

4



and the consequences include an impact on the time available to conduct reviews in order 
to ensure that the most suitable level of care is in place.  A team has been set up to deal 
with a small amount of homes which are falling short of current standards.  The impact of 
this is an additional cost of £104k for 2009/10. The Council have a requirement for not only 
the supported clients but also those of self funders.  Clients currently within these homes 
and supported by spot contract will transfer into current void residential care contracts. The 
number of contract voids is forecast to reduce by at least 40% from 1

st
 January and is built 

into the forecast assumptions.  

11. There have been increases for all client groups in the number of homecare packages 
agreed at panel.  This is due to a combination of new clients and additional support hours 
required to meet increasing need following review.  The recent bed crisis at the County 
Hospital has meant that patients were discharged in order to cope with exceptional 
demand.  

12. The integrated community equipment store has seen an increase in the number of 
equipment issues made and a decrease of 8% in the number of pieces returned to the 
store. The impact of this is a £59k over spend if remedial action is not taken. 

13. Modernisation projects such as electronic monitoring, external brokerage and 
Shop4Support will enhance the customer experience and help to deliver services in a more 
efficient and effective way.  The projects will start to show an impact on costs in 2010/11.  
Projects are fully funded by the Social Care Transformation Grant. 

14. There has been an increase in the projection for the Integrated Commissioning Directorate 
for redundancy costs of £30k due to re-structure.  

15. Additional budget savings are expected of around £20k in 2009/10 from the hold on all 
non-essential spend within adult services and all agency staff are now approved by the 
relevant Head of Service.  All other recovery action is noted in the plan below and Heads of 
Service will attend a further recovery meeting in December to ensure additional measures 
are in place to reduce the current overspend. 

 Supporting People 

16. The 2009-10 grant to be received is £5.88 million and is fully committed. The cumulative 
carried forward under spend brought forward into 2009-10 was £4.83 million. A large 
proportion of the carry forward is committed to fund a number of pilot schemes and 
shortfall between on-going costs and the annual grant. The expected carry forward under 
spend at year end, based on current commitments, will be £1.320m. 

17. A separate report to the Adult Social Care and Strategic Housing Scrutiny Committee gives 
more background and information on the Supporting People programme and the financial 
position. 

Strategic Housing 

18. Strategic Housing is projected to under spend by £30k.   

19. Demand for temporary accommodation in bed and breakfast has been lower to date than 
in the last year but remains a risk area. The following table shows a detailed breakdown of 
occupation this year. Families with children are the most expensive to house. 

Category April July August Sept Oct 

Families with children 2 3 2 3 4 

Other (couples, siblings) 1 1 1 1 0 

Single 6 10 9 4 8 

Total 9 14 12 8 12 

 

5



20. The following table illustrates that the reduction in total B&B numbers which started in the 
 last half of 2008/09 has been sustained so far this year.  

B&B Occupancy

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

Ap
ril
 

M
ay

Ju
ne

Ju
ly

Au
gu
st

Se
pt
em
be
r

O
ct
ob
er

N
ov
em
be
r

D
ec
em
be
r

Ja
nu
ar
y

Fe
br
ua
ry

M
ar
ch

Months

H
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
s

2008/09

2009/10

 

21. The reduced occupancy means that there should be no overspend on temporary 
accommodation. Overall the homelessness section is expected to under spend by some 
£36k due to staff vacancies. 

22. Within the remainder of the Strategic Housing there are a number of smaller positive and 
negative variances which even out across the service.   

Recovery Plans 

23. The Adult Social Care recovery plan has highlighted a number of actions which could 
potentially generate savings of £1.7m.  £75k has already been achieved though the hold 
on vacancies and the utilisation of daycare voids. A number of other savings totalling 
£1.089m have been assessed as achievable and these are included within the October 
forecast and are as defined as: 

a. The transfer of eligible expenditure to capital grants of £495k. 

b. The transfer of eligible housing related support expenditure within adult services to 
the Supporting People Programme Grant of £500k. 

c. The decrease in the residential voids from the transfer of clients following work 
completed by the emergency safeguarding team of £44k. 

d. The movement of eligible expenditure to grants within learning disabilities of £50k. 

Further measures identified for present and future financial stability include: 

e. The impact of completing a new standard price for residential care in order to 
reduce the amount of third party top-ups paid. 

f. Review of the fair pricing policy in order to generate additional income and look at 
services not currently charged. 

6



g. To implement the new resource allocation model giving greater equity to all clients 
and allowing a `budget` for care for social workers to work towards. Therefore 
reducing the impact of over allocation of personal budgets.  

h. The implementation of electronic monitoring in order to ensure that more 
verification and payment of actual hours delivered. 

i. The, impact on the hold on all non-essential spend of around £20k. 

j. The transfer of learning disability clients into supported accommodation. Estimated 
at around £30k if moved by 1

st
 January 2010. 

k. Review of out of county placements within learning disabilities and the review of 
clients outside county with local PCT’s where they now are eligible for continuing 
healthcare funding. 

l. The use of the fair funding calculator to negotiate better prices with providers. 

m. The claiming of ILF (Independent Living Fund) currently £14k to reclaim for current 
learning disability clients. 

n. Consideration of options to raise eligibility criteria for services. 

o. Automatic default to legal charge on property on admission to care. 

24. An action plan to implement, monitor and review the recovery actions is in place and is 
regularly reviewed by senior management and financial services. 

25. A recovery plan for Regeneration has been agreed which should enable the Directorate          
to achieve a balanced budget. However Homelessness remains a volatile area where 
increases can occur due to external pressures. The position will continue to be monitored 
closely and further action will be taken if required. 

Financial Implications 

26. These are contained in the body of the report.  The projected outturn is based upon results 
to the end of October 2009. 

Legal Implications 

27. None 

Risk Management 

28. The risks are set out in the body of the report, in terms of the potential over spend.  The 
report notes the actions planned to address this potential overspend. 

Consultees 

29. Not applicable 

Appendices 

Appendix 1 - Revenue Budget Monitoring Report for 2009/10 Period to 31
st
 October 2009 

Appendix 2 - Activity Data relating to Adult Social Care 

7



8



 Y
T
D
 

B
u
d
g
e
t 

 Y
T
D
 

A
c
tu
a
ls
 

 A
n
n
u
a
l 

B
u
d
g
e
t 

 P
ro
je
c
te
d
 

O
u
tt
u
rn
 

 V
a
ri
a
n
c
e
 

 Y
T
D
 

B
u
d
g
e
t 

 Y
T
D
 

A
c
tu
a
ls
 

 A
n
n
u
a
l 

B
u
d
g
e
t 

 P
ro
je
c
te
d
 

O
u
tt
u
rn
 

 V
a
ri
a
n
c
e
 

 Y
T
D
 

B
u
d
g
e
t 

 Y
T
D
 

A
c
tu
a
ls
 

 A
n
n
u
a
l 

B
u
d
g
e
t 

 P
ro
je
c
te
d
 

O
u
tt
u
rn
 

 V
a
ri
a
n
c
e
 

O
ld
e
r 
P
e
o
p
le

1
1
,5
5
1

1
2
,1
3
5

1
9
,8
7
1

2
0
,1
2
3

(2
5
2
)

(2
,8
2
8
)

(2
,5
4
7
)

(5
,0
8
8
)

(5
,0
2
4
)

(6
4
)

8
,7
2
3

9
,5
8
8

1
4
,7
8
3

1
5
,0
9
9

(3
1
6
)

L
e
a
rn
in
g
 D
is
a
b
ili
ti
e
s

9
,4
5
9

9
,8
5
6

1
6
,5
0
7

1
7
,6
5
7

(1
,1
5
0
)

(8
9
3
)

(1
,1
3
4
)

(5
,3
7
2
)

(5
,0
1
8
)

(3
5
4
)

8
,5
6
6

8
,7
2
2

1
1
,1
3
5

1
2
,6
3
9

(1
,5
0
4
)

M
e
n
ta
l 
H
e
a
lt
h

5
,1
3
3

5
,4
1
9

8
,7
0
2

9
,1
0
8

(4
0
6
)

(9
6
8
)

(1
,0
7
7
)

(1
,6
9
2
)

(1
,9
6
5
)

2
7
3

4
,1
6
5

4
,3
4
2

7
,0
1
0

7
,1
4
3

(1
3
3
)

P
h
y
s
ic
a
l 
D
is
a
b
ili
ti
e
s
 /
 S
e
n
s
o
ry
 I
m
p
a
ir
m
e
n
t

2
,4
0
4

2
,9
9
8

4
,1
2
2

4
,8
6
1

(7
3
9
)

(1
7
2
)

(2
8
3
)

(2
9
6
)

(4
9
7
)

2
0
1

2
,2
3
2

2
,7
1
5

3
,8
2
6

4
,3
6
4

(5
3
8
)

C
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
 D
ir
e
c
to
ra
te

1
,1
1
6

7
1
2

2
,0
4
9

1
,9
7
4

7
5

(2
6
6
)

0
(5
1
3
)

(4
9
2
)

(2
1
)

8
5
0

7
1
2

1
,5
3
6

1
,4
8
2

5
4

S
e
c
ti
o
n
 7
5
 A
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts

1
,4
3
1

1
,5
9
3

2
,4
5
3

2
,5
7
1

(1
1
8
)

(9
0
9
)

(2
7
8
)

(1
,5
5
8
)

(1
,5
5
8
)

0
5
2
2

1
,3
1
5

8
9
5

1
,0
1
3

(1
1
8
)

P
ro
v
id
e
r 
S
e
rv
ic
e
s

1
5
0

9
2

2
5
5

2
6
0

(5
)

0
0

0
0

0
1
5
0

9
2

2
5
5

2
6
0

(5
)

M
o
d
e
rn
is
a
ti
o
n

5
3
9

2
9
0

9
1
0

8
3
6

7
4

(7
3
3
)

(7
1
2
)

(7
4
8
)

(7
4
8
)

0
(1
9
4
)

(4
2
2
)

1
6
2

8
8

7
4

C
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
 &
 I
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t

6
2

4
2

1
0
6

1
0
6

0
0

0
0

0
0

6
2

4
2

1
0
6

1
0
6

0

S
e
rv
ic
e
 S
tr
a
te
g
y

0
(1
)

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
(1
)

0
0

0

T
ra
n
s
p
o
rt

(7
)

3
1

(1
3
)

(1
5
)

2
0

0
0

0
0

(7
)

3
1

(1
3
)

(1
5
)

2

A
d
u
lt
s

(9
4
3
)

5
2
7

(1
,6
1
6
)

(1
,5
0
3
)

(1
1
3
)

(8
)

(1
5
7
)

(1
4
)

(1
0
6
)

9
2

(9
5
1
)

3
7
0

(1
,6
3
0
)

(1
,6
0
9
)

(2
1
)

T
o
ta
l 
A
d
u
lt
 S
o
c
ia
l 
C
a
re

3
0
,8
9
5

3
3
,6
9
4

5
3
,3
4
6

5
5
,9
7
8

(2
,6
3
2
)

(6
,7
7
7
)

(6
,1
8
8
)

(1
5
,2
8
1
)

(1
5
,4
0
8
)

1
2
7

2
4
,1
1
8

2
7
,5
0
6

3
8
,0
6
5

4
0
,5
7
0

(2
,5
0
5
)

S
u
p
p
o
rt
in
g
 P
e
o
p
le
 

P
ro
g
ra
m
m
e

3
,6
2
3

3
,6
4
1

5
,8
8
7

5
,8
8
7

0
(3
,5
3
2
)

(3
,5
3
2
)

(5
,8
8
7
)

(5
,8
8
7
)

0
9
1

1
0
9

0
0

0

P
ilo
t 
P
ro
je
c
ts

0
3
9
8

0
0

0
0

(4
,8
3
1
)

0
0

0
0

(4
,4
3
3
)

0
0

0

T
o
ta
l 
S
u
p
p
o
rt
in
g
 P
e
o
p
le

3
,6
2
3

4
,0
3
9

5
,8
8
7

5
,8
8
7

0
(3
,5
3
2
)

(8
,3
6
3
)

(5
,8
8
7
)

(5
,8
8
7
)

0
9
1

(4
,3
2
4
)

0
0

0

S
tr
a
te
g
ic
 H
o
u
s
in
g

H
o
m
e
le
s
s
n
e
s
s

8
1
2

7
7
1

1
,3
2
6

1
,3
6
5

(3
9
)

(1
9
2
)

(3
7
9
)

(3
2
9
)

(4
0
5
)

7
6

6
2
0

3
9
2

9
9
7

1
,0
3
6

3
7

M
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
&
 A
d
m
in

7
9

8
6

1
3
5

1
6
2

(2
7
)

0
(2
)

0
(2
)

2
7
9

8
4

1
3
5

1
6
0

(2
5
)

H
o
m
e
p
o
in
t

1
6
4

1
0
6

2
8
1

2
8
1

0
(2
0
4
)

(1
9
8
)

(2
8
2
)

(2
8
2
)

0
(4
0
)

(9
2
)

(1
)

(1
)

0

H
o
u
s
in
g
 N
e
e
d
s

2
1
7

2
4
9

3
7
3

3
9
5

(2
2
)

(3
6
)

(7
5
)

(6
1
)

(9
5
)

3
4

1
8
1

1
7
4

3
1
2

3
0
0

1
2

P
ri
v
a
te
 S
e
c
to
r 
H
o
u
s
in
g

6
3
2

5
4
2

1
,0
8
4

1
,0
5
6

2
8

(3
5
6
)

(2
9
9
)

(6
1
0
)

(5
8
8
)

(2
2
)

2
7
6

2
4
3

4
7
4

4
6
8

6

T
o
ta
l 
H
o
u
s
in
g
 S
e
rv
ic
e
s

1
,9
0
4

1
,7
5
4

3
,1
9
9

3
,2
5
9

(6
0
)

(7
8
8
)

(9
5
3
)

(1
,2
8
2
)

(1
,3
7
2
)

9
0

1
,1
1
6

8
0
1

1
,9
1
7

1
,9
6
3

3
0

A
D
U
L
T
 S
O
C
IA
L
 C
A
R
E
 R
E
P
O
R
T
 F
O
R
 T
H
E
 P
E
R
IO
D
 E
N
D
IN
G
 3
1
S
T
 O
C
T
O
B
E
R
 2
0
0
9
/1
0
 (
P
E
R
IO
D
 7
)

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re
 £
0
0
0

In
c
o
m
e
 £
0
0
0

N
e
t 
T
o
ta
ls
 £
0
0
0

9



10



Appendix 2

Learning Disabilities

April 2009 July 2009 October 2009

Residential 112 115 105

Direct Payment 45 54 55

Supported Accommodation 51 50 59

Adult Placement 12 16 16

Personal Budget 0 0 0

Total 220 235 235

Mental Health

April 2009 July 2009 October 2009

Residential 237 237 226

Direct Payment 7 5 4

Supported Accommodation 16 16 16

Adult Placement 0 0 0

Personal Budget 0 1 4

Total 260 259 250

Older People

April 2009 July 2009 October 2009

Residential 260 269 267

Direct Payment 22 13 19

Supported Accommodation 7 7 6

Adult Placement 0 0 0

Personal Budget 0 18 19

Total 289 307 311

Physical Disabilties

April 2009 July 2009 October 2009

Residential 28 24 23

Direct Payment 65 49 51

Supported Accommodation 7 5 6

Adult Placement 0 0 0

Personal Budget 2 23 35

Total 102 101 115

Definitions

Residential - these are places within residential homes

Direct Payments - are payments for care to clients enabling them to mange themselves

Supported Accomodation - specific accomodation where care is given i.e. sheltered housing 

Adult Placement - placed with a family who act as their carer

Personal Budget (Individual Budgets) - identified budget for care

Adult Social Care - Package Activity Information

11



Residential Information

April 2009 July 2009 October 2009

Learning Disabilities 112 115 105

Mental Health 237 237 226

Older People 260 269 267

Physical Disabilties 28 24 23

Residential number of packages

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

April 2009 July 2009 October 2009

Month

N
u
m
b
e
r

Learning Disabilities Mental Health

Older People Physical Disabilties

1
2



 

 
Further information on the subject of this report is available from 

Greg Evans, Management Accounting Manager on (01432) 261848 
  

  

MEETING: ADULT SOCIAL CARE AND STRATEGIC 

HOUSING SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

DATE: 14 DECEMBER 2009 

TITLE OF REPORT: SUPPORTING PEOPLE PROGRAMME 

GRANT BUDGET POSITION 

PORTFOLIO AREA:  RESOURCES 

CLASSIFICATION: Open  

Wards Affected 

County-wide. 

Purpose 

To report on the Supporting People Programme Grant budget. 

Key Decision  

This is not a Key Decision.  

Recommendation(s) 

THAT the Committee comments on the figures and text contained herein. 

Key Points Summary 

• To report on the current financial position within the Supporting People Programme Grant. 

Alternative Options 

1. To maximise the grant allocated and ensure that it complies with existing grant conditions.   

Reasons for Recommendations 

2. To ensure the grant in not reclaimed by central government and used to assist and support 
the people of Herefordshire. 

Introduction and Background 

3. The Supporting People programme is the government funding stream for housing support.  It 
currently helps around a million vulnerable people to live independently in their homes or 
safely within supported accommodation – including older people, victims of domestic violence, 

AGENDA ITEM 7

13



teenage parents and those with mental health problems.  The delivery of successful housing 
support is monitored through two indicators in the national indicator set (NIs 141 and 142) and 
research has shown that the programme is more than paying for itself through reduced costs 
in health services, tenancy failure, crime and residential care.  

4. The membership of Herefordshire Supporting People Partnership’s Commissioning Body is 
Director of Resources, the Director of Integrated Commissioning, and Head of Strategic 
Housing, Area Manager, West Merica Probation Trust (Paul Baker). 

5. Advice and guidance to assist the Membership is the Cabinet Member for Older People, 
Social Care, Adults, Chair of the Adult Social Care and Strategic Housing Scrutiny Committee 
(Councillor PA Andrews), Board Member West Mercia Probation Trust (Mrs Libhin Bromley), 
Non-Executive Director, NHS Trust Board (Mrs Dianne Jones), and The Alliance 
Herefordshire (Andrew Strong). 

6. The Supporting People Programme Grant has been in place since 2003 with strict guidance in 
place limiting use of funding to Housing Related Support.  Over the last 6 years there has 
been an accumulation of underspend. Grant allocations were advised and received on an 
annual basis which made it difficult to agree longer-term contracts with providers. There was 
also a lack of clarity from the DCLG on the carry forward arrangements.  From 2009/10 the 
Supporting People programme grant is paid under section 31 as an unringfenced named 
grant and from 2010/11 will be paid as part of the Area Based Grant.  This removal of the ring 
fence provides councils with the opportunity to come up with flexible and innovative ways to 
support vulnerable people in a range of different situations. 

7. The projected underspend for the grant is set out in the table below, and the figures  assumes 
agreed contracts are fully utilised: 

Year 
Grant Allocation 

+ Other 
Contributions 

Expenditure Balance 

2003/04 (Actual) £7,657,525 £6,681,522 £976,003 

2004/05 (Actual) £7,473,703 £5,941,765 £1,531,938 

2005/06 (Actual) £6,860,947 £5,445,104 £1,415,843 

2006/07 (Actual) £6,706,498 £5,749,536 £956,962 

2007/08 (Actual) £6,523,369 £5,722,676 £800,693 

2008/09 (Actual) £6,197,199 £7,047,862 (£850,663) 

2009/10 (Budget) £5,887,339 £7,869,539 (£1,982,200) 

2010/11 (Budget) £5,257,394 £6,785,829 (£1,528,435) 

Total £52,563,974 £51,243,833 £1,320,141 

 
8. In 2008 the Commissioning Board received notification that the under spend could be used to 

meet housing related support under the existing grant conditions. This was taken forward by 
the implementation of pilot projects funded by the, underspend which, supported vulnerable 
clients where there was unmet need and increased demand for services.  

9. The annual grant has been reducing since 2007-08 and the accumulated underspend has 
been used to assist with meeting current contract commitments. For 2009-10 carry forward 
underspend of £678k will be utilised.  

14



10.  In 2010-11 a total of £1.4m is expected to be carried forward to cover the funding gap. This 
assumes a reduction of 6% due to the top-slice on transfer into the Area Base Grant for 
2010/11.  

11. Current contract performance indicates that the, underspend could rise to £1.96m if current 
hours are not delivered.  The Supporting People team are working with providers to address 
the current activity.   

12. £500k expenditure within Adult Social Care has been identified which meets Supporting 
People criteria.  The Supporting People Commissioning Board will consider if these costs can 
be funded by the, underspend.  This would reduce the anticipated underspend to £820k. 

13. Where local authorities have generated savings in the programme through their careful 
management, they will be allowed to roll forward these unspent funds from 2008/09 to 
2009/10.  However, these funds will be subject to the 2008/09 grant conditions.  It will be each 
authority’s responsibility to ensure they meet the conditions.   

Key Considerations 

14. Consideration should be given to;  

a. The DCLG conditions of the roll forward of the grant. 

b. The impact of taking the ring-fencing and flexibilities in 2009/10. 

c. The current year grant allocation’s ability to cover current contract commitments. 

Financial Implications 

15. To consider the current projected underspend on the programme and the implications of the 
 grant going into the Area Based Grant in 2010/11. 

Legal Implications 

16. None.  

Risk Management 

17. No applicable. 

Consultees 

18. Not applicable.  

Appendices 

19. None 

Background Papers 

• Notification from DCLG 

15



16



 

 
Further information on the subject of this report is available from 

Wendy Fabbro, Associate Director of Joint Commissioning, tel: 01432 3444344 

 

MEETING: ADULT SOCIAL CARE AND STRATEGIC HOUSING 

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

DATE: 14 DECEMBER 2009 

TITLE OF REPORT: ADULT SOCIAL CARE PERFORMANCE 

PORTFOLIO AREA:  ADULT SOCIAL AND STRATEGIC HOUSING 

CLASSIFICATION: Open 

Wards Affected 

County-wide  

Key Decision 

This is not a key decision 

Recommendations  

THAT: the Committee note progress in managing performance towards achieving targets 

Reasons for Recommendations 

To enable Scrutiny Committee to carry out its function in relation to the Adult Social Care and 
Strategic Housing performance targets for 2009/10. 

Key Considerations 
 

1. The report cards in appendix 1 provide a full description of progress against national indicators 
and some retained indicators from the previous set that are considered valuable for scrutinising 
performance. The cards show the trend of performance, compared against our ‘family’ of similar 
authorities, the English Average, and some narrative to describe actions managers are taking to 
manage improvement. 

 
2. Although the corporate performance system is a useful tool, it measures performance against the 

annual target set by managers rather than benchmarking nationally. Hence some indicators may 
appear to struggle to meet a ‘stretch’ target, yet still be better than most other local authorities 
(e.g. C29). 

 
3. The CQC 2009 inspection has recognised real improvements in the robustness of management, 

performance and programme management, and commissioning and contract strategy.  We have 
been given a score of 2 this means we have been assessed as an authority that is performing 
well (the maximum score is 3, lowest 0). This is an excellent result and indicates the huge 
improvement we have made in delivering Adult Social Care over the last two years. However we 
are not complacent and we know in many areas we still need to make improvements. Under the 
key themes we were scored as performing well in 4 areas and adequately in 3 i.e. 

 

AGENDA ITEM 8

17



• Improved Health & Well-being – CQC assessment – performing well 

• Improved Quality of Life –– performing well 

• Making a Positive Contribution –– performing well 

• Increased Choice and Control –– performing adequately  

• Freedom from discrimination and  harassment –– performing adequately 

• Economic well-being –– performing well 

• Maintaining personal dignity and respect –– performing adequately  

 
We have developed an action plan which will focus on those areas that CQC and us consider to 
be underperforming to ensure that we maintain our score and improve in those areas we are 
rated as only performing adequately. At future meetings we will provide an update on progress 
against the action plan to date.Two areas where CQC noted we particularly needed to continue 
to make improvements were Safeguarding and the Personalisation agenda – both of which we 
are moving forward on.  

 
4. The number of people supported to live independently through social care (NI 136) is a Key 

indicator for the Council, but has not previously recorded, to date, all the activity going on, 
particularly with respect to the work commissioned from the 3rd sector for older people.  

 
5. We anticipate that Herefordshire performance will be comparable with other local authorities 

once the data is refined. This data should be included in December. The data also shows a slight 
dip in performance this month due to revised population firgures that have impacted on the 
denominator. We recognise however this as a priority target and we will be ensuring we have a 
clear understanding of our performance in this area, that we are capturing all relevant data and 
where necessary building on the improvement plans we have in place. 

 
6. The Department of Health (DoH) had set a stretch target of 30% of services users receiving 

individualised budgets by 2011 for N1 130 (Social Care clients receiving Self Directed Support). 
Although concern has been expressed by a number of authorities around this target and to 
achieve 30% of service users and cares on IB may not be possible unless we review the 

interpretation of this indicator. The government has now also shifted its focus towards personal 
indicative budgets and away from, what was previously our strategy, individualised budgets.  

 
7. Our current performance for the last few months has reaimed fairly constant between 6 and 7 % 

(which compares favourably with other West Midlands authorities). We have recognised 
therefore we need to improve our current performance against this target, and now have a clear 
‘Personalisation programme’ in place and Programme manager, and are moving forward on 
several initiatives e.g: 

 

• The council are currently upgrading the Resource Allocation System in line with other 
councils. To be completed Q4 2009/10.  

• A project around external brokerage has been started supported by the Joint Improvement 
Partnership to increase the level of personal budgets - to report by Q4 2009/10. 

8. NI132 and NI133 have both seen in a drop in performance. This is largely due to an increase in 
safeguarding work.  Frontline resources have been engaged in ensuring vulnerable clients are 
receiving appropriate protection to ensure that they are safe.  The consequence of this has been 
less resource available for routine social care activities. We are also ensuring that we continue to 
record information accurately and training staff to make certain there is a consistent approach to 
data entry.  

 

18



9. NI131  is currently underperforming in terms of the local health economy expectations. Hereford 
Hospitals Trust is currently underperforming against expectation and this is being addressed with 
the PCT through the Quality Review Forum who has requested a report on why delays are higher 
than expected. 

 
 The PCT Provider continues to monitor and review its processes, utilised throughout all the sites, 

so that a multidisciplinary team (MDT) approach is adopted to the care and discharge of the 
patient. A weekly MDT meeting is held at all sites with attendance from nursing, medical, 
therapy, social care and geriatrician. The process for discharge continues as always to be a 
central focus from the date of the patient’s admission to dischargeThe Head of Community 
Hospitals and Intermediate Care Facilities now receives a weekly update of delayed patients 
which identifies the length of the delay. It has been agreed that any delays greater than 7 days 
should be escalated for immediate intervention.  

10. Audit indicated a failure in the IT system connected with NI 135; they noted that the system was 
failing to recognise joint assessments being made. This has now been rectified and therefore 
quarter 3 results should see improved performance in raltion to this indicator.  

 
11. New procedures around Safeguarding are being introduced, a launch event was held in mid 

November. These new procedures will clarify expectations for staff and drive higher 
performance. Frameworki is currently being updated to ensure that we can measure and report 
accuraley the time between referral and strategy development (which locally has been agreed 
should be within 7 days).  

 
 

Financial Implications 

12. The Directorates continue to experience considerable difficulty in reconciling activity and finance 
data, so the financial implications are as yet not clear. At the point of writing, it is hoped a new 
solution will be available this financial year. 

 

Legal Implications 

13. None. 

Consultees 

14. Not applicable 

Appendices 

15. Appendix 1 – report cards 

Background Papers 

• None. 

 

 

 

 

19



Appendices
A80

150 NI125 1 35 100 6

Title:-  

Definition:-  

Manager:- Graham Taylor

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Target

This years performance:- 68.7 89 75

Last year performance:- 

Forecast performance:- 

Comparator Family:- 81

England:- 78.1

Percentage

Last year:- 

Direction:- áááá áááá

Outturn 08/09:- 68.7

Target 09/10:- 75

 The proportion of older people discharged from hospital to their own home or to a 

residential or nursing care home or extra care housing bed for rehabilitation, with a clear 

intention that they will move on/back to their own home (including a place in extra care 

housing or an adult placement scheme setting) who are at home or in extra care 

housing or an adult placement scheme setting three months after the date of their 

discharge from hospital.

 Achieving independence for older people through rehabilitation/intermediate care

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

P
re
v
Y
e
a
r

A
p
r

M
a
y

J
u
n

J
u
l

A
u
g

S
e
p

O
c
t

N
o
v

D
e
c

J
a
n

F
e
b

M
a
r

T
a
rg
e
t

The survey period for this indicator for this financial year does not start until 30th September

Health and social care managers have developed a way to provide regular information on this crucial 

indicator, but the first new report is due by mid October

The figures presented in this report are the preliminary findings to August 2009 and require further validation. 

The figures are based on those patients, discharged from the acute hospital into the 3 Intermediate care units 

– Hillside, Kington and Ledbury

  

 I

 

20



A80

150 NI130 LAA Indicator 1 40 25 4

Title:-  

Definition:-  

Manager:- Sara Keetly

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Target

This years performance:- 6.1 6.32 6.38 6.32 6.12 20

Last year performance:- 

Forecast performance:- 

Comparator Family:- 5.2

England:- 7

Percentage 227 244 256 256 291

Last year:- 

Direction:- ââââ ââââ

Outturn 07/08:- 131

Target 08/09:- 20

 Number of adults, older people and carers receiving self directed support in the year to 

31st March as a percentage of clients receiving community based services and carer's 

specific services aged 18 or over.

 Social care clients receiving Self Directed Support (Direct payments and Individualised 

Budgets)

0

5

10

15

20

25

P
re
v
Y
e
a
r

A
p
r

M
a
y

Ju
n

J
u
l

A
u
g

S
e
p

O
ct

N
o
v

D
e
c

J
a
n

F
e
b

M
a
r

T
a
rg
e
t

The indicator forms part of the Local Area Agreement and as such has stretching target set for 2009/10 

and 2010/11 requiring us to provide self directed support service to at least 30% of our clients (1600 

clients)

Our current performance is in line with other West Midland authorities, our performance suffers from 

historical performance. A Project Manager has been appointed to drive forward the uptake of services 

associated with this indicator.

 
 

21



150 NI132 1 42 100 4

Title:-  

Definition:-  

Manager:- Denise Hawkins

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Target

This years performance:- 98.9 98.9 98 90 74.8 78.6 91

Last year performance:- 

Forecast performance:- 

Comparator Family:- 81.8

England:- 80

Clients:- 272 272 632 511

Last year:- 

Direction:- áááá áááá

Outturn 07/08:- 86.8

Target 08/09:- 91

 Acceptable waiting times for assessments: For new clients (aged 18+), the percentage 

from where the time from first contact to completion of assessment is less than or equal 

to four weeks

 Timeliness of social care assessments (all adults)

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

P
re
v
Y
e
a
r

A
p
r

M
a
y

J
u
n

J
u
l

A
u
g

S
e
p

O
c
t

N
o
v

D
e
c

J
a
n

F
e
b

M
a
r

T
a
rg
e
t

We are confident that we will achieve the target - 90% at same period last year.

Decline in performance is due to increase in safeguarding work.  Frontline resources have been engaged in 

ensuring vulnerable clients are receiving appropriate protection to ensure that they are safe.  The 

consequence of this has been less resource available for routine social care activities

 
 

22



A80

150 NI133 1 43 100 2

Title:-  

Definition:-  

Manager:- Denise Hawkins

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Target

This years performance:- 100 100 89 85 56.8 56.8 92

Last year performance:- 

Forecast performance:- 

Comparator Family:- 91

England:- 91

Clients:- 36 36 170 172

Last year:- 

Direction:- áááá áááá

Outturn 07/08:- 88.2

Target 08/09:- 92

 Acceptable waiting times for delivery of care packages following assessment: For new 

clients (For 2008/09: Adults aged 65+, from 2009/10 Adults all ages 18+) the 

percentage for whom the time from completion of assessment to provision of all 

services in the care package is less than or equal to 4 weeks.

 Timeliness of social care packages following an assessment

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

P
re
vY

e
a
r

A
p
r

M
a
y

J
u
n

J
u
l

A
u
g

S
e
p

O
c
t

N
o
v

D
e
c

J
a
n

F
e
b

M
a
r

T
a
rg
e
t

84% at same period last year.

Decline in performance is due to increase in safeguarding work.  Frontline resources have been 

engaged in ensuring vulnerable clients are receiving appropriate protection to ensure that they are 

safe.  The consequence of this has been less resource available for routine social care activities

 

23



A80

150 NI135 LAA Indicator 1 45 25 4

Title:-  

Definition:-  

Manager:- Sara Keetley

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Target

This years performance:- 12 12 11.9 12.1 14.1 12.5 20.4

Last year performance:- 

Forecast performance:- 

Comparator Family:- 22.6

England:- 23

Clients:- 398 398 426 616 559

Last year:- 

Direction:- ââââ ââââ

Outturn 07/08:- 13.3

Target 08/09:- 20.4

 The number of carers whose needs were assessed or reviewed by the council in a year 

who received a specific carer’s service, or advice and information in the same year as a 

percentage of people receiving a community based service in the year.

 Carers receiving a needs assessment or review and specific carer's service or advice and information

0

5

10

15

20

25

P
re
v
Y
e
a
r

A
p
r

M
a
y

Ju
n

J
u
l

A
u
g

S
e
p

O
ct

N
o
v

D
e
c

J
a
n

F
e
b

M
a
r

T
a
rg
e
t

This is a new indicator and has caused some diff iculties in terms of recording activities accurately 

and comprehensively.  The Carers commissioning strategy and the reviewed Herefordshire Carers 

support contract ( supported by the Scrutiny review of carers services) will drive further 

improvements

 I

 

24



A80

150 NI136 LAA Indicator 1 46 ### 5

Title:-  

Definition:-  

Manager:- Sara Keetley

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Target

This years performance:- 2102 2102 2724 2598 2643 2537 3736

Last year performance:- 

Forecast performance:- 

Comparator Family:- 3715

England:- 3330

Clients:- 2962 2962 3843 3728 3579

Last year:- 

Direction:- ââââ ââââ

Outturn 07/08:- 3635

Target 08/09:- 3736

 This indicator will measure the number of adults all ages per 100,000 population that 

are assisted directly through social services assessed/care planned, funded support to 

live independently, plus those supported through organisations that receive social 

services grant funded services.

 People supported to live independantly through social services (all adults )

0

500

1000

1500

2000

2500

3000

3500

4000

P
re
v
Y
e
a
r

A
p
r

M
a
y

J
u
n

Ju
l

A
u
g

S
e
p

O
ct

N
o
v

D
e
c

Ja
n

F
e
b

M
a
r

T
a
rg
e
t

Data currently reported provides only a partial view. This will be rectified over the next 2 quarters as activity 

associated with external agencies becomes available. This NI has yet to include the Grant Funded Services 

data for this year which will be available in December.

 

25



A80

150 NI142 LAA Indicator 1 51 100 6

Title:-  

Definition:-  

Manager:- Dawn Stradling

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Target

This years performance:- 97.7 97.7 97.4

Last year performance:- 

Forecast performance:- 97.8 97.8

Comparator Family:- 

England:- 

Ratio of clients:- 

Last year:- 

Direction:- 

Outturn 08/09:- 90.5

Target 09/10 97.4

 The number of service users (i.e. people who are receiving a Supporting People 

Service) who have established or are maintaining independent living, as a percentage 

of the total number of service users who have been in receipt of Supporting People 

services during the period.

 Number of vulnerable people who are supported to maintain independent living 

June and September scores based on local calculation and subject to Communities and 

Local Government ratification (awaited).

The previous regime for this indicator nationally is coming to an end and a new set up is 

being developed and implemented. Now entering into a period of change and 

development of new projects.

A business plan is currently being developed to make recommendations on the 

supporting people programme.  Four pilots are currently being delivered that will cease 

between March-July 2010.  A supporting people commissioning plan is also being 

undertaken to guide the future commissioning of supporting people services; these 

include learning disability - move on and transitional worker, older people and 

vulnerable disabled adult pilot, and a wrap around floating support service for offenders 

and people who are at risk of offending.

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

P
re
vY

e
a
r

A
p
r

M
a
y

J
u
n

J
u
l

A
u
g

S
e
p

O
c
t

N
o
v

D
e
c

J
a
n

F
e
b

M
a
r

T
a
rg
e
t

 

26



A80

150 C29 1 6 8 4

Title:-  

Definition:-  

Manager:- Sara Keetley

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Target

This years performance:- 2.74 2.74 2.74 2.9 2.9

Last year performance:- 3.24 3.37 3.44 3.37 3.48 3.51 3.52 3.52 3.52 2.89 2.85 4.03

Forecast performance:- 

Comparator Family:- 

England:- 

Clients:- 289 289 306

Last year:- 340 353 360 353 365 368 369 369 369 303 300 425

Direction:- ââââ ââââ

Outturn 07/08:- 4.03

Target 08/09:- 

 Adults with physical disabilities helped to live at home per 1,000 population aged 18-64.

 Adults with physical disabilities helped to live at home.

0

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

P
re
vY

e
a
r

A
p
r

M
a
y

J
u
n

J
u
l

A
u
g

S
e
p

O
ct

N
o
v

D
e
c

J
a
n

F
e
b

M
a
r

T
a
rg
e
t

We believe this apparent drop is because the number of service users being counted is 

very small, so a minor change can seem to have a disproportionate effect.

Indicators C29, C30, C31 and C32 are reported as single indicator 

NI136 People supported to live independently through social services (all ages)

Included in NI 136

 

27



A80

150 C30 1 7 5 4

Title:-  

Definition:-  

Manager:- Billy McAlinden

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Target

This years performance:- 2.84 2.74 2.74 2.74 2.78

Last year performance:- 2.89 2.9 2.92 2.93 2.9 2.91 2.89 2.9 2.9 2.9 2.96 2.94

Forecast performance:- 

Comparator Family:- 

England:- 

Clients:- 299 289 293

Last year:- 303 304 306 307 304 305 303 303 303 304 312 310

Direction:- ââââ ââââ

Outturn 07/08:- 2.94

Target 08/09:- 

 Adults with learning disabilities helped to live at home per 1,000 population aged 18-64.

 Adults with learning disabilities helped to live at home

0

0.5

1

1.5

2

2.5

3

3.5

4

4.5

5

P
re
v
Y
e
a
r

A
p
r

M
a
y

J
u
n

J
u
l

A
u
g

S
e
p

O
c
t

N
o
v

D
e
c

J
a
n

F
e
b

M
a
r

T
a
rg
e
t

Indicators C29, C30, C31 and C32 are reported as single indicator 

NI136 People supported to live independently through social services (all ages)

Herefordshire is still more dependent on residential care than other local authorities, but the 

implementation of the Midland Heart contract has already had a beneficial effect and the strategy for 

LD will continue to provide more supported living opportunities by finding local solutions close to home 

instead of institutional and often out of county placements.

Included in NI 136

 

28



A80

150 C31 1 8 5 4

Title:-  

Definition:-  

Manager:- Sara Keetley

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Target

This years performance:- 4.65 4.65 4.65 4.6 4.6

Last year performance:- 4.17 4.2 4.22 4.2 4.25 4.4 4.77 4.4 4.4 4.75 4.72 4.73

Forecast performance:- 

Comparator Family:- 

England:- 

Clients:- 490 490 483

Last year:- 437 440 442 440 445 461 500 500 500 498 498 499

Direction:- ââââ ââââ

Outturn 07/08:- 4.73

Target 08/09:- 

 Adults with mental health problems helped to live at home per 1,000 population aged 

18-64.

 Adults with mental health problems helped to live at home.

0

0.5

1

1.5

2

2.5

3

3.5

4

4.5

5

P
re
v
Y
e
a
r

A
p
r

M
a
y

J
u
n

J
u
l

A
u
g

S
e
p

O
c
t

N
o
v

D
e
c

J
a
n

F
e
b

M
a
r

T
a
rg
e
t

Although this indicator is being stretched to reach its target, performance is already 

better than most other local authorities

Indicators C29, C30, C31 and C32 are reported as single indicator 

NI136 People supported to live independently through social services (all ages)

Included in NI 136

 

29



A80

150 C32 1 9 100 5

Title:-  

Definition:-  

Manager:- Sara Keetley

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Target

This years performance:- 51.1 51.1 51.1 51.1 53

Last year performance:- 56.5 59.67 59.4 58.48 58.8 57.82 59.67 59.7 59.7 53.8 50.46 90.7

Forecast performance:- 

Comparator Family:- 

England:- 

Clients:- 1884 1884 1956

Last year:- 2049 2166 2155 2123 2133 2099 2166 2166 2166 1953 1862 3347

Direction:- ââââ ââââ

Outturn 07/08:- 90.7

Target 08/09:- 

Apr

Asessment

 Older people helped to live at home per 1,000 population aged 65 or over.

 Older people  helped to live at home.

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

P
re
vY

e
a
r

A
p
r

M
a
y

J
u
n

J
u
l

A
u
g

S
e
p

O
c
t

N
o
v

D
e
c

J
a
n

F
e
b

M
a
r

T
a
rg
e
t

Indicators C29, C30, C31 and C32 are reported as single indicator 

NI136 People supported to live independently through social services (all ages)

The main services currently included within this indicator are:-

• Domiciliary care  • Day opportunities  • Maintained Equipment  • Telecare   • Meals  • Sort term resident ial/nursing care  • Transport

• Rehabilitation/ Intermediate care • Direct Payments• Professional support • Individualised budgets

  

Supporting People Clients who have the Careline alarm system are a potential addition to this client base. 

There are 630 clients in receipt of this service of which 365 are already clients of Social Care.

Work is in hand to include the additional 265 clients 

Other sources used for this indicator at the end of each year, which are not recorded on the Client Index system, (CLIX – Frameworki) and which are 

added manually to the figures are:-

• Village Warden scheme  • Able (within 6 weeks of  year end) • Private Sector Housing (major adaptations) ) • Talking Books • Maintained equipment • 

Home from Hospital • Promoting Independence • Minor adaptations (262 clients)

To ensure this additional information can be gathered throughout the year a project is to be set up to assess ways of real time recording of the services.

Included in NI 136

 

30



A80

150 C51 1 10 150 4

Title:-  

Definition:-  

Manager:- Sara Keetley

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Target

This years performance:- 116 116 116 133 141

Last year performance:- 95.04 96.02 96.03 95.52 96.82 101 103.1 103.8 103.3 101.9 105.6 106.3

Forecast performance:- 

Comparator Family:- 

England:- 

Clients:- 165 165 200

Last year:- 136 137 137 136 138 144 147 148 147 145 152 151

Direction:- áááá áááá

Outturn 07/08:- 106

Target 08/09:- 

 Adults and older people receiving direct payments at 31 March per 100,000 population 

aged 18 or over (age standardised).  This is a weighted average of four indicators which 

are calculated seperately.  The weight for each indicator is the percentage of the 

population of England aged 18 and over that falls into the relevant age group (this 

achieves the age standardisation).

 Direct payments

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

P
re
vY

e
a
r

A
p
r

M
a
y

J
u
n

J
u
l

A
u
g

S
e
p

O
c
t

N
o
v

D
e
c

J
a
n

F
e
b

M
a
r

T
a
rg
e
t

This indicator is counted as per definition for 2008/09 i.e. those clients on the books to receive direct 

payment on the last day of the financial year. 

C51 does not included Direct Payments for careers.

NI130 ( Social Care Clients receiving self directed support) will replaces it but for 08/09 includes only 

the following:-

All people over the age of 18, including carers, who have received a direct payment or individual 

budget at any time in the year.

Data for this indicator is provided directly from Finance as a consequence of Panel.

From 2009/10 onwards indicator NI130 will measure all clients receving self directed support.

Included in NI130

 

31



A80

150 C62 1 11 20 4

Title:-  

Definition:-  

Manager:- 

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Target

This years performance:- 12 12 12 12 14.2

Last year performance:- 11.5 11.3 12.74 12.51 12.44 11.97 13.09 9.88 11.13

Forecast performance:- 

Comparator Family:- 

England:- 

Clients:- 398 398 616

Last year:- 370 402 470 478 509 516 620 502 596

Direction:- áááá áááá

Outturn 07/08:- 11.1

Target 08/09:- 

 The number of carers receiving a 'carers break' or a specific carers' service as a 

percentage of clients receiving community based services.

 Services for carers.

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

18

20

P
re
v
Y
e
a
r

A
p
r

M
a
y

Ju
n

J
u
l

A
u
g

S
e
p

O
ct

N
o
v

D
e
c

J
a
n

F
e
b

M
a
r

T
a
rg
e
t

Redesign of the Commissioning Strategy will ensure that next year an improvement across the board for 

services users and in particular outcomes for careers.

Included in NI 135

 

32



A80

150 C72 1 12 80 4

Title:-  

Definition:-  

Manager:- Denise Hawkins

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Target

This years performance:- 6.5 6.5 18.7 24.7

Last year performance:- 2.48 8.54 9.64 12.4 16.5 20.39 28.1 35 40 41.32 41.19 53.93

Forecast performance:- 

Comparator Family:- 

England:- 

Clients:- 24 24 69 91

Last year:- 9 31 35 45 60 74 102 102 102 150 152 199

Direction:- áááá áááá

Outturn 07/08:- 53.9

Target 08/09:- 

 Older people aged  65 or over admitted on a permanent basis in the year to residential 

or nursing care.

 Older people aged  65 or over admitted on a permanent basis in the year to residential 

or nursing care.

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

P
re
v
Y
e
a
r

A
p
r

M
a
y

Ju
n

J
u
l

A
u
g

S
e
p

O
ct

N
o
v

D
e
c

J
a
n

F
e
b

M
a
r

T
a
rg
e
t

The council has struggled to provide accurate commitment accounting information that can match 

activity and expenditure (currently recorded on 4 separate systems)  At the point of writing we believe a 

solution may have been found

 Essential that progress within the Herefordshire Connects project delivers integrated financial aspects 

of client services.

 

33



A80

150 D40 1 16 100 4

Title:-  

Definition:-  

Manager:- Denise Hawkins

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Target

This years performance:- 14.8 14.8 14.8 25.2 35.5

Last year performance:- 10.81 20.32 27.54 34 41.1 45.7 55.71 60 65 69.31 55.55 81.67

Forecast performance:- 

Comparator Family:- 

England:- 

Clients:- 608 608

Last year:- 440 898 1256 1597 2042 2376 3137 3137 3137 4315 3339 5094

Direction:- ââââ ââââ

Outturn 07/08:- 81.7

Target 08/09:- 

 Adult and older clients receiving a review as a percentage of those receiving a service.

 Clients receiving a review.

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

P
re
vY

e
a
r

A
p
r

M
a
y

J
u
n

J
u
l

A
u
g

S
e
p

O
c
t

N
o
v

D
e
c

J
a
n

F
e
b

M
a
r

T
a
rg
e
t

 

34



A80

150 D55 1 19 100 4

Title:-  

Definition:-  

Manager:- Denise Hawkins

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Target

This years performance:- 93.4 93.4 93

Last year performance:- 87.43 86.95 86.93 89.19 88.7 88.03 88.93 89 89 63.52 86.25 85.98

Forecast performance:- 

Comparator Family:- 

England:- 

Ratio of clients:- 88.26 88.26

Last year:- 88.82 86.5 85.54 88.28 87.6 87.3 88.21 88.21 88.21 59.61 84.18 86.38

Direction:- áááá áááá

Outturn 07/08:- 86

Target 08/09:- 

 For new older clients, the average of (i) the percentage where the time from first 

contact to contact with the client is less than or equal to 48 hours(that is, 2 calendar 

days), and (ii) the percentage where the time from first contact to completion of 

assessment is less than or equal to four weeks (that is, 28 calendar days).

 Acceptable waiting times for assessments.

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

P
re
vY

e
a
r

A
p
r

M
a
y

J
u
n

J
u
l

A
u
g

S
e
p

O
c
t

N
o
v

D
e
c

J
a
n

F
e
b

M
a
r

T
a
rg
e
t

Included in NI 132

Although this performance is good, pressure on staff is growing, and this achievement will be hard to 

maintain. This is now included in NI132

 
 

 

35



A80

150 D56 Included in NI 1331 22 100 4

Title:-  

Definition:-  

Manager:- Denise Hawkins

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Target

This years performance:- 100 100 85

Last year performance:- 77.14 89.36 93.33 80.9 83.2 84 82.25 83 83 83 81.43 88.16

Forecast performance:- 

Comparator Family:- 

England:- 

Clients:- 31 31

Last year:- 27 42 70 212 302 346 533 533 533 533 693 767

Direction:- ââââ ââââ

Outturn 07/08:- 88.2

Target 08/09:- 

 For new older clients, the percentage for whom the time from completion of 

assessment to provision of all services in the care package is less than or equal to 4 

weeks.

 Acceptable waiting times for care packages.

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

P
re
vY

e
a
r

A
p
r

M
a
y

J
u
n

J
u
l

A
u
g

S
e
p

O
c
t

N
o
v

D
e
c

J
a
n

F
e
b

M
a
r

T
a
rg
e
t

This indicator formed part of the Best Value set of indicators and is covered by Audit agreement on how 

to measure locally.

The agreed method used when CLIX was operational was to measure the time between end of 

assessment and the start of the last recorded service prior to any client review.

CLIX did not contain care plans therefore it is not possible to recalculate based on a ‘majority’ of services 

being in place.

We are using the same method with Frameworki – i.e. measuring only services delivered.

This indicator has been affected by staffing problems and is expected to improve

Included in NI 133

 

36



 

 
Further information on the subject of this report is available from 

Chris Jones, Performance Improvement Officer Regeneration Directorate.  chris.jones@herefordshire.gov.uk ,  
Tel 01432 261596 

  

MEETING: ADULT SOCIAL CARE AND STRATEGIC HOUSING 

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

DATE: 14
TH

 DECEMBER 2009 

TITLE OF REPORT: STRATEGIC HOUSING SERVICE PERFORMANCE  

PORTFOLIO AREA:  Adult Social Care and Strategic Housing 

CLASSIFICATION: Open  

Wards Affected 

County-wide  

Purpose 

To update Members on the progress towards achievement of national performance indicator targets 
and other performance management information for the Strategic Housing Service within the 
Regeneration Directorate.  The performance rating system being used in the new integrated 
corporate performance report has changed, and explanation of the ratings in shown at Appendix A. 

Key Decision  

This is not a Key Decision.  

Recommendation(s) 

 THAT  

 (a) the report on Strategic Housing performance be noted; 

 and; 

(b) areas of concern continue to be monitored. 

Key Points Summary 

• Two Local Area Agreement indicators are red flagged as below target (NI155 & NI156) 

• Measures are being taken to improve the outlook for both indicators. 

AGENDA ITEM 9

37



Alternative Options 

Reasons for Recommendations 

Introduction and Background 

1  Strategic Housing performance is monitored against the National Indicators (NI’s) that 
were introduced from April 2008 and a number of Best Value performance indicators 
that have been retained as local indicators. Regular reports are sent to the 
Government Office of the West Midlands and the Department for Communities and 
Local Government. 

2 The details of the Strategic Housing indicators are shown in Appendix B 

Key Considerations 

Local Area Agreement 

3 Strategic Housing has targets in place that are part of the Local Area Agreement (LAA) for 
National Indicators NI 155 – Number of affordable homes delivered, NI 156 – Number of 
Households in Temporary Accommodation and NI 187 – Tackling Fuel Poverty - % of People 
receiving income based benefits living in homes with a low energy efficiency rating.   

. Strategic Housing Update 

Highlights  

4 NI 155 (LAA) - Overall this indicator is just below target, although there are schemes due to 
complete during the 3rd Quarter. Every effort is being made to meet the target despite the 
economic downturn.  At this stage we are not likely to be seeking a further re-negotiation of 
LAA NI 155 which has a target 09/10 of 220 and 10/11 of 275.  We have received 
confirmation that the targets and outturns are cumulative and over delivery in 08/09 can count 
towards the final LAA outturn for the 3 years.  As illustrated here funding is being maximised 
to ensure as many units as possible are delivered during 09/10. Strategic Housing has 
supported Forward Allocation Pool submissions to the Homes and Communities Agency to 
change planning gain sites formerly delivering e.g. 35% affordable housing to 100% 
affordable housing.  These sites included Aubrey Street, Hereford was 8 now 23 affordable 
homes, Lambournes, Leominster, was 9 now 27,  Kingsmeadow, Wigmore was 4 now 14 and 
Dark Lane, Leintwardine was 5 now 20 affordable homes. 

 5  NI 156 (LAA) – Performance against LAA NI 156 (Households in Temporary Accommodation) 
is in a negative position in comparison to the 08/09 (98 households) outturn.  In recent weeks 
the trend has been downward from a high of 118 reported at the end of quarter 2.  The target 
for LAA 156 is 82, therefore there is a risk that the target for 09/10 will be missed.  Within the 
current figure there are 7 households in Bed and Breakfast which represents an improvement 
on recent levels of occupancy which have on occasions exceeded 12 households.  There has 
been increased interest in the National Mortgage Rescue Scheme. A proposal is being 
prepared to focus loan support on 20 households who are currently being blocked form re-
housing on account of former landlord rent arrears. This should free-up temporary 
accommodation and enable reductions in the use of bed and breakfast as households are 
moved into more suitable accommodation.  

6 NI 187 (LAA) – Currently the 2009/10 Special Energy Efficiency Scheme (SEES) is 

38



underway.; Warm front mail out is arranged for December to promote the national Warm front 
energy efficiency grant scheme to vulnerable households; this is an annual target and it is 
hoped that the initiatives will ensure that the target is achieved.  A report on the outcome will 
be presented following the end of the 2009/10 financial year. 

7 BVPI 213 – Homelessness Prevention figures indicated at the end of the quarter that the 
number of cases per 1000 households was just below target.  However, funding is being 
provided for access to private rented letting. Resources have also been allocated to 
implement the rent deposit and new procedures have been written and implemented within 
the team.  Information packs are being sent out by the team to individuals where this scheme 
is identified as being appropriate to meet the housing needs of a household that may be 
facing homelessness.  As part of the homelessness prevention a court desk service is now in 
place offering advice to those facing eviction providing appropriate advice to assist them in 
maintaining their tenancies and homes therefore preventing them from becoming homeless. 

Community Impact 

8 Not Applicable 

Financial Implications 

9 None identified  

Legal Implications 

10 None identified  

Risk Management 

11 None identified  

Consultees 

12 None identified  

Appendices 

13 Appendix A.: Key to performance reports 
Appendix B: Details of performance for the period 1

st
 April – 30

th
 September 2009. 

Background Papers 

None identified  

39



40



Appendix A 
KEY TO PERFORMANCE REPORTS 

PERFORMANCE AGAINST TARGETS AND ACTION PLANS 

G 

Outturn is 10% or more above target 
 
 
 
 

B 

Outturn is on or above target by up to 10% 
 
 or, where up to date performance data against target is not available for good 
reason, the action plan shows satisfactory progress 
 

A 

Outturn is below target, but within 5% 
 
or where up to date performance data against target is not available for good 
reason, the action plan shows inadequate progress 
 

R 

Outturn is 5% or more below target 
 
or no target has been set without good reason 
 
or there is no action plan 
 

 

N.B. Where data is available this determines the judgment made for each indicator.  Action 
plans are used to judge performance only as a default where data is unavailable. 

 

DIRECTION OF TRAVEL 

 

� 
Performance is better than the same period last year 
 
 

�� 

Performance is the same as for this period last year 
 
 

� 
Performance is behind the same period last year 
 
 

 

41



42



S
tr
a
te
g
ic
 H
o
u
s
in
g
 P
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 t
o
 S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r 
2
0
0
9

A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 B

In
d
ic
a
to
r

T
o
le
ra
n
c
e

T
a
rg
e
t

2
0
0
7
-0
8

2
0
0
8
-0
9

2
0
0
9
-1
0

J
u
n
e

S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r

J
u
n
e

S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r

J
u
n
e

S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r

N
I 
1
5
5
 –
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
a
ff
o
rd
a
b
le
 h
o
m
e
s
 d
e
liv
e
re
d
 

(L
A
A
)

B
ig
g
e
r 
is
 b
e
tt
e
r

1
4
1

2
0
8

1
1
0

(t
o
 S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r)

2
2
0

(y
e
a
r-
e
n
d
)

4
4

(c
u
m
u
la
ti
v
e
)

9
6

(c
u
m
u
la
ti
v
e
)

1
1

�
�

N
I 
1
5
6
 –
 h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
s
 i
n
 t
e
m
p
o
ra
ry
 a
c
c
o
m
m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
 

(L
A
A
)

S
m
a
lle
r 
is
 

b
e
tt
e
r

1
0
9

9
8

8
2

1
1
6

1
1
8

1
1

�
�

B
V
 2
1
3
 -
 P
re
v
e
n
ti
n
g
 H

o
m
e
le
s
s
n
e
s
s
 (
n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 

c
a
s
e
s
 p
e
r 
1
0
0
0
 h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
s
)

B
ig
g
e
r 
is
 b
e
tt
e
r

3
.9
5
 c
a
s
e
s

4
 c
a
s
e
s

4
.4
 c
a
s
e
s

1
.2

1
.0
4

3
2

�
�

L
a
te
s
t 
P
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e

J
u
d
g
e
m
e
n
t

D
ir
e
c
ti
o
n
 o
f 
T
ra
v
e
l

P
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e

43



44



 

 
Further information on the subject of this report is available from 

Wendy Fabbro, Associate Director of Joint Commissioning, tel: 01432 3444344 

 

MEETING: ADULT SOCIAL CARE AND STRATEGIC HOUSING 

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

DATE: 14 DECEMBER 2009 

TITLE OF REPORT: SCOPING REPORT FOR THE SCRUTINY REVIEW 

OF HOME CARE IN HEREFORDSHIRE 

PORTFOLIO AREA:  OLDER PEOPLE AND SOCIAL CARE, ADULTS 

CLASSIFICATION: Open 

Wards Affected 

County-wide  

Purpose 

To consider a proposal to scrutinise the Support for Home Care in Herefordshire. 

Recommendation 

 THAT (a) the Scoping Statement as appended is approved; 

(b) the Membership of the Review Group is approved; and 

(c) a Chairman of the Review Group be appointed. 

Key Points Summary 

• As the projected growth in the percentage of older people living in Herefordshire means that the 
County will be supporting a larger number of vulnerable people to live in their own homes with 
home care services, it is proposed to commission a Scrutiny Review in order to gauge the 
quality and capacity of the home care market in Herefordshire. 

Alternative Options 

1 That the Committee does not undertake the Review, or modifies the Scoping Statement. 

Introduction and Background 

2 This Committee agreed to include a Review of Home Care in Herefordshire in its Work 
Programme on 5 October 2009. The Scoping Statement for the Review is attached as 
Appendix 1.  

Community Impact 

3 The review contributes to the following objectives contained in the Herefordshire Community 
Strategy, including the Council’s Corporate Plan and other key plans or strategies:  

NI 136 people helped to live independently through social care 

AGENDA ITEM 11

45



NI 142 supporting people services (housing related support) 

NI 125 achieving independence through re-ablement and intermediate care 

 

Financial Implications 

4 There are no direct financial implications. 

Legal Implications 

5 There are no legal implications. 

Consultees 

6 Consultees are listed in the Scoping Statement, at Appendix 1. 

Appendices 

7 Appendix 1 Scoping Statement. 

Background Papers 

• None. 

46



 

TITLE OF REVIEW: Review of Home Care 

Committee: Adult Social Care & Strategic Housing Scrutiny Committee 

 

SCOPING 
 

Reason for Enquiry 

 
The projected growth in the percentage of older people living in Herefordshire means that we will be 
supporting a larger number of frail older people and vulnerable people to live in their own homes with home 
care services.   
 
The quality and capacity of the home care market (the Council only delivers re-ablement home care) is 
therefore of key importance.  A major review of contracted home care services has taken place over the last 
year, and the Committee may wish to review progress and ‘future fit’ of the proposals 

 

 

Links to the Community Strategy 

 

The review contributes to the following objectives contained in the Herefordshire Community Strategy, 
including the Council’s Corporate Plan and other key plans or strategies: 

NI 136 people helped to live independently through social care 

NI 142 supporting people services (housing related support) 

NI 125 achieving independence through re-ablement and intermediate care 

 

Summary of Review  and Terms of Reference  

Summary 

 
Terms of Reference 
 

• Comparison of value for money and  unit costs based on the fair pricing tool and regional comparator 
data 

• Market analysis and capacity to deliver services for a growing population of people needing care at 
home 

• Quality of services commissioned and plans to improve quality 

• Impact of personalisation, and how plans to commission will cope 

• Development of re-ablement services, and impact on the number of people supported and the 
increased quality of life that can be secured for them  

 

What will NOT be included 

In order to make the Review manageable it is proposed that Supporting People Services which are currently 
undergoing a major review and restructuring, and hospital based, and residential based intermediate care are 
NOT considered.  

 

 

47



 

Potential outcomes 

• Evaluation of the robustness of the strategy in delivering the desired outcomes for vulnerable people at 
best value; 

• Recommendations with respect to development of reablement services. 

 

Key questions 

• How can sufficient market capacity be secured to support the projected growth in the numbers of 
vulnerable people who could need support; 

• How do we maximise independence through home care services to ensure a wider number of people are 
able to receive a service; 

• How do we demonstrate value for money in the service shat we have procured. 

 

Cabinet Member (s) 

Adult Social Care and Strategic Housing 

 

Key Stakeholders/Consultees 

• Carers representatives 

• Home care providers forum 

• Older people’s reference group- incl Age Concern advocacy 

• Valuing People partnership board 

• SIL 

• Mental Health reference group  

 

Potential Witnesses 

From the consultation groups above 

 

Research Required 

Benchmark data across rural counties and West Midlands 

Regional project to develop reablement services 

 

Potential Visits 

Home care 

Telecare 

Reablement services 

 

Publicity Requirements 

Notification of review 

Publication of the Review and its recommendations 

Herefordshire Matters 

48



 

 

Timetable 

Activity Timescale 

Confirm approach, programme of 
consultation/research/provisional 
witnesses/meeting dates (and proposed topic  

First meeting of the Review Group. 

January 2010 

Collect current available data February 2010 

Collect outstanding data February 2010 

Analysis of data March 2010 

Final confirmation of interviews of witnesses February 2010 

Carry out programme of interviews Early March 2010 

Agree programme of site visits February 2010 

Undertake site visits as appropriate February 2010 

Final analysis of data and witness evidence April 2010 

Prepare options/recommendations April 2010 

Present Final report to Relevant Scrutiny  
Committee 

April 2010 

Present options/recommendations to Cabinet 
(or Cabinet member (s)) 

May 2010 

Cabinet/Cabinet Member (s)  response  June 2010 

Implementation of agreed recommendations July 2010 

Members Support Officers 

Councillors: 

(Chairman of Review Group) 

Lead Support Officer (Independent of the Service being 
Reviewed) – to be confirmed 

 Democratic Services Representative(s) – David Penrose 

 Other support Officers 

Additional members of the Review Group  

  

 

49



50



 

 
Further information on the subject of this report is available from 

Richard Gabb, Head of Strategic Housing (01432) 261902 
  

MEETING: ADULT SOCIAL CARE & STRATEGIC HOUSING 

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

DATE: 14
 
DECEMBER 2009  

TITLE OF REPORT: HOMELESSNESS PREVENTION AND ALLEVIATION 

APPROACHES 

PORTFOLIO AREA:  OLDER PEOPLE, SOCIAL CARE ADULTS 

 

CLASSIFICATION: Open  

Wards Affected 

Report is for information only. 

Purpose 

To inform the Committee of the measures used to help prevent homelessness in Herefordshire. 

Key Decision  

This is not a Key Decision.  

Recommendation 

 THAT: the Committee notes the range of interventions used by Strategic Housing 

Services to prevent homelessness in Herefordshire 

Key Points Summary 

• Homelessness and Housing Advice Services in Herefordshire focus activity towards the 
prevention of homelessness 

• Through the use of a Homelessness Prevention Fund and utilising grant from the Department 
for Communities and Local Government the service has a range of initiatives in place which aim 
to prevent homelessness 

• The activities of the Homelessness and Housing Advice Team are assisted by a range of Low 
Cost Home Ownership and Housing Options Schemes operated by the Housing Needs and 
Development Team. 

Alternative Options 

1. None. This report is for information only. 

AGENDA ITEM 12

51



Reasons for Recommendations 

2. Scrutiny Committee requested at it’s meeting of 27
th
 July 2009 that a report be presented to 

Committee on the various schemes that the Council run to alleviate homelessness. 

Introduction and Background 

3 The Council has a statutory duty to assist homeless households and those threatened with 
homelessness under the Housing Act 1996 and the Homelessness Act 2002.  The Council 
also has a duty to assist Children’s Services where ever possible in the discharge of some of 
their duties to 16 and 17 year olds who are homeless, under the Children Act 1989.  Some of 
the work undertaken by the team will involve carrying out assessments in accordance with the 
homeless legislation. A good deal of work will involve trying to prevent homelessness by 
negotiating with a wide range of individuals, organisations and partners. 

4. As such front line staff in the team need to have a wide range of skills and knowledge so that 
they can carry out their duties effectively and a number of practical interventions which can be 
used to try and prevent homelessness.  

Key Considerations 

5. The Homelessness Strategy and Services team have a range of tools and initiatives to assist 
in the prevention of homelessness. These are as follows:- 

a) Rent Deposit Scheme – Homeless Prevention Fund - The purpose of this scheme 
is to assist those people who are eligible for assistance and are considered to be at 
risk of becoming homeless secure a property in the private rented sector. The scheme 
currently covers the deposit and the first month’s rent.  However, having recently 
reviewed the scheme the intention is to replace the deposit with a bond, which is a 
written undertaking to cover any wilful damage to the landlord’s property up to the 
value of the usual deposit.  This will enable prevention staff to assist more people with 
private sector accommodation within available budgets. From April to date the 
Homelessness and Housing Advice Service has assisted with the following:- 

Deposits                    x 81 = £42,032 

Rent in Advance        x 81 = £37,966   

b) Other Homeless Prevention Fund Payments – 

• Good will payments – these can include small regular payments to friends and 
family who undertake to provide short-term accommodation for a homeless 
household pending either suitable temporary accommodation being located or a 
permanent offer of accommodation being made. This approach is far more cost 
effective than placing a household in costly and inappropriate Bed and Breakfast 
Accommodation. A total of 134 payments have been made for this purpose since 
April 2009 at a total value of £3,789. 

 

• Loans for arrears – a number of households who present as being at risk of 
homelessness have rent or mortgage arrears and loan arrangements funded 
through the prevention budget can enable possession proceedings to be halted. 12 
households have benefited from this scheme since April at a total cost of 
£8,266.31 

52



• Incentive payments – payments can be made available to incentivise private sector 
landlords to assist a household in need or hold property for a household for a 
period. 

c) Court Desk – The Citizens Advice Bureau has been provided with funding of £10k, 
awarded to Herefordshire by the DCLG to operate an Advice and Advocacy service at 
the County Court for those people who are being evicted from their homes, whether 
their accommodation is owned or rented.  Users of the service can approach the court 
desk before the date of their hearing as well as on the day and receive assistance with 
seeking suspension of possession whilst, for instance, other repayment arrangements 
are investigated.  

d) CLG Funding for Loans to Prevent Repossessions – The DCLG have provided 
Herefordshire Council with a grant of £57K to prevent repossessions in all tenures. 
DCLG have allowed us discretion as to how we manage use of the grant so long as it 
is broadly used for the purpose it was intended.   Some of the funding has been 
earmarked to support the processing of Mortgage Rescue cases. Work is underway to 
write an internal protocol for using the grant, however the main thrust of the protocol 
will be that the money will only be used where it can be demonstrated that prevention 
will be long term or permanent and that everything has been done to prevent eviction. 
The money will mainly be treated as a loan rather than a grant, in order to achieve 
maximum use.  In the case of mortgaged property investigations are underway as to 
whether it would be cost effective to apply a Legal Charge to the property.     

e) CAB Debt Advice – The Citizens Advice Bureau has also been provided with funds in 
order to increase their capacity to provide debt advice to members of the community 
who are in housing difficulty. Debt has a substantial knock-on effect when people are 
weighing-up what repayments to prioritise.  Rent and mortgage are often the last and 
most costly items of expenditure to be paid when people are struggling to make ends 
meet.  However it is the non payment of rent or mortgage that will often result in 
homelessness.  Provision of good quality, targeted debt advice therefore has the 
benefit of educating people as to the priority they should give to housing costs, as well 
as being able to negotiate with other creditors to reduce or freeze interest, or even 
write off debt where this is possible.  As part of the process out-goings are reduced 
and maximum take up of benefit or income is facilitated to help people.        

f) Mediation – There is currently a mediation service to help to reconcile families who 
are in dispute with each other. The role of mediation is to act as an independent party 
that can arbitrate and to an extent counsel both parties in order to prevent 
homelessness by achieving reconciliation. Even were homelessness cannot be 
prevented, a positive outcome would also be improving family relationships, and thus 
increasing the chances of tenancy sustainment by increasing access to the family 
network. This is particularly important in terms of preventing homelessness amongst 
young people living at home.   

g) Early Intervention – There is evidence to suggest that young people who experience 
homelessness as part of a family are more likely to suffer repeat homelessness in 
adult life. In a bid to address these risks early, Strategic Housing provides funding to 
the Supported Housing for Young Persons Project (SHYPP) to provide interactive 
learning sessions on housing and homelessness with schoolchildren in a number of 
targeted schools. The sessions are run by housing support workers and young people 
who have experienced homelessness and encourage children to explore the realities 
of homelessness and better prepare for independent living. In the longer term this 
approach should improve the outcomes for a number of young people who would 
otherwise enter the homelessness system. 

53



h) Working Protocols – Working protocols have been established with key partners 
which aim to set out how each organisation will assist in the prevention of 
homelessness. An example of this is the RSL protocol under which RSL’s have agreed 
to notify the Homelessness and Housing Advice team when a household is at risk of 
becoming homeless on account of, for instance, rent arrears or anti-social behaviour.  

Changes Being Implemented to Service Delivery 

6. From the 2
nd
 November 2009 the service has been piloting a different approach to service 

delivery.  In place of the Housing Options Officers, Prevention Officers, and Homelessness 
Officers, there is now have a generic team of 8 Housing Advisor’s who undertake a number of 
duties within the team, but also combine the roles of homeless prevention and homeless 
assessment.   

7. This means that instead of a customer being dealt with by 4 different people during the course 
of their involvement with the service, they now see a maximum of 2 people, the last one being 
their allocated named officer who will try to prevent their homelessness where possible, but if 
prevention is not possible carry out a homelessness assessment.  

8. There is now a daily drop-in service in addition to a telephone service ensuring immediate 
access to customers needing advice in the first instance.  Both the drop-in service and contact 
by telephone are put through a triage process in order to prioritise and allocate cases to an 
appropriate officer.   Cases are allocated on a daily basis to Housing Advisors, who then 
arrange to interview the customer either at Garrick House or at home, or give sufficient advice 
over the phone to resolve their problem. 

9. As a result of the changes currently being piloted the workload of the team has increased 
significantly and the number of staff directed to frontline roles has been increased from 5 to 8 
to accommodate the increase in customers being seen. 

10. Prior to the change in service delivery the team received an average of 15 prevention cases 
per week.  The changes that are being piloted have made the service more accessible to 
customers and as such the average number of new cases per week has increased to 32. In 
the longer term this is expected to ensure more households are supported away form 
homelessness, therefore reducing the numbers presenting in more extreme crisis whose 
homelessness can be more difficult to prevent. 

11. The team currently have a total of 339 on-going prevention cases at varying stages.      

Housing Options 

12. There are currently a wide range of initiatives operated by the Housing Needs and 
Development Team that can be utilised to support the work of the Homelessness and Housing 
Advice Team and which assist in the reduction of homelessness and reduce the numbers of 
households in, for instance, Bed and Breakfast accommodation.   

1) Bringing Empty Properties back into use 

Target for 2009/2010  110 properties of which 40 properties will have been empty for 
more than 6 months 

Total Capital Budget 2009/2010   £300,000 

Financed by  Housing Capital Reserves   £100,000 

    Private Sector Leverage  £ variable 

    Corporate Capital Funding  £200,000 

54



a) Methods for bringing empty properties back into use – Capital funding 

• Temporary Social Housing Scheme – through working in partnership with 
Marches Housing Association, it provides owners with financial assistance to enable 
refurbishment to bring the empty property up to a habitable standard.  The owner 
will also be required to make a contribution towards the works dependent on the 
level of works required. The RSL will lease the property for a minimum of 6 years, 
with the owner receiving a guaranteed, albeit reduced, rental income.  At the end of 
the lease, the property will be returned to the owner in good, refurbished condition 
subject to fair wear and tear.   

 
Progress to date – 10 properties identified utilising £165,000 

• Purchase and Repair – through working with Housing Associations, funding is 
available through the LA to enable the HA to purchase the property, undertaking 
essential works to a maximum of £10,000.  These properties then become part of 
the Registered Social Landlord’s (RSL’s) affordable housing rental stock.   

 

Progress to date – 2 properties have been purchased utilising £145,000.  

• Compulsory Purchase Orders – only used as a final resort.  Procedures are 
lengthy and costly and therefore only considered as an option in exceptional 
circumstances.   
 

Progress to date – 1 property being considered for inclusion in Ross on Wye - 
identified budget of £180,000. (Separate to the identified budgets above). 

Total Revenue Budget 2009/2010  £8,870   

Financed by Strategic Housing Revenue Budget     

 b) Methods of Delivery - Revenue Funding  

• Private Sector Leasing Scheme – aimed at properties that are in good condition 
which are in an area of housing need.  The property is leased by the Local Authority 
for a 2 year period during which the owner receives a guaranteed rent at below 
market rates.  The LA enters into an agreement with a local Housing Association to 
manage the properties on behalf of the LA for a management fee.  

 

Progress to date - 15 properties being leased 
 

• Agent Managed Scheme (pilot) – also aimed at properties that are in good 
condition which are in an area of housing need.  This scheme is under review. 

 

Progress to date - 13 properties being leased    
 

• Advice and Assistance – some owners are unaware of what options are available 
or quite what to do with properties.  Advice can range from providing options on 
lettings/sales, what tax relief is available and also reinforcing the cost of keeping the 
property empty. 

 

Progress to date – 30 empty properties have been brought back into use. 
 

• Enforcement  
 

o Empty Dwelling Management Orders (EDMO) – designed to allow council to 
take over the management rights of the property for the purpose of bringing the 

55



properties back into use. Targeted to those properties that have been empty for 
more than 6 months and where the owner has not demonstrated any clear plan 
to bring the property back into use.   

 
Progress to date – Whist no orders have been taken out to date there are 3 
properties being actively considered for EDMO action. This reflects the positive 
work that is being undertaken to pursue a range of options for bring empty 
property back into use. Once EDMOs have been pursued, the property is returned 
into use prior to taking formal action. 
 

c) New Schemes due to be piloted -  to maximise access to the private rented sector 
by homeless households, those at risk of homelessness and tenants on the 
waiting list for Housing Association stock.   

d) Shadow Leasing Scheme – aimed at properties that are in good condition which 
are in an area of housing need.  The scheme is for the council to “shadow” the 
tenancy for 12 months and assist the landlord to ensure the arrangements 
operate smoothly.  This involves liaising with tenants/landlords to ensure that 
tenancy agreements are met, rental payments are maximised and that any 
antisocial behaviour is dealt with immediately. The properties can be managed by 
the Estate Agent, owner or a housing association.  There are 2 options: 

• Option 1 – a 6 month tenancy is signed between the tenant and landlord and 
the council will guarantee the rental for this period, together with on going 
support to both landlord and tenant.  If the landlord is happy with the 
arrangements after 6 months a new agreement can be entered with less 
support from the council for the next 6 month period. At the end of the 12 
months, the landlord takes on full management and the tenant remains 

• Option 2 – as above, but the initial 6 months is used by the council to 
discharge its statutory duty to provide temporary accommodation, through 
leasing arrangements.    After the 6 months, a 6 month assured-shorthold 
tenancy can be agreed between the landlord and tenant and the council 
provides ongoing support for a further 6 month period. 

It is anticipated that the schemes should require little budget provision, although this is 
still being investigated. 

2. Low Cost Home Ownership 

There are a range of low cost home ownership schemes currently being operated, but 
the council is directly involved as detailed below  

Targets 2009/2010 – contributes towards the delivery of 220 Affordable homes   

Total Capital Budget 2009/2010   £2,700,000 

Financed by  Housing Capital Reserves   £   400,000 

    Private Sector Leverage  £1,200,000 

    Corporate bid    £1,100,000 

Estimated number of units to be brought back into use with funding -  25 

Progress to date - 21 

56



• Do It Yourself Shared Ownership Scheme (DIYSO) – Assists those in housing need 
to gain a foot on the housing ladder, who would otherwise have no alternative but to 
seek rented accommodation through Home Point.  Operated in partnership with Elgar 
Housing Association, who purchase the property and lease a % back to the household, 
charging a rental income.  The households must be able to secure a mortgage and/or 
have sufficient lump sum to purchase between 25% and 75% share. 

Total budget for DIYSO – £600,000 (excludes private finance) estimated to provide 10 
properties 

Progress to date – 8 

• Local Mortgage Rescue Scheme – Assists families experiencing financial difficulties 
to remain in their own home/support networks.  The financial circumstances can be 
experienced through changes in employment circumstances or a relationship 
breakdown.  Operated on the same principles as DIYSO it helps prevent 
homelessness or one or more of the household members.  Priority is given to those 
where the council is likely to have a statutory duty under the homelessness legislation 
and temporary and permanent accommodation is likely to be sought.   

Total budget for Local Mortgage Rescue - £900,000 (excludes private element) 
estimated to provide assistance to 15 households. 

Progress to date – 13 households 

• National Mortgage Rescue Scheme – introduced by central Government and 
incorporates a range of measures to prevent repossessions and help families to 
remain in their own home.   Measures offered/available are based on the individual 
needs of the household and can range from negotiating with lenders to suspend 
possession proceedings, providing loans to clear arrears to prevent court action 
through to offering interest only mortgages and purchasing back the property as a last 
resort.  The council work in partnership with Elgar housing association who are able to 
access funding to secure the property from repossession. 

There is no overall budget to which the council is responsible for. 

Progress to date – 1 completed with 2 further applications to be completed 

Community Impact 

13. None, this report is for information purposes only 

Financial Implications 

14. The future funding of a number of the schemes outlined above will be dependent upon the 
success of funding bids to the Council’s Capital Programme 

Legal Implications 

15. None, this report is for information only. 

Consultees 

17. None, this report is fro information only  

Background Papers 

• None 

57



58



 

 
Further information on the subject of this report is available from 

Lydia Bailey (Head of Service Redesign, Integrated Commissioning) - (01432) 344344 
  

MEETING: ADULT SOCIAL CARE AND HOUSING SCRUTINY 

COMMITTEE 

DATE: 14
TH
 DECEMBER 2009 

TITLE OF REPORT: LIVING WELL WITH DEMENTIA – A NATIONAL 

STRATEGY - UPDATE ON IMPLEMENTATION 

PORTFOLIO AREA:  ADULT SOCIAL CARE 

CLASSIFICATION: Open  

Wards Affected 

County-wide  

Purpose 

To update the committee on Herefordshire’s implementation of the national dementia strategy – 
Living well with Dementia. 
 

Recommendation 

 THAT: subject to any comments that the Committee may want to make, the report be noted 

Key Points Summary 

Introduction and Background 

1. Dementia is a national priority not only because of the ageing UK population but because 
research has shown shortcomings in current services. As a result of this in February 2009  the 
government published  ‘Living Well with Dementia – A National Strategy’ 

 
2. The aim of the Strategy is to ensure that significant improvements are made to dementia services 

across three key areas: improved awareness, earlier diagnosis and intervention, and a higher 
quality of care. 

 
3. The strategy identifies 17 key objectives which when implemented locally should lead 

improvements in local delivery and a better understanding of the causes and consequences. 

 
4. This report evaluates how far we have implemented the 17 objectives, what further work needs 

doing and how this will be achieved. 
 
 

Key Considerations 

5. There are currently 700,000 people in the UK with dementia, of whom approximately 570,000 live 
in England. Dementia costs the UK economy £17 billion a year and, in the next 30 years, the 

AGENDA ITEM 13

59



number of people with dementia in the UK will double to 1.4 million, with the costs trebling to over 
£50 billion a year.  

6. Dementia is a key priority for Herefordshire given that the county’s population has a relatively old 
age structure, with the proportion of older residents expected to increase. 

7. A quarter (25%) of Herefordshire’s population is of state retirement age (60 for females; 65 for 
males) or above (44,800 people), compared to a fifth both regionally and nationally (20% & 19% 
respectively).   

8. Numbers of older people have grown more rapidly locally than nationally: there are 12% more 
people aged 65+ living in Herefordshire in 2008 than in 2001, compared to 6% more in England & 
Wales. 

9. This growth is expected to continue, but even more rapidly - with 61% more people aged 65+ 
forecast to be living in Herefordshire by 2026, from 37,800 in 2008 to 61,000 in 2026 (see Figure 
4.2).  In particular, the number of people aged 85+ is expected to almost double, from 5,200 in 
2008 to 10,200 in 2026. 

10. One in 14 people aged over 65 have dementia, this rises to one in six over the age of 80 and 1/3
rd
 

of people over the age of 95. 

11. In 2005 the number of people with dementia in Herefordshire was estimated to be 2,660 people 
which is the highest in the west midlands. This figure is predicted to rise to 3029 in 2010 and 
3450 by 2015 (an increase of 30% over 10 years) 

12. Currently commissioned services (Health and Social Care) for older people with MH problems  
(including Dementia) are in excess of £3.8m. Of this total almost 78% (2.95 million) is spent on 
residential and nursing care placements.  

13. This spend will need to be realigned over the coming years to allow for greater investment in 
prevention, early intervention and intermediate care services which can  delay or prevent the need 
for long term expensive care placements. 

14. Within the strategy there are 17 objectives (or themes) of which 14 are for local delivery these 
are: 

 

• Improving public and professional awareness and understanding of dementia. 

• Good-quality early diagnosis and intervention for all.  

• Good-quality information for those with diagnosed dementia and their carers.  

• Enabling easy access to care, support and advice following diagnosis.  

• Development of structured peer support and learning networks.  

• Improved community personal support services.  

• Implementing the Carers’ Strategy.  

• Improved quality of care for people with dementia in general hospitals.  

• Improved intermediate care for people with dementia.  

• Considering the potential for housing support, housing-related services and telecare to 
support people with dementia and their carers.  

• Living well with dementia in care homes.  

• Improved end of life care for people with dementia.  

• An informed and effective workforce for people with dementia.  

60



• A joint commissioning strategy for dementia.  

• Improved assessment and regulation of health and care services and of how systems are 
working for people with dementia and their carers.  

• A clear picture of research evidence and needs. 

• Effective national and regional support for implementation of the Strategy.  

 
15. Appendix 1 shows a detailed assessment of work undertaken in Herefordshire to implement 

each local objective. 
 
16. Key achievements are: 

 

17. Dementia Awareness Training for All – Development and implementation of a Dementia 
training programme to improve the quality of care delivered to dementia sufferers across the 
dispersed rural population supporting and enabling people to ‘live well with dementia’. This is 
being achieved by delivering tailor-made training meeting the needs of a wide range of 
professionals and carers who come into contact with a person with dementia focusing on 
developing person centred care and raising awareness of dementia issues in the county. The 
goal is to educate and train EVERYONE who comes into contact with a person with dementia 
so that they can deliver person centred care at all levels in all situations to a high standard. 
The training encompasses care givers from various professional and informal groups and 
includes support for carers and service users through carers education sessions and Al’s Café 
(informal dementia café support group that provides help and information) in partnership with 
the Alzheimer’s Society. 

  

18. Specialist Intermediate Care – Establishment of a specialist domiciliary Intermediate Care 
service delivered through a partnership between Herefordshire Council, Herefordshire Mental 
Health services and a domiciliary care provider. The aim is to provide short-term reablement 
support to individuals with dementia to enable them to remain living at home by providing a 
treatment environment more able to respond to the needs of individuals with dementia at 
times of crisis. The team have integrated developments in assistive technology (the Just 
Checking activity monitoring system, Safe Walking technology – GPS location devices, 
Telecare – exit sensors, fall detectors, automatic medication dispensers etc) with a person 
centred therapy based approach to deliver an innovative and responsive service. The 
assistive technology monitors the activity of service users and alerts a care specialist if they 
are at risk or stray outside their normal daily routines. The technology is part of a wider 
improvement programme designed to promote the independence of people with dementia and 
support them to live at home and reduce instances of costly emergency hospital or care home 
admissions. Another aim is to work closer with family carers and provide improved carer 
support. The technology provides information about a service user’s daily routines and 
patterns of activity and this can be accessed securely on-line. This greatly improves the 
relationship between professionals and family carers because both parties have access to 
objective information when conducting risk assessments. It has also given service users a 
genuine voice within the decision making process because it provides concrete evidence of 
their strengths and capabilities. 

 

19.  However, there remain a number of objectives which have not been fully implemented. Key 
priorities in relation to these are: 

 

• Identify named leads for the four outstanding Objectives (Public & Professional 
Awareness; Quality Information; Community Personal Support; Housing & Telecare). This 
will enable the establishment of working groups of informed individuals who can actively 
improve the care pathway in those areas. 
 

• Undertake Capacity and Demand Mapping Study and updating 2007 Gaps Analysis 

61



20.  We also need to place a greater emphasis on achieving progress on the six national and 
regional priority areas of the dementia strategy which are: 

 

a) Early Diagnosis and Intervention – i) Enhance our current memory assessment services 
so that all people with dementia have access to a pathway of care that delivers rapid and 
competent specialist assessment, an accurate diagnosis and treatment, and care and 
support following diagnosis. This service requires the capacity to see all new cases of 
dementia in the locality. ii) Development of a Younger Person with Dementia service – 
early detection and intervention services can enable younger people with dementia to take 
actions that can reduce or delay the impact of dementia. 
 

b) Improving the quality of care in general hospitals – i) Requirement to develop an 
explicit care pathway for the management and care of people with dementia led by a 
senior clinician with responsibility for quality improvements. ii) Enhance current Psychiatric 
Liaison Services to provide a comprehensive, standardised, multi-disciplinary approach to 
older people with psychiatric illness in the acute and community hospitals. 
 

c) Improving the quality of care in care homes – i) Requirement to identify lead staff 
members in each care home to lead on quality improvement and strategy development ii) 
Development of specialist in-reach services from older people’s mental health teams to 
support care homes to improve care provision iii) Implementation of a comprehensive 
training plan. 
 

d) Implementation of the Carers strategy – Ensure that the needs of carers for people with 
dementia are strongly supported in the implementation of the carers strategy. 
 

e) An informed and Effective Workforce – i) Undertake a scoring exercise examining the 
skills mix and competencies of the workforce ii) Develop a workforce profile, skills mix, 
recruitment and retention strategies and competencies framework to provide future 
services iii) Implementation and rolling out of ‘Dementia Awareness Training for All’ 
programme. 
 

f) Develop a Joint Commissioning Strategy for dementia 
 

21. In summary it can be seen that although substantial work has been done to implement the 
Dementia strategy, progress has been inconsistent with some objectives not being fully 
implemented. 

 

22. The integrated commissioning directorate has now taken the lead for coordinating the 
implementation of the strategy in Herefordshire and to support this process has identified a 
senior officer to be Dementia Lead, - Amanda Edwards, Service Improvement Manager. 

 

23. Resources from within the planning and service redesign sections of Integrated 
Commissioning have also been identified to support the development of a detailed dementia 
commissioning strategy. 

 
24.  Integrated Commissioning will be undertaking a further assessment on progress against the 

key objectives in March 2010. 

  

Appendices 

25. Assessment against local key objectives/themes 

Background Papers 

• Living Well with Dementia – A National Strategy 

62



  

 

 
W
o
rk
in
g
 t
o
g
e
th
e
r 
fo
r 
th
e
 p
e
o
p
le
 o
f 
H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

D
e
m
e
n
ti
a
 C
a
re
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
  

 A
im
s 
a
n
d
 O
b
je
c
ti
v
e
s 

T
h
e
 a
im
 o
f 
th
is
 H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 P
u
b
li
c
 S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 D
e
m
e
n
ti
a
 P
ro
je
c
t 
is
 t
o
 p
ro
v
id
e
 a
 h
o
li
s
ti
c
 r
e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 D
e
m
e
n
ti
a
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 s
o
 t
h
a
t 
in
d
iv
id
u
a
ls
 a
re
 

a
b
le
 t
o
 a
c
c
e
s
s
 u
n
iv
e
rs
a
l 
a
n
d
 p
re
v
e
n
ta
ti
v
e
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 t
o
 m

a
x
im
is
e
 t
h
e
ir
 i
n
d
e
p
e
n
d
e
n
c
e
; 
k
e
e
p
in
g
 p
e
o
p
le
 i
n
 t
h
e
ir
 l
o
c
a
l 
c
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
 f
o
r 
a
s
 l
o
n
g
 a
s
 

p
o
s
s
ib
le
 a
n
d
 t
o
 e
n
s
u
re
 t
h
a
t 
a
 p
e
rs
o
n
 w
it
h
 d
e
m
e
n
ti
a
 r
e
c
e
iv
e
s
 h
ig
h
-
q
u
a
li
ty
 c
a
re
 w
h
e
n
e
v
e
r 
th
e
y
 a
c
c
e
s
s
 c
a
re
 a
n
d
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 i
n
 p
ri
m
a
ry
, 
c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 

a
n
d
 s
e
c
o
n
d
a
ry
 h
e
a
lt
h
, 
s
o
c
ia
l 
c
a
re
 a
n
d
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
. 

 P
ri
o
ri
ti
e
s
 f
o
r 
im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
w
il
l 
b
e
 f
o
r 
lo
c
a
l 
d
e
te
rm

in
a
ti
o
n
 w
it
h
 p
a
rt
ic
u
la
r 
a
tt
e
n
ti
o
n
 o
n
: 

•
 

e
a
rl
y
 d
ia
g
n
o
s
is
 a
n
d
 i
n
te
rv
e
n
ti
o
n
 

•
 

m
a
x
im
is
in
g
 i
n
d
e
p
e
n
d
e
n
c
e
 

•
 

w
o
rk
fo
rc
e
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 

•
 

Im
p
ro
v
in
g
 c
a
re
 a
n
d
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 i
n
 s
p
e
c
ia
li
s
t 
s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 s
u
c
h
 a
s
 c
a
re
 h
o
m
e
s
 

 T
o
 a
c
h
ie
v
e
 t
h
is
 i
t 
w
il
l 
b
e
 n
e
c
e
s
s
a
ry
 t
o
: 

•
 

c
a
rr
y
 o
u
t 
a
 c
a
p
a
c
it
y
 a
n
d
 d
e
m
a
n
d
 b
a
s
e
li
n
e
 m

a
p
p
in
g
 s
tu
d
y
 

•
 

id
e
n
ti
ty
 g
a
p
s
 i
n
 c
u
rr
e
n
t 
s
e
rv
ic
e
 p
ro
v
is
io
n
 

•
 

u
n
d
e
rt
a
k
e
 a
 s
c
o
p
in
g
 e
x
e
rc
is
e
 e
x
a
m
in
in
g
 t
h
e
 s
k
il
l 
m
ix
 a
n
d
 c
o
m
p
e
te
n
c
ie
s
 o
f 
th
e
 w
o
rk
fo
rc
e
 

•
 

m
a
k
e
 r
e
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
s
 f
o
r 
th
e
 p
re
fe
rr
e
d
 m

o
d
e
ls
 a
n
d
 a
p
p
ro
a
c
h
e
s
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
d
 t
o
 d
e
li
v
e
r 
a
 h
ig
h
-
q
u
a
li
ty
 D
e
m
e
n
ti
a
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 b
a
s
e
d
 o
n
 t
h
e
 1
7
 

o
b
je
c
ti
v
e
s
 c
o
n
ta
in
e
d
 w
it
h
in
 t
h
e
 N
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
D
e
m
e
n
ti
a
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
 

 R
e
g
io
n
a
l

R
e
g
io
n
a
l

R
e
g
io
n
a
l

R
e
g
io
n
a
l    
W
e
s
t 
M
id
la
n
d
s
 

W
e
s
t 
M
id
la
n
d
s
 

W
e
s
t 
M
id
la
n
d
s
 

W
e
s
t 
M
id
la
n
d
s
 V
is
io
n

V
is
io
n

V
is
io
n

V
is
io
n
    

 
B
y
 2
0
1
2
 a
ll
 p
e
o
p
le
 w
it
h
 a
 s
u
sp
e
c
te
d
 o
r 
c
o
n
fi
rm

e
d
 d
ia
g
n
o
s
is
 o
f 
d
e
m
e
n
ti
a
 w
il
l 
a
c
ce
ss
 a
n
 i
n
te
g
ra
te
d
, 
se
a
m
le
ss
, 
p
ro
a
c
ti
ve
 a
n
d
 h
ig
h
 q
u
a
li
ty
 

lo
ca
li
ty
 b
a
s
e
d
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 t
h
a
t 
e
n
co
m
p
a
ss
e
s 
a
ll
 t
h
e
 e
x
p
e
rt
is
e
 t
o
 m

e
e
t 
n
e
e
d
s
 o
f 
th
e
 p
e
o
p
le
 w
it
h
 d
e
m
e
n
ti
a
 a
n
d
 t
h
o
se
 o
f 
th
e
ir
 c
a
re
rs
. 

 R
e
g
io
n
a
l 
W
e
s
t 
M
id
la
n
d
s
 A
im

 
R
e
g
io
n
a
l 
W
e
s
t 
M
id
la
n
d
s
 A
im

 
R
e
g
io
n
a
l 
W
e
s
t 
M
id
la
n
d
s
 A
im

 
R
e
g
io
n
a
l 
W
e
s
t 
M
id
la
n
d
s
 A
im

 – –––
    t
o
 e
n
su
re
 t
h
a
t 
si
g
n
if
ic
a
n
t 
im
p
ro
ve
m
e
n
ts
 a
re
 m

a
d
e
 t
o
 d
e
m
e
n
ti
a
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s 
a
cr
o
s
s 
th
e
 3
 a
re
a
s
 (
R
a
is
in
g
 a
w
a
re
n
e
ss
; 

E
a
rl
y
 d
ia
g
n
o
si
s 
&
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
; 
L
iv
in
g
 w
e
ll
 w
it
h
 d
e
m
e
n
ti
a
).
 T
h
e
 D
e
m
e
n
ti
a
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
 s
h
o
u
ld
 b
e
 a
 c
a
ta
ly
st
 f
o
r 
a
 c
h
a
n
g
e
 i
n
 t
h
e
 w
a
y
 t
h
a
t 
p
e
o
p
le
 w
it
h
 

d
e
m
e
n
ti
a
 a
re
 v
ie
w
e
d
 a
n
d
 c
a
re
d
 f
o
r 
in
 E
n
g
la
n
d
 

63



  

 

 
W
o
rk
in
g
 t
o
g
e
th
e
r 
fo
r 
th
e
 p
e
o
p
le
 o
f 
H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

D
e
m
e
n
ti
a
 C
a
re
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
  

 R
e
g
io
n
a
l 
W
e
s
t 
M
id
la
n
d
s

R
e
g
io
n
a
l 
W
e
s
t 
M
id
la
n
d
s

R
e
g
io
n
a
l 
W
e
s
t 
M
id
la
n
d
s

R
e
g
io
n
a
l 
W
e
s
t 
M
id
la
n
d
s
 I  I I I
m
p
le
m
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
 P
la
n
 P
ri
o
ri
ty

m
p
le
m
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
 P
la
n
 P
ri
o
ri
ty

m
p
le
m
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
 P
la
n
 P
ri
o
ri
ty

m
p
le
m
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
 P
la
n
 P
ri
o
ri
ty
    

A
 k
e
y
 r
e
g
io
n
a
l 
Im
p
le
m
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
 p
la
n
 i
s
 t
h
e
: 

 

•
 

A
p
p
o
in
tm

e
n
t 
o
f 
n
a
m
e
d
 C
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
e
rs

n
a
m
e
d
 C
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
e
rs

n
a
m
e
d
 C
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
e
rs

n
a
m
e
d
 C
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
e
rs
 f
o
r 
th
e
 w
h
o
le
 D
e
m
e
n
ti
a
 p
a
th
w
a
y
 i
n
 e
v
e
ry
 P
C
T
 a
n
d
 a
d
v
is
o
ry
 g
ro
u
p
s
     

P
ri
o
ri
ti
e
s

P
ri
o
ri
ti
e
s

P
ri
o
ri
ti
e
s

P
ri
o
ri
ti
e
s
    

B
o
th
 t
h
e
 N
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
a
n
d
 R
e
g
io
n
a
l 
D
e
m
e
n
ti
a
 S
tr
a
te
g
ie
s
 i
d
e
n
ti
fy
 t
h
e
 f
o
ll
o
w
in
g
 a
s
 p
ri
o
ri
ti
e
s
 i
n
 i
m
p
le
m
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
: 

 

•
 

E
a
rl
y
 D
ia
g
n
o
s
is
 a
n
d
 I
n
te
rv
e
n
ti
o
n
 

•
 

Im
p
ro
v
in
g
 t
h
e
 q
u
a
li
ty
 o
f 
c
a
re
 i
n
 g
e
n
e
ra
l 
h
o
s
p
it
a
ls
 

•
 

Im
p
ro
v
in
g
 t
h
e
 q
u
a
li
ty
 o
f 
c
a
re
 i
n
 c
a
re
 h
o
m
e
s
 

•
 

Im
p
le
m
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
 o
f 
th
e
 N
e
w
 D
e
a
l 
fo
r 
c
a
re
rs
 

•
 

In
fo
rm

e
d
 a
n
d
 e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
 w
o
rk
fo
rc
e
 

•
 

Jo
in
t 
c
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
 s
tr
a
te
g
y
 f
o
r 
d
e
m
e
n
ti
a
 

 V
u
ln
e
ra
b
le
 G
ro
u
p
s

V
u
ln
e
ra
b
le
 G
ro
u
p
s

V
u
ln
e
ra
b
le
 G
ro
u
p
s

V
u
ln
e
ra
b
le
 G
ro
u
p
s
    

T
h
e
 f
o
ll
o
w
in
g
 a
re
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 a
s
 v
u
ln
e
ra
b
le
 l
o
c
a
l 
g
ro
u
p
s
 t
h
a
t 
n
e
e
d
 s
p
e
c
if
ic
 l
e
a
d
e
rs
h
ip
 t
o
 l
in
k
 i
n
to
 D
e
m
e
n
ti
a
 C
a
re
 P
a
th
w
a
y
s
: 

 

•
 

Y
o
u
n
g
 O
n
s
e
t 
D
e
m
e
n
ti
a
 

•
 

A
lc
o
h
o
l 
R
e
la
te
d
 B
ra
in
 D
a
m
a
g
e
 

•
 

L
e
a
rn
in
g
 D
is
a
b
il
it
y
 

•
 

C
a
re
rs
 w
it
h
 s
ig
n
if
ic
a
n
t 
d
e
p
re
s
s
io
n
 

•
 

In
p
a
ti
e
n
ts
 o
n
 C
a
n
ti
lu
p
e
 W
a
rd
 

•
 

A
n
ti
p
s
y
c
h
o
ti
c
 p
re
s
c
ri
b
in
g
 

64



  

 

 
W
o
rk
in
g
 t
o
g
e
th
e
r 
fo
r 
th
e
 p
e
o
p
le
 o
f 
H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

D
e
m
e
n
ti
a
 C
a
re
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
  

  
K
e
y
 P
ro
je
c
t 
O
b
je
c
ti
v
e
 M
il
e
s
to
n
e
s
 

   
O
b
je
c
ti
v
e
 

A
c
ti
o
n
 P
la
n
 

U
p
d
a
te
 N
o
v
e
m
b
e
r 
2
0
0
9
 

L
e
a
d
 

T
im
e
s
c
a
le
 

 1
 
                           

 C
lin
ic
a
l 
G
o
v
e
rn
a
n
c
e
 &
 P
ro
je
c
t 

P
la
n
n
in
g
 

                          

 

•
 

P
ro
je
c
t 
s
c
o
p
e
, 
b
u
d
g
e
t 
a
n
d
 

m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
 

 •
 

D
ra
ft
 P
ro
je
c
t 
P
la
n
 

 

•
 

P
ro
je
c
t 
B
o
a
rd
 m

e
e
t 
a
n
d
 a
g
re
e
 

P
ro
je
c
t 
P
la
n
 

 

•
 

Id
e
n
ti
fy
 S
ta
k
e
h
o
ld
e
rs
 a
n
d
 a
g
re
e
 

a
 c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 p
la
n
 

 

•
 

E
s
ta
b
lis
h
 S
u
p
p
o
rt
 t
e
a
m
s
 a
n
d
 

a
rr
a
n
g
e
 m

e
e
ti
n
g
s
 

               

 P
ro
je
c
t 
B
o
a
rd
 e
s
ta
b
lis
h
e
d
 

  C
o
m
p
le
te
d
 a
n
d
 c
ir
c
u
la
te
d
 

  P
la
n
 A
g
re
e
d
 

   D
e
m
e
n
ti
a
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
 C
li
n
ic
a
l 

R
e
fe
re
n
c
e
 G
ro
u
p
 e
s
ta
b
li
s
h
e
d
  

•
 

D
r 
P
a
m
 J
a
q
u
e
s
 (
C
h
a
ir
) 

•
 

S
u
e
 P
o
p
e
 (
C
a
re
rs
 R
e
p
) 

•
 

D
r 
A
n
d
re
w
 W

a
tt
s
 (
G
P
 R
e
p
) 

•
 

D
r 
M
ik
e
 F
ro
s
t 
(C

lin
ic
a
l 

P
s
y
c
h
o
lo
g
y
 r
e
p
) 

•
 

K
u
m
b
i 
M
a
n
d
in
y
e
n
y
a
 

(A
lz
h
e
im

e
r’
s
 S
o
c
ie
ty
) 

•
 

T
im

 W
a
lli
n
 (
N
u
rs
e
 P
re
s
c
ri
b
e
r)
 

•
 

D
ia
n
e
 J
o
n
e
s
 (
N
o
n
-E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
 

D
ir
e
c
to
r)
 

•
 

A
m
a
n
d
a
 E
d
w
a
rd
s
 (
D
e
m
e
n
ti
a
 

L
e
a
d
, 
In
te
g
ra
te
d
 

C
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
) 

•
 

L
e
a
d
s
 f
o
r 
O
b
je
c
ti
v
e
s
 1
0
-1
3
 

G
ro
u
p
 t
o
 m

e
e
t 
q
u
a
rt
e
rl
y;
 e
a
c
h
 N
D
S
 

O
b
je
c
ti
v
e
 W

o
rk
in
g
 G

ro
u
p
 t
o
 p
ro
v
id
e
 

 W
e
n
d
y 

F
a
b
b
ro
 

 A
m
a
n
d
a
 

E
d
w
a
rd
s
 

 A
m
a
n
d
a
 

E
d
w
a
rd
s
 

A
m
a
n
d
a
 

E
d
w
a
rd
s
  

 P
a
m
 J
a
q
u
e
s
 

                

 S
e
p
 2
0
0
9
 

  S
e
p
 2
0
0
9
. 

  S
e
p
t 
2
0
0
9
. 

 S
e
p
t 
2
0
0
9
. 

  S
e
p
t 
2
0
0
9
 

                

65



  

 

 
W
o
rk
in
g
 t
o
g
e
th
e
r 
fo
r 
th
e
 p
e
o
p
le
 o
f 
H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

D
e
m
e
n
ti
a
 C
a
re
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
  

                                    

                                    

                                    

O
b
je
c
ti
v
e
 W

o
rk
in
g
 G

ro
u
p
 t
o
 p
ro
v
id
e
 

w
ri
tt
e
n
 s
y
n
o
p
s
is
 p
ri
o
r 
to
 C
lin
ic
a
l 

R
e
fe
re
n
c
e
 G

ro
u
p
 m

e
e
ti
n
g
s
; 
if
 l
e
a
d
 

u
n
a
b
le
 t
o
 m

a
k
e
 m

e
e
ti
n
g
 a
 d
e
p
u
ty
 t
o
 b
e
 

id
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 

 S
tr
a
te
g
y
 O
b
je
c
ti
v
e
 W
o
rk
in
g
 G
ro
u
p
s
 

e
s
ta
b
li
s
h
e
d
 

•
 

P
u
b
lic
 &
 A
w
a
re
n
e
s
s
 (
n
o
 l
e
a
d
) 

•
 

E
a
rl
y
 D
ia
g
n
o
s
is
 &
 I
n
te
rv
e
n
ti
o
n
 (
D
r 

R
ic
h
a
rd
 E
g
g
a
r 
le
a
d
) 

•
 

Q
u
a
lit
y
 I
n
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 (
n
o
 l
e
a
d
) 

•
 

E
a
s
y 
A
c
c
e
s
s
 t
o
 C
a
re
, 
S
u
p
p
o
rt
 

a
n
d
 A
d
v
ic
e
 (
S
a
ra
h
 B
e
n
n
io
n
 l
e
a
d
) 

•
 

P
e
e
r 
S
u
p
p
o
rt
 a
n
d
 L
e
a
rn
in
g
 

N
e
tw

o
rk
s
 (
K
u
m
b
i 
M
a
n
d
in
y
e
n
ya

 
le
a
d
)  

•
 

C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 P
e
rs
o
n
a
l 
S
u
p
p
o
rt
 (
n
o
 

le
a
d
) 

•
 

C
a
re
rs
 S
tr
a
te
g
y 
(S
a
ra
h
 B
e
n
n
io
n
 

le
a
d
) 

•
 

Q
u
a
lit
y
 o
f 
C
a
re
 i
n
 G

e
n
e
ra
l 

h
o
s
p
it
a
ls
 (
D
r 
K
it
 B
y
a
tt
 l
e
a
d
) 

•
 

In
te
rm

e
d
ia
te
 C
a
re
 (
J
o
d
ie
 T
h
o
m
a
s
 

le
a
d
)  

•
 

H
o
u
s
in
g
 S
u
p
p
o
rt
, 
H
o
u
s
in
g
 

R
e
la
te
d
 S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 &
 T
e
le
c
a
re
 (
n
o
 

le
a
d
) 

•
 

L
iv
in
g
 W

e
ll 
w
it
h
 D
e
m
e
n
ti
a
 i
n
 C
a
re
 

H
o
m
e
s
 (
C
a
ro
lin
e
 A
le
x
a
n
d
e
r 
le
a
d
) 

•
 

E
n
d
 o
f 
L
if
e
 C
a
re
 (
D
r 
S
a
n
d
ra
 

S
a
lt
e
r)
 

•
 

In
fo
rm

e
d
 a
n
d
 e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
 W

o
rk
fo
rc
e
 

(C
h
e
ry
l 
P
o
o
le
 l
e
a
d
) 

 

                                    

                                    

66



  

 

 
W
o
rk
in
g
 t
o
g
e
th
e
r 
fo
r 
th
e
 p
e
o
p
le
 o
f 
H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

D
e
m
e
n
ti
a
 C
a
re
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
  

                          2
 

       3
 

 

                          C
a
p
a
c
it
y 
&
 D
e
m
a
n
d
 B
a
s
e
lin
e
 

M
a
p
p
in
g
 S
tu
d
y 

      G
a
p
s
 A
n
a
ly
s
is
 i
n
 c
u
rr
e
n
t 

s
e
rv
ic
e
 p
ro
v
is
io
n
 

                       •
 

U
n
d
e
rt
a
k
e
 C
a
p
a
c
it
y
 a
n
d
 D
e
m
a
n
d
 

B
a
s
e
lin
e
 M

a
p
p
in
g
 a
n
d
 p
ro
d
u
c
e
 f
ir
s
t 

c
u
t 
to
 S
H
A
 b
y 
3
1
s
t  O

c
t 

 •
 

U
p
d
a
te
 C
a
p
a
c
it
y
 a
n
d
 D
e
m
a
n
d
 

te
m
p
la
te
 t
o
 p
ro
d
u
c
e
 2

n
d
 c
u
t 
b
y 
J
a
n
 

2
0
1
0
 

  •
 

U
n
d
e
rt
a
k
e
 a
 g
a
p
s
 a
n
a
ly
s
is
 i
n
 

c
u
rr
e
n
t 
s
e
rv
ic
e
 p
ro
v
is
io
n
 

 

E
a
c
h
 w

o
rk
in
g
 g
ro
u
p
s
 t
o
 h
a
v
e
 

in
v
o
lv
e
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
s
e
rv
ic
e
 u
s
e
r  

 O
th
e
r 
W
o
rk
in
g
 G
ro
u
p
s
 

•
 

A
lc
o
h
o
l 
R
e
la
te
d
 B
ra
in
 D
a
m
a
g
e
 

(D
r 
P
a
m
 J
a
q
u
e
s
 l
e
a
d
) 

•
 

A
n
ti
p
s
y
c
h
o
ti
c
 P
re
s
c
ri
b
in
g
 i
n
 

C
a
re
 H
o
m
e
s
 (
T
im

 W
a
lli
n
 l
e
a
d
) 

•
 

Y
o
u
n
g
 O

n
s
e
t 
D
e
m
e
n
ti
a
 (
S
a
ra
h
 

B
e
n
n
io
n
 l
e
a
d
) 

•
 

L
e
a
rn
in
g
 D
is
a
b
ili
ty
 (
n
o
 l
e
a
d
) 

•
 

C
a
re
rs
 w

it
h
 s
ig
n
if
ic
a
n
t 

d
e
p
re
s
s
io
n
 (
n
o
 l
e
a
d
) 

•
 

C
a
n
ti
lu
p
e
 W

a
rd
 i
n
p
a
ti
e
n
ts
 (
n
o
 

le
a
d
) 

 S
o
m
e
 b
a
s
e
lin
e
 m

a
p
p
in
g
 w

o
rk
 

u
n
d
e
rt
a
k
e
n
 b
u
t 
a
ft
e
r 
d
is
c
u
s
s
io
n
 w

it
h
 

S
H
A
 o
n
ly
 h
e
a
d
lin
e
s
 s
u
b
m
it
te
d
. 

   G
a
p
s
 a
n
a
ly
s
is
 u
n
d
e
rt
a
k
e
n
 i
n
 2
0
0
7
 b
u
t 

n
e
e
d
s
 t
o
 b
e
 u
p
d
a
te
d
. 

  W
o
rk
 u
n
d
e
rt
a
k
e
n
 t
o
 l
in
k
 w

it
h
 d
e
m
e
n
ti
a
 

c
a
re
 p
a
th
w
a
y 

                         A
m
a
n
d
a
 

E
d
w
a
rd
s
 

  A
m
a
n
d
a
 

E
d
w
a
rd
s
 

 A
m
a
n
d
a
 

E
d
w
a
rd
s
 

  

                         3
1
s
t  
O
c
t 
0
9
 

    J
a
n
 2
0
1
0
 

   D
e
c
 2
0
0
9
. 

 

67



  

 

 
W
o
rk
in
g
 t
o
g
e
th
e
r 
fo
r 
th
e
 p
e
o
p
le
 o
f 
H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

D
e
m
e
n
ti
a
 C
a
re
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
  

 4
 

           4
 

       

 W
o
rk
fo
rc
e
 P
la
n
n
in
g
 &
 S
k
ill
s
 

M
ix
 

          M
a
k
e
 r
e
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
s
 f
o
r 

th
e
 p
re
fe
rr
e
d
 m

o
d
e
ls
 a
n
d
 

a
p
p
ro
a
c
h
e
s
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
d
 t
o
 

d
e
liv
e
r 
a
 h
ig
h
 q
u
a
lit
y 

d
e
m
e
n
ti
a
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 

            

 •
 

U
n
d
e
rt
a
k
e
 a
 s
c
o
ri
n
g
 e
x
e
rc
is
e
 

e
x
a
m
in
in
g
 t
h
e
 s
k
ill
s
 m

ix
 a
n
d
 

c
o
m
p
e
te
n
c
ie
s
 o
f 
th
e
 w

o
rk
fo
rc
e
 

d
e
d
ic
a
te
d
 t
o
 p
ro
v
id
in
g
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 f
o
r 

p
e
o
p
le
 w

it
h
 d
e
m
e
n
ti
a
 

 •
 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
 a
 w

o
rk
fo
rc
e
 p
ro
fi
le
, 
s
k
ill
s
 

m
ix
, 
re
c
ru
it
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 r
e
te
n
ti
o
n
 

s
tr
a
te
g
ie
s
 a
n
d
 c
o
m
p
e
te
n
c
ie
s
 

fr
a
m
e
w
o
rk
 t
h
a
t 
n
e
e
d
 t
o
 b
e
 i
n
 p
la
c
e
 

to
 p
ro
v
id
e
 f
u
tu
re
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
. 

 •
 

D
e
te
rm

in
e
 l
o
c
a
l 
p
ri
o
ri
ti
e
s
 a
g
a
in
s
t 

th
e
 N
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
D
e
m
e
n
ti
a
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
, 

R
e
g
io
n
a
l 
C
a
re
 P
a
th
w
a
y 
a
n
d
 t
h
e
 

lo
c
a
l 
F
u
tu
re
 C

a
re
 M

o
d
e
l 
fo
r 

d
e
m
e
n
ti
a
. 

•
 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
 t
h
e
 p
re
fe
rr
e
d
 m

o
d
e
ls
 a
n
d
 

a
p
p
ro
a
c
h
e
s
 f
o
r 
a
 h
ig
h
 q
u
a
lit
y
 

d
e
m
e
n
ti
a
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 b
a
s
e
d
 u
p
o
n
 

c
u
rr
e
n
t 
b
e
s
t 
p
ra
c
ti
c
e
. 

•
 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
 B
u
s
in
e
s
s
 C
a
s
e
 f
o
r 

o
p
e
ra
ti
n
g
 p
la
n
 (
L
D
P
) 
p
ro
c
e
s
s
 

•
 

R
e
p
o
rt
 t
o
 P
ro
je
c
t 
B
o
a
rd
 g
iv
in
g
 

in
d
ic
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 
p
re
lim

in
a
ry
 f
in
d
in
g
s
 

a
n
d
 p
o
s
s
ib
le
 r
e
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
s
 

•
 

P
re
lim

in
a
ry
 f
in
d
in
g
s
 a
n
d
 p
ro
p
o
s
a
ls
 

s
h
a
re
d
 w

it
h
 k
e
y
 s
ta
k
e
h
o
ld
e
r 
g
ro
u
p
s
 

•
 

F
in
a
l 
re
p
o
rt
 p
ro
d
u
c
e
d
 (
fo
llo
w
in
g
 

c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
) 
a
n
d
 p
re
s
e
n
te
d
 t
o
 

ra
n
g
e
 o
f 
in
te
re
s
te
d
 p
a
rt
ie
s
. 

 A
n
d
re
w
 

H
a
s
le
r 

   A
n
d
re
w
 

H
a
s
le
r 

 A
m
a
n
d
a
 

E
d
w
a
rd
s
 

   A
m
a
n
d
a
 

E
d
w
a
rd
s
 

 A
m
a
n
d
a
 

E
d
w
a
rd
s
 

 A
m
a
n
d
a
 

E
d
w
a
rd
s
 

 A
m
a
n
d
a
 

E
d
w
a
rd
s
 

 A
m
a
n
d
a
 

E
d
w
a
rd
s
 

   O
c
t 
2
0
0
9
. 

    J
a
n
 2
0
1
0
 

     D
e
c
 2
0
0
9
. 

  J
a
n
 2
0
1
0
 

  J
a
n
 2
0
1
0
 

  J
a
n
 2
0
1
0
 

  F
e
b
 2
0
1
0
 

  F
e
b
 2
0
1
0
 

 

68



  

 

 
W
o
rk
in
g
 t
o
g
e
th
e
r 
fo
r 
th
e
 p
e
o
p
le
 o
f 
H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

D
e
m
e
n
ti
a
 C
a
re
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
  

 T
h
e
m
e
 1
 –
 I
m
p
ro
v
in
g
 P
u
b
li
c
 a
n
d
 P
ro
fe
s
s
io
n
a
l 
A
w
a
re
n
e
s
s
 a
n
d
 U
n
d
e
rs
ta
n
d
in
g
 o
f 
D
e
m
e
n
ti
a
 

 D
a
te
 

N
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
M
il
e
s
to
n
e
s
  

H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 M
il
e
s
to
n
e
s
  

U
p
d
a
te
 N
o
v
e
m
b
e
r 
2
0
0
9
 

L
e
a
d
 

T
im
e
s
c
a
le
  

         

•
 

A
w
a
re
n
e
s
s
 r
a
is
in
g
 

p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 o
n
 N
D
S
 a
n
d
 

g
o
v
t 
p
ri
o
ri
ti
s
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 

d
e
m
e
n
ti
a
 

 •
 

N
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
a
n
ti
-s
ti
g
m
a
 

c
a
m
p
a
ig
n
 

 •
 

Im
p
ro
v
e
d
 a
w
a
re
n
e
s
s
 

p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 f
o
r 
s
e
n
io
r 

N
H
S
 d
e
c
is
io
n
 m

a
k
e
rs
 

a
n
d
 f
ro
n
tl
in
e
 c
lin
ic
ia
n
s
 

 •
 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
 a
 c
o
m
m
u
n
ic
a
ti
o
n
 

s
tr
a
te
g
y
 t
o
 e
n
g
a
g
e
 

p
a
ti
e
n
t 
g
ro
u
p
s
, 
h
e
a
lt
h
 

a
n
d
 s
o
c
ia
l 
c
a
re
 

p
ro
fe
s
s
io
n
a
ls
, 
th
e
 T
h
ir
d
 

S
e
c
to
r,
 h
e
a
lt
h
 &
 s
o
c
ia
l 

c
a
re
 r
e
g
u
la
to
rs
 a
n
d
 a
ll 

k
e
y
 s
ta
k
e
h
o
ld
e
rs
 

•
 

O
b
je
c
ti
v
e
 1
 W

o
rk
in
g
 G

ro
u
p
 t
o
 b
e
 

e
s
ta
b
lis
h
e
d
 

 •
 

O
v
e
ra
rc
h
in
g
 C
o
m
m
u
n
ic
a
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 

E
n
g
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
S
tr
a
te
g
y 
to
 b
e
 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
e
d
 

 •
 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
in
g
 a
n
d
 d
e
liv
e
ri
n
g
 a
 g
e
n
e
ra
l 

p
u
b
lic
 i
n
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 c
a
m
p
a
ig
n
 

 •
 

C
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 &
 E
n
g
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
E
v
e
n
ts
 

(s
tr
o
n
g
 p
re
v
e
n
ti
o
n
 m

e
s
s
a
g
e
 –
 w

h
a
t’
s
 

g
o
o
d
 f
o
r 
th
e
 h
e
a
rt
 i
s
 g
o
o
d
 f
o
r 
y
o
u
r 

h
e
a
d
’)
 

 •
 

S
p
e
c
if
ic
 c
o
m
p
le
m
e
n
ta
ry
 l
o
c
a
l 

c
a
m
p
a
ig
n
s
 

 •
 

T
a
rg
e
te
d
 c
a
m
p
a
ig
n
s
 f
o
r 
o
th
e
r 

s
p
e
c
if
ic
 g
ro
u
p
s
 (
e
.g
. 
u
ti
lit
ie
s
, 
p
u
b
lic
 

fa
c
in
g
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 e
m
p
lo
y
e
e
s
, 
s
c
h
o
o
ls
, 

c
u
lt
u
ra
l 
a
n
d
 r
e
lig
io
u
s
 o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
) 

  

 W
o
rk
in
g
 G

ro
u
p
 s
ti
ll 
to
 b
e
 e
s
ta
b
lis
h
e
d
 

 O
v
e
ra
rc
h
in
g
 S
tr
a
te
g
y 
re
q
u
ir
e
d
 

      A
 r
a
n
g
e
 o
f 
‘L
is
te
n
in
g
 E
v
e
n
ts
’ 
a
re
 

p
la
n
n
e
d
 o
v
e
r 
th
e
 n
e
x
t 
1
2
 m

o
n
th
s
 

ta
rg
e
te
d
 a
t 
s
e
rv
ic
e
 u
s
e
rs
 a
n
d
 c
a
re
rs
 

w
it
h
 i
n
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 &
 f
e
e
d
b
a
c
k
 f
e
d
 i
n
to
 

th
e
 C
lin
ic
a
l 
R
e
fe
re
n
c
e
 G

ro
u
p
 

 F
ir
s
t 
L
is
te
n
in
g
 D
a
y
 e
v
e
n
t 
o
n
 t
h
e
 4
th
 

D
e
c
 2
0
0
9
 a
t 
th
e
 K
in
d
le
 C
e
n
tr
e
 1
0
 –
 

3
.3
0
p
m
 (
to
p
ic
s
 b
a
s
e
d
 a
ro
u
n
d
 t
h
e
 

N
D
S
 O
b
je
c
ti
v
e
s
) 
 

 M
e
n
ta
l 
H
e
a
lt
h
 P
ro
m
o
ti
o
n
 T
ra
in
in
g
  

1
. 

E
-s
o
u
rc
e
 (
o
n
-l
in
e
 t
ra
in
in
g
 

fa
c
ili
ty
) 
p
u
rc
h
a
s
e
d
 

2
. 

P
ro
fe
s
s
o
r 
D
a
w
n
 B
ro
o
k
e
r 

(W
o
rc
e
s
te
r 
U
n
iv
e
rs
it
y
) 

c
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
e
d
 t
o
 p
ro
v
id
e
 

tr
a
in
in
g
 o
n
 r
e
s
e
a
rc
h
 b
a
s
e
d
 

M
e
n
ta
l 
H
e
a
lt
h
 p
ro
m
o
ti
o
n
 –
 t
h
is
 

w
ill
 f
o
rm

 b
a
s
is
 o
f 
n
e
w
 t
ra
in
in
g
 

p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 a
n
d
 c
o
n
fe
re
n
c
e
 

n
e
x
t 
ye

a
r 
(d
a
te
s
 t
b
c
) 

 N
o
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 

L
e
a
d
 

 (r
e
q
u
ir
e
s
 S
u
b
 

G
ro
u
p
 w

it
h
 

L
e
a
d
) 

     M
a
ry
 A
n
n
 

T
h
o
m
a
s
 (
S
e
rv
ic
e
 

U
s
e
r 

In
v
o
lv
e
m
e
n
t 
re
p
) 

  M
a
ry
 A
n
n
 

T
h
o
m
a
s
 

   C
h
e
ry
l 
P
o
o
le
 /
 

C
a
ro
lin
e
 

A
le
x
a
n
d
e
r 

 

69



  

 

 
W
o
rk
in
g
 t
o
g
e
th
e
r 
fo
r 
th
e
 p
e
o
p
le
 o
f 
H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

D
e
m
e
n
ti
a
 C
a
re
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
  

 T
h
e
m
e
 2
 –
 G
o
o
d
 Q
u
a
li
ty
 E
a
rl
y
 D
ia
g
n
o
s
is
 a
n
d
 I
n
te
rv
e
n
ti
o
n
 f
o
r 
A
ll
 (
* 
P
ri
o
ri
ty
 T
h
e
m
e
) 

  D
a
te
 

N
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
M
il
e
s
to
n
e
s
  

H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 M
il
e
s
to
n
e
s
  

U
p
d
a
te
 N
o
v
e
m
b
e
r 
2
0
0
9
 

L
e
a
d
 

T
im
e
s
c
a
le
  

 
 •
 

S
e
n
io
r 
P
ro
fe
s
s
io
n
a
l 

A
d
v
is
o
r 
in
 O

P
M
H
 t
o
 

c
o
n
v
e
n
e
 a
n
 e
x
p
e
rt
 

g
ro
u
p
 t
o
 i
n
fo
rm

 
c
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
e
rs
 a
n
d
 

p
ra
c
ti
ti
o
n
e
rs
 o
n
 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
g
o
o
d
 

q
u
a
lit
y
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 f
o
r 

e
a
rl
y
 d
ia
g
n
o
s
is
 a
n
d
 

in
te
rv
e
n
ti
o
n
 

 •
 

T
o
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 a
n
d
 

p
ro
m
o
te
 t
h
e
 q
u
a
lit
y
 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
s
c
h
e
m
e
 

fo
r 
m
e
m
o
ry
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

v
ia
 t
h
e
 R

o
y
a
l 
C
o
lle
g
e
 

o
f 
P
s
y
c
h
ia
tr
is
ts
 

 •
 

O
b
je
c
ti
v
e
 2
 W

o
rk
in
g
 G

ro
u
p
 t
o
 b
e
 

e
s
ta
b
lis
h
e
d
 

 •
 

E
v
a
lu
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 
c
u
rr
e
n
t 
D
ia
g
n
o
s
is
 

s
e
rv
ic
e
 t
o
 b
e
 u
n
d
e
rt
a
k
e
n
 

 •
 

M
o
d
e
ls
 a
n
d
 B
e
s
t 
P
ra
c
ti
c
e
 

      •
 

T
o
 e
v
a
lu
a
te
 l
o
c
a
l 
d
e
m
e
n
ti
a
 

s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 w
it
h
 r
e
fe
re
n
c
e
 t
o
 a
g
e
 

a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 

 •
 

W
o
rk
in
g
 G

ro
u
p
 e
s
ta
b
lis
h
e
d
 

  •
 

C
u
rr
e
n
t 
M
e
m
o
ry
 A
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 

s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 e
v
a
lu
a
te
d
 

 •
 

M
e
m
o
ry
 &
 C

o
g
n
it
iv
e
 

A
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
S
e
rv
ic
e
 C

a
re
 

P
a
th
w
a
y
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 

 •
 
P
ro
p
o
s
e
d
 E
n
h
a
n
c
e
d
 

M
e
m
o
ry
 S
e
rv
ic
e
 p
ro
d
u
c
e
d
 

 •
 
P
ro
p
o
s
e
d
 Y
o
u
n
g
 O
n
s
e
t 

D
e
m
e
n
ti
a
 S
e
rv
ic
e
 p
ro
d
u
c
e
d
 

to
 p
ro
v
id
e
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
d
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 t
o
 

m
e
e
t 
th
e
 d
if
fe
re
n
t 
n
e
e
d
s
 o
f 

y
o
u
n
g
e
r 
p
e
o
p
le
 w
it
h
 d
e
m
e
n
ti
a
 

e
n
a
b
lin
g
 e
a
rl
y
 d
e
te
c
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 

in
te
rv
e
n
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 p
re
v
e
n
ta
ti
v
e
 

s
tr
a
te
g
ie
s
 t
o
 r
e
d
u
c
e
 o
r 
d
e
la
y
 

th
e
 i
m
p
a
c
t 
o
f 
d
e
m
e
n
ti
a
 a
n
d
 

a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
ly
 p
la
n
 f
o
r 
fu
tu
re
  

 (a
w
a
it
in
g
 c
o
n
fi
rm

a
ti
o
n
 o
f 
fu
n
d
in
g
) 

 D
r 
R
ic
h
a
rd
 

E
g
g
a
r 

 

70



  

 

 
W
o
rk
in
g
 t
o
g
e
th
e
r 
fo
r 
th
e
 p
e
o
p
le
 o
f 
H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

D
e
m
e
n
ti
a
 C
a
re
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
  

 T
h
e
m
e
 3
 –
 G
o
o
d
 Q
u
a
li
ty
 I
n
fo
rm
a
ti
o
n
 f
o
r 
th
o
s
e
 w
it
h
 d
ia
g
n
o
s
e
d
 d
e
m
e
n
ti
a
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
ir
 c
a
re
rs
 

  D
a
te
 

N
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
M
il
e
s
to
n
e
s
  

H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 M
il
e
s
to
n
e
s
  

U
p
d
a
te
 N
o
v
e
m
b
e
r 
2
0
0
9
 

L
e
a
d
 

T
im
e
s
c
a
le
  

 
 •
 

In
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 S
ta
k
e
h
o
ld
e
r 

G
ro
u
p
 t
o
 b
e
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
e
d
 

(i
n
c
lu
d
in
g
 p
e
o
p
le
 w

it
h
 

d
e
m
e
n
ti
a
 a
n
d
 c
a
re
rs
) 

•
 

G
a
th
e
r 
e
v
id
e
n
c
e
 o
f 
th
e
 

in
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 n
e
e
d
s
 o
f 

p
e
o
p
le
 w

it
h
 d
e
m
e
n
ti
a
, 

c
a
re
rs
, 
fa
m
ily
 a
n
d
 p
u
b
lic
 

•
 

M
e
a
s
u
re
 e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
n
e
s
s
 o
f 

e
x
is
ti
n
g
 i
n
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 

(c
o
n
te
n
t 
a
n
d
 m

e
d
ia
) 

•
 

C
o
m
p
le
te
 r
e
v
ie
w
 o
f 

e
x
is
ti
n
g
 i
n
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 s
e
ts
 

•
 

S
u
b
m
it
 r
e
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
s
 

fo
r 
in
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 g
u
id
a
n
c
e
, 

to
o
ls
 a
n
d
 p
a
c
k
a
g
e
s
 a
t 

n
a
ti
o
n
a
l,
 r
e
g
io
n
a
l 
a
n
d
 

lo
c
a
l 
le
v
e
ls
 

 •
 

O
b
je
c
ti
v
e
 3
 W

o
rk
in
g
 G

ro
u
p
 t
o
 b
e
 

e
s
ta
b
lis
h
e
d
 

 •
 

Id
e
n
ti
fi
c
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 
c
u
rr
e
n
t 
In
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 

s
e
ts
 t
o
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 u
s
e
r 
/ 
c
a
re
rs
 /
 

p
ro
fe
s
s
io
n
a
ls
 

 •
 

W
o
rk
 w

it
h
 S
H
A
 l
e
a
d
 o
n
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
c
a
ti
o
n
 

o
f 
in
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 n
e
e
d
s
 o
f 
p
e
o
p
le
 w

it
h
 

d
e
m
e
n
ti
a
, 
c
a
re
rs
, 
fa
m
ily
 a
n
d
 p
u
b
lic
 

 •
 

R
e
v
ie
w
 c
u
rr
e
n
t 
in
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 w

o
rk
 

w
it
h
 S
H
A
 t
o
 t
a
k
e
 f
o
rw

a
rd
 f
u
tu
re
 

re
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
s
  

 •
 

T
h
e
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 d
is
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n
 o
f 

g
o
o
d
-q
u
a
lit
y 
in
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 s
e
ts
 o
n
 

d
e
m
e
n
ti
a
 a
n
d
 r
e
la
te
d
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

re
le
v
a
n
t 
o
n
 d
ia
g
n
o
s
is
 a
n
d
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
o
u
t 

th
e
 c
o
u
rs
e
 o
f 
c
a
re
 

 •
 

W
o
rk
in
g
 G

ro
u
p
 s
ti
ll 
to
 b
e
 

e
s
ta
b
lis
h
e
d
 

 •
 

L
im

it
e
d
 e
v
id
e
n
c
e
 o
f 
e
x
is
ti
n
g
 

in
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 a
n
a
ly
s
is
  

 N
o
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 

L
e
a
d
 

 

  

71



  

 

 
W
o
rk
in
g
 t
o
g
e
th
e
r 
fo
r 
th
e
 p
e
o
p
le
 o
f 
H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

D
e
m
e
n
ti
a
 C
a
re
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
  

 T
h
e
m
e
 4
 –
 E
n
a
b
li
n
g
 E
a
s
y
 A
c
c
e
s
s
 t
o
 C
a
re
, 
S
u
p
p
o
rt
 a
n
d
 A
d
v
ic
e
 F
o
ll
o
w
in
g
 D
ia
g
n
o
s
is
 

 D
a
te
 

N
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
M
il
e
s
to
n
e
s
  

H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 M
il
e
s
to
n
e
s
  

U
p
d
a
te
 N
o
v
e
m
b
e
r 
2
0
0
9
 

L
e
a
d
 

T
im
e
s
c
a
le
  

 
•
 

D
e
m
e
n
ti
a
 A
d
v
is
o
rs
 

D
e
m
o
n
s
tr
a
to
r 
S
it
e
s
 

•
 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
 P
ro
s
p
e
c
tu
s
 a
n
d
 

F
A
Q
s
 o
n
 d
e
m
o
n
s
tr
a
to
r 
s
it
e
s
 

•
 

H
o
ld
 b
ri
e
fi
n
g
 s
e
s
s
io
n
s
 

•
 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
 p
ro
c
e
s
s
 f
o
r 
in
v
it
in
g
 

b
id
s
 i
n
c
lu
d
in
g
 t
im

e
lin
e
s
, 

s
e
le
c
ti
o
n
 c
ri
te
ri
a
 a
n
d
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 

•
 

A
n
n
o
u
n
c
e
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
s
u
c
c
e
s
s
fu
l 

s
it
e
s
 

•
 

R
e
g
io
n
a
l 
s
u
p
p
o
rt
 f
o
r 

d
e
m
o
n
s
tr
a
to
r 
s
it
e
s
 

•
 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
d
e
m
o
n
s
tr
a
to
r 

s
it
e
 l
e
a
rn
in
g
 n
e
tw

o
rk
 a
n
d
 

fo
ru
m
 i
n
 c
o
lla
b
o
ra
ti
o
n
 w

it
h
 

re
g
io
n
a
l 
d
e
m
e
n
ti
a
 l
e
a
d
s
 

•
 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
 w

e
b
 b
a
s
e
d
 

re
s
o
u
rc
e
s
 

•
 

A
rr
a
n
g
e
 a
n
d
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 n
a
ti
o
n
a
l 

e
v
a
lu
a
ti
o
n
 

•
 

D
is
s
e
m
in
a
te
 l
e
a
rn
in
g
 f
ro
m
 

s
it
e
s
 n
a
ti
o
n
a
lly
 a
n
d
 a
c
ro
s
s
 

re
g
io
n
s
 

•
 

E
v
a
lu
a
ti
o
n
 R
e
p
o
rt
 

 •
 

O
b
je
c
ti
v
e
 4
 W

o
rk
in
g
 G

ro
u
p
 t
o
 b
e
 

e
s
ta
b
lis
h
e
d
 

 •
 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
D
e
m
e
n
ti
a
 

A
d
v
is
o
r 
(N

a
v
ig
a
to
r)
 r
o
le
 i
n
 l
in
e
 

w
it
h
 N
D
S
 g
u
id
a
n
c
e
 

 •
 

F
e
e
d
 i
n
to
 D
e
m
o
n
s
tr
a
to
r 
s
it
e
 

le
a
rn
in
g
 n
e
tw

o
rk
s
 a
n
d
 

c
o
lla
b
o
ra
te
 w

it
h
 r
e
g
io
n
a
l 

d
e
m
e
n
ti
a
 l
e
a
d
s
 i
n
 o
rd
e
r 
to
 

u
n
d
e
rs
ta
n
d
 t
h
is
 l
e
a
rn
in
g
 t
o
 

e
n
h
a
n
c
e
 l
o
c
a
l 
D
e
m
e
n
ti
a
 A
d
v
is
o
r 

P
ro
je
c
t 
P
la
n
  

 •
 

W
o
rk
in
g
 G

ro
u
p
 e
s
ta
b
lis
h
e
d
 

 •
 
C
o
m
p
re
h
e
n
s
iv
e
 D
e
m
e
n
ti
a
 

A
d
v
is
o
r 
p
la
n
 e
s
ta
b
li
s
h
e
d
 f
ro
m
 

th
e
 d
e
m
o
n
s
tr
a
to
r 
s
it
e
 

a
p
p
li
c
a
ti
o
n
 b
id
 

 S
a
ra
h
 B
e
n
n
io
n
 

 

72



  

 

 
W
o
rk
in
g
 t
o
g
e
th
e
r 
fo
r 
th
e
 p
e
o
p
le
 o
f 
H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

D
e
m
e
n
ti
a
 C
a
re
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
  

 T
h
e
m
e
 5
 –
 D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
S
tr
u
c
tu
re
d
 P
e
e
r 
S
u
p
p
o
rt
 a
n
d
 L
e
a
rn
in
g
 N
e
tw
o
rk
s
 

 D
a
te
 

N
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
M
il
e
s
to
n
e
s
  

H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 M
il
e
s
to
n
e
s
  

U
p
d
a
te
 N
o
v
e
m
b
e
r 
2
0
0
9
 

L
e
a
d
 

T
im
e
s
c
a
le
  

 
•
 

P
e
e
r 
S
u
p
p
o
rt
 D
e
m
o
n
s
tr
a
to
r 

S
it
e
s
 

•
 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
 P
ro
s
p
e
c
tu
s
 a
n
d
 

F
A
Q
s
 o
n
 d
e
m
o
n
s
tr
a
to
r 
s
it
e
s
 

•
 

H
o
ld
 b
ri
e
fi
n
g
 s
e
s
s
io
n
s
 

•
 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
 p
ro
c
e
s
s
 f
o
r 
in
v
it
in
g
 

b
id
s
 i
n
c
lu
d
in
g
 t
im

e
lin
e
s
, 

s
e
le
c
ti
o
n
 c
ri
te
ri
a
 a
n
d
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 

•
 

A
n
n
o
u
n
c
e
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
s
u
c
c
e
s
s
fu
l 

s
it
e
s
 

•
 

R
e
g
io
n
a
l 
s
u
p
p
o
rt
 f
o
r 

d
e
m
o
n
s
tr
a
to
r 
s
it
e
s
 

•
 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
d
e
m
o
n
s
tr
a
to
r 

s
it
e
 l
e
a
rn
in
g
 n
e
tw

o
rk
 a
n
d
 

fo
ru
m
 i
n
 c
o
lla
b
o
ra
ti
o
n
 w

it
h
 

re
g
io
n
a
l 
d
e
m
e
n
ti
a
 l
e
a
d
s
 

•
 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
 w

e
b
 b
a
s
e
d
 

re
s
o
u
rc
e
s
 

•
 

A
rr
a
n
g
e
 a
n
d
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 n
a
ti
o
n
a
l 

e
v
a
lu
a
ti
o
n
 

•
 

D
is
s
e
m
in
a
te
 l
e
a
rn
in
g
 f
ro
m
 

s
it
e
s
 n
a
ti
o
n
a
lly
 a
n
d
 a
c
ro
s
s
 

re
g
io
n
s
 

•
 

E
v
a
lu
a
ti
o
n
 R
e
p
o
rt
 

 •
 

O
b
je
c
ti
v
e
 5
 W

o
rk
in
g
 G

ro
u
p
 t
o
 b
e
 

e
s
ta
b
lis
h
e
d
 

 •
 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
P
e
e
r 
S
u
p
p
o
rt
 

a
n
d
 L
e
a
rn
in
g
 N
e
tw

o
rk
s
 i
n
 l
in
e
 

w
it
h
 N
D
S
 g
u
id
a
n
c
e
 

 •
 

F
e
e
d
 i
n
to
 D
e
m
o
n
s
tr
a
to
r 
s
it
e
 

le
a
rn
in
g
 n
e
tw

o
rk
s
 a
n
d
 

c
o
lla
b
o
ra
te
 w

it
h
 r
e
g
io
n
a
l 

d
e
m
e
n
ti
a
 l
e
a
d
s
 i
n
 o
rd
e
r 
to
 

u
n
d
e
rs
ta
n
d
 t
h
is
 l
e
a
rn
in
g
 t
o
 

e
n
h
a
n
c
e
 l
o
c
a
l 
P
e
e
r 
S
u
p
p
o
rt
 &
 

L
e
a
rn
in
g
 N
e
tw

o
rk
 P
ro
je
c
t 
P
la
n
 

 •
 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
lo
c
a
l 
p
e
e
r 

s
u
p
p
o
rt
 a
n
d
 l
e
a
rn
in
g
 n
e
tw

o
rk
s
 

th
a
t 
p
ro
v
id
e
s
 p
ra
c
ti
c
a
l 
a
n
d
 

e
m
o
ti
o
n
a
l 
s
u
p
p
o
rt
, 
re
d
u
c
e
 s
o
c
ia
l 

is
o
la
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 p
ro
m
o
te
 s
e
lf
-c
a
re
 

w
h
ils
t 
p
ro
v
id
in
g
 i
n
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 

a
b
o
u
t 
lo
c
a
l 
n
e
e
d
 t
o
 i
n
fo
rm

 
c
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
 d
e
c
is
io
n
s
 

 •
 

W
o
rk
in
g
 G

ro
u
p
 e
s
ta
b
lis
h
e
d
 

 •
 

S
o
m
e
 P
e
e
r 
S
u
p
p
o
rt
 n
e
tw

o
rk
s
 

a
lr
e
a
d
y
 e
s
ta
b
lis
h
e
d
 (
A
l’s
 C
a
fé
 

m
o
n
th
ly
 m

e
e
ti
n
g
 a
t 
R
iv
e
rs
id
e
 

R
e
s
o
u
rc
e
 C
e
n
tr
e
, 
H
e
re
fo
rd
 &
 

S
o
u
th
 H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 G

ro
u
p
 

re
c
e
n
tl
y
 e
s
ta
b
lis
h
e
d
 i
n
 

p
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 w

it
h
 A
lz
h
e
im

e
r’
s
 

S
o
c
ie
ty
) 

 •
 

E
x
p
e
rt
 C
a
re
rs
 p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 

e
s
ta
b
lis
h
e
d
 

 K
u
m
b
i 

M
a
n
d
in
y
e
n
y
a
 

 

73



  

 

 
W
o
rk
in
g
 t
o
g
e
th
e
r 
fo
r 
th
e
 p
e
o
p
le
 o
f 
H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

D
e
m
e
n
ti
a
 C
a
re
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
  

 T
h
e
m
e
 6
 –
 I
m
p
ro
v
e
d
 C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 P
e
rs
o
n
a
l 
S
u
p
p
o
rt
 S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

 D
a
te
 

N
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
M
il
e
s
to
n
e
s
  

H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 M
il
e
s
to
n
e
s
  

U
p
d
a
te
 N
o
v
e
m
b
e
r 
2
0
0
9
 

L
e
a
d
 

T
im
e
s
c
a
le
  

 
•
 

S
ta
k
e
h
o
ld
e
r 
s
e
m
in
a
r 
to
 

fo
c
u
s
 o
n
 w

h
a
t’
s
 n
e
e
d
e
d
 

to
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 a
c
c
e
le
ra
te
d
 

im
p
le
m
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
 o
f 

c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 p
e
rs
o
n
a
l 

s
u
p
p
o
rt
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

•
 

Id
e
n
ti
fy
 a
u
th
o
ri
ti
e
s
 

le
a
d
in
g
 o
n
 I
n
d
iv
id
u
a
l 

B
u
d
g
e
ts
 –
 e
x
tr
a
c
t 

le
a
rn
in
g
 a
n
d
 d
is
s
e
m
in
a
te
 

•
 

E
s
ta
b
lis
h
 e
v
id
e
n
c
e
 b
a
s
e
 

fo
r 
d
if
fe
re
n
t 
in
te
rv
e
n
ti
o
n
s
 

to
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 

p
e
rs
o
n
a
l 
s
u
p
p
o
rt
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

•
 

E
x
p
lo
re
 i
n
te
rf
a
c
e
 w

it
h
 

c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 h
e
a
lt
h
 

s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 (
s
u
c
h
 a
s
 

d
e
m
e
n
ti
a
 l
ia
is
o
n
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
) 

to
 i
d
e
n
ti
fy
 c
ri
ti
c
a
l 

d
e
p
e
n
d
e
n
c
ie
s
 b
e
tw

e
e
n
 

h
e
a
lt
h
 a
n
d
 c
a
re
 p
ro
v
is
io
n
 

•
 

Id
e
n
ti
fy
 k
e
y 
in
te
rf
a
c
e
 

a
c
ti
v
it
ie
s
 t
h
a
t 
d
e
liv
e
r 

e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
 o
u
tc
o
m
e
s
 f
o
r 

p
e
o
p
le
 w

it
h
 d
e
m
e
n
ti
a
 a
n
d
 

th
e
ir
 c
a
re
rs
 

•
 

S
u
p
p
o
rt
 c
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
 

a
n
d
 p
ro
v
id
e
r 
a
g
e
n
c
ie
s
 t
o
 

a
c
c
e
le
ra
te
 p
e
rs
o
n
a
lis
e
d
 

c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 p
e
rs
o
n
a
l 

s
u
p
p
o
rt
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

 •
 

O
b
je
c
ti
v
e
 6
 W

o
rk
in
g
 G

ro
u
p
 t
o
 b
e
 

e
s
ta
b
lis
h
e
d
 

 •
 

A
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
lo
c
a
l 
c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y 

s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 t
o
 e
v
a
lu
a
te
 i
f 
th
e
y
 

a
d
e
q
u
a
te
ly
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 p
e
o
p
le
 w

it
h
 

d
e
m
e
n
ti
a
 l
iv
in
g
 a
t 
h
o
m
e
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
ir
 

c
a
re
rs
 

 •
 

Id
e
n
ti
fi
c
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 
fl
e
x
ib
le
 a
n
d
 r
e
lia
b
le
 

s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 (
ra
n
g
in
g
 f
ro
m
 e
a
rl
y 

in
te
rv
e
n
ti
o
n
 t
o
 s
p
e
c
ia
lis
t 
h
o
m
e
 c
a
re
) 

w
h
ic
h
 a
re
 r
e
s
p
o
n
s
iv
e
 t
o
 t
h
e
 p
e
rs
o
n
a
l 

n
e
e
d
s
 a
n
d
 p
re
fe
re
n
c
e
s
 o
f 
e
a
c
h
 

in
d
iv
id
u
a
l 
a
n
d
 t
a
k
e
 a
c
c
o
u
n
t 
o
f 
th
e
ir
 

b
ro
a
d
e
r 
c
ir
c
u
m
s
ta
n
c
e
s
 (
in
c
lu
d
in
g
 

a
g
e
 a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
) 

 •
 

A
c
c
e
s
s
ib
le
 t
o
 p
e
o
p
le
 l
iv
in
g
 o
n
 t
h
e
ir
 

o
w
n
 o
r 
w
it
h
 c
a
re
rs
, 
p
e
o
p
le
 w

h
o
 p
a
y 

fo
r 
th
e
ir
 c
a
re
 p
ri
v
a
te
ly
, 
th
ro
u
g
h
 

p
e
rs
o
n
a
l 
b
u
d
g
e
ts
, 
o
r 
lo
c
a
l 
a
u
th
o
ri
ty
 

a
rr
a
n
g
e
d
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

 •
 

L
in
k
 w

it
h
 t
h
e
 p
e
rs
o
n
a
lis
a
ti
o
n
 l
e
a
d
 f
o
r 

h
e
a
lt
h
 &
 s
o
c
ia
l 
c
a
re
 

  

 •
 

W
o
rk
in
g
 G

ro
u
p
 s
ti
ll 
to
 b
e
 

e
s
ta
b
lis
h
e
d
 

 P
ro
p
o
s
e
d
 Y
o
u
n
g
 O
n
s
e
t 
D
e
m
e
n
ti
a
 

S
e
rv
ic
e
 p
ro
d
u
c
e
d
 t
o
 p
ro
v
id
e
 

im
p
ro
v
e
d
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 t
o
 m

e
e
t 
th
e
 

d
if
fe
re
n
t 
n
e
e
d
s
 o
f 
yo

u
n
g
e
r 
p
e
o
p
le
 

w
it
h
 d
e
m
e
n
ti
a
 e
n
a
b
lin
g
 e
a
rl
y
 

d
e
te
c
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 i
n
te
rv
e
n
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 

p
re
v
e
n
ta
ti
v
e
 s
tr
a
te
g
ie
s
 t
o
 r
e
d
u
c
e
 o
r 

d
e
la
y
 t
h
e
 i
m
p
a
c
t 
o
f 
d
e
m
e
n
ti
a
 a
n
d
 

a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
ly
 p
la
n
 f
o
r 
fu
tu
re
 (
a
w
a
it
in
g
 

c
o
n
fi
rm

a
ti
o
n
 o
f 
fu
n
d
in
g
) 

 •
 

P
e
rs
o
n
a
lis
a
ti
o
n
 &
 I
n
d
iv
id
u
a
l 

B
u
d
g
e
ts
 T
ra
in
in
g
 

-O
v
e
r 
4
0
 s
ta
ff
 a
tt
e
n
d
e
d
 a
 t
w
o
 d
a
y
 

tr
a
in
in
g
 e
v
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 c
a
n
 c
le
a
rl
y
 

a
rt
ic
u
la
te
 t
o
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 u
s
e
rs
 a
n
d
 

c
a
re
rs
 t
h
e
 p
o
te
n
ti
a
l 
im

p
a
c
t 
o
f 

p
e
rs
o
n
a
lis
a
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 I
B
s
 

s
p
e
c
if
ic
a
lly
 i
n
 r
e
la
ti
o
n
 t
o
 o
ld
e
r 

p
e
o
p
le
 w

it
h
 d
e
m
e
n
ti
a
. 
T
h
is
 h
a
s
 

in
c
re
a
s
e
d
 c
o
n
fi
d
e
n
c
e
 a
n
d
 

e
n
a
b
le
d
 s
ta
ff
 t
o
 s
u
c
c
e
s
s
fu
lly
 

im
p
le
m
e
n
t 
IB
s
 w

it
h
 i
n
d
iv
id
u
a
ls
 

w
it
h
 d
e
m
e
n
ti
a
 i
n
c
lu
d
in
g
 P
C
T
 

fu
n
d
e
d
 I
B
s
. 

 N
o
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 

le
a
d
 

 

74



  

 

 
W
o
rk
in
g
 t
o
g
e
th
e
r 
fo
r 
th
e
 p
e
o
p
le
 o
f 
H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

D
e
m
e
n
ti
a
 C
a
re
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
  

T
h
e
m
e
 7
 –
 I
m
p
le
m
e
n
ti
n
g
 t
h
e
 C
a
re
rs
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
 (
*P
ri
o
ri
ty
 T
h
e
m
e
) 

 D
a
te
 

N
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
M
il
e
s
to
n
e
s
  

H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 M
il
e
s
to
n
e
s
  

U
p
d
a
te
 N
o
v
e
m
b
e
r 
2
0
0
9
 

L
e
a
d
 

T
im
e
s
c
a
le
  

 
 •
 

W
o
rk
 w

it
h
 C
a
re
rs
 

S
tr
a
te
g
y
 l
e
a
d
s
 t
o
 e
n
s
u
re
 

n
e
e
d
s
 o
f 
c
a
re
rs
 o
f 
p
e
o
p
le
 

w
it
h
 d
e
m
e
n
ti
a
 a
re
 

in
c
lu
d
e
d
 i
n
 t
h
e
ir
 

p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 

 •
 

O
b
je
c
ti
v
e
 7
 W

o
rk
in
g
 G

ro
u
p
 t
o
 b
e
 

e
s
ta
b
lis
h
e
d
  

 •
 

E
n
s
u
re
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
 n
e
e
d
s
 o
f 
c
a
re
rs
 f
o
r 

p
e
o
p
le
 w

it
h
 d
e
m
e
n
ti
a
 a
re
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
d
 a
s
 

th
e
 c
a
re
rs
 s
tr
a
te
g
y 
is
 i
m
p
le
m
e
n
te
d
 

 •
 

S
u
p
p
o
rt
 t
h
e
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
c
a
re
r 

in
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 e
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
 b
a
s
e
d
 

u
p
o
n
 p
e
rs
o
n
 c
e
n
tr
e
d
 a
p
p
ro
a
c
h
e
s
 

 •
 

P
ro
m
o
te
 t
h
e
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
b
re
a
k
s
 

th
a
t 
b
e
n
e
fi
t 
b
o
th
 p
e
o
p
le
 w
it
h
 

d
e
m
e
n
ti
a
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
ir
 c
a
re
rs
 

 

 •
 

W
o
rk
in
g
 G

ro
u
p
 e
s
ta
b
lis
h
e
d
 

 •
 

C
a
re
r 
E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
 g
ro
u
p
s
 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
e
d
 v
ia
 t
h
e
 E
x
p
e
rt
 C
a
re
rs
 

p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 

 S
a
ra
h
 B
e
n
n
io
n
 

 

 

75



  

 

 
W
o
rk
in
g
 t
o
g
e
th
e
r 
fo
r 
th
e
 p
e
o
p
le
 o
f 
H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

D
e
m
e
n
ti
a
 C
a
re
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
  

 T
h
e
m
e
 8
 –
 I
m
p
ro
v
e
d
 Q
u
a
li
ty
 o
f 
C
a
re
 i
n
 G
e
n
e
ra
l 
H
o
s
p
it
a
ls
 (
* 
P
ri
o
ri
ty
 T
h
e
m
e
) 

 D
a
te
 

N
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
M
il
e
s
to
n
e
s
  

H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 M
il
e
s
to
n
e
s
  

U
p
d
a
te
 N
o
v
e
m
b
e
r 
2
0
0
9
 

L
e
a
d
 

T
im
e
s
c
a
le
  

 
 •
 

F
o
rm

a
ti
o
n
 o
f 
‘T
a
s
k
 a
n
d
 F
in
is
h
 

G
ro
u
p
’ 
to
 i
n
c
l.
 k
e
y
 c
lin
ic
ia
n
s
, 

s
ta
k
e
h
o
ld
e
rs
. 
G
ro
u
p
 t
o
 

id
e
n
ti
fy
 h
o
w
 t
o
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
, 

c
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
, 
p
u
b
lic
is
e
 a
n
d
 

p
ro
m
o
te
 t
h
e
 m

o
s
t 
e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
 

w
a
y
s
 t
o
 d
e
liv
e
r 
c
h
a
n
g
e
 

 •
 

M
a
p
 g
o
o
d
 p
ra
c
ti
c
e
 e
x
a
m
p
le
s
 

 •
 

C
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
 o
f 
c
o
d
in
g
 

p
ro
je
c
t 
to
 e
s
ta
b
lis
h
 e
v
id
e
n
c
e
 

o
f 
a
d
m
is
s
io
n
s
 o
f 
p
e
o
p
le
 t
o
 

g
e
n
e
ra
l 
h
o
s
p
it
a
l 

 •
 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
 t
o
o
lk
it
 f
o
r 
p
ra
c
ti
c
e
 

 •
 

R
e
g
io
n
a
l 
w
o
rk
s
h
o
p
s
  

 •
 

O
b
je
c
ti
v
e
 8
 W

o
rk
in
g
 G

ro
u
p
 t
o
 b
e
 

e
s
ta
b
lis
h
e
d
 

 •
 

Id
e
n
ti
fi
c
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 
s
e
n
io
r 
c
lin
ic
ia
n
 

w
it
h
in
 t
h
e
 g
e
n
e
ra
l 
h
o
s
p
it
a
l 
to
 

ta
k
e
 t
h
e
 l
e
a
d
 f
o
r 
q
u
a
lit
y
 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
in
 d
e
m
e
n
ti
a
 i
n
 

h
o
s
p
it
a
l 
s
e
tt
in
g
s
 

 •
 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
a
n
 e
x
p
lic
it
 

p
a
th
w
a
y
 f
o
r 
th
e
 m

a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 

a
n
d
 c
a
re
 o
f 
p
e
o
p
le
 w

it
h
 d
e
m
e
n
ti
a
 

in
 h
o
s
p
it
a
l 

 •
 

T
h
e
 g
a
th
e
ri
n
g
 a
n
d
 s
y
n
th
e
s
is
 o
f 

e
x
is
ti
n
g
 d
a
ta
 o
n
 t
h
e
 n
a
tu
re
 a
n
d
 

im
p
a
c
ts
 o
f 
s
p
e
c
ia
lis
t 
lia
is
o
n
 o
ld
e
r 

p
e
o
p
le
’s
 m

e
n
ta
l 
h
e
a
lt
h
 t
e
a
m
s
 

w
o
rk
in
g
 i
n
 g
e
n
e
ra
l 
h
o
s
p
it
a
ls
 

 •
 

C
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
 o
f 
a
 s
p
e
c
ia
lis
t 

lia
is
o
n
 o
ld
e
r 
p
e
o
p
le
 m

e
n
ta
l 

h
e
a
lt
h
 t
e
a
m
 t
o
 w

o
rk
 i
n
 g
e
n
e
ra
l 

h
o
s
p
it
a
ls
 

 •
 

T
ra
in
in
g
 P
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 t
o
 b
e
 

e
s
ta
b
lis
h
e
d
 t
o
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
 t
h
e
 

a
w
a
re
n
e
s
s
 o
f 
d
e
m
e
n
ti
a
 a
n
d
 

p
e
rs
o
n
 c
e
n
tr
e
d
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 i
n
 

h
o
s
p
it
a
l 
s
e
tt
in
g
s
 

 •
 

W
o
rk
in
g
 G

ro
u
p
 e
s
ta
b
lis
h
e
d
 (
D
r 

K
it
 B
y
a
tt
 l
e
a
d
) 

 •
 

S
e
n
io
r 
C
lin
ic
ia
n
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 (
D
r 
K
it
 

B
y
a
tt
) 

 •
 

C
a
s
e
 N
o
te
 A
u
d
it
 e
s
ta
b
lis
h
e
d
 

 •
 

H
o
s
p
it
a
l 
in
tr
a
n
e
t 
s
it
e
 e
s
ta
b
lis
h
e
d
 

    •
 
C
o
m
p
re
h
e
n
s
iv
e
 B
u
s
in
e
s
s
 C
a
s
e
 

fo
r 
th
e
 D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
a
 

P
s
y
c
h
ia
tr
ic
 L
ia
is
o
n
 H
o
s
p
it
a
l 

S
e
rv
ic
e
 p
ro
d
u
c
e
d
 

        •
 

T
ra
in
in
g
 P
la
n
 c
u
rr
e
n
tl
y
 b
e
in
g
 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
e
d
 w

it
h
 t
ra
in
in
g
 d
a
te
s
 f
o
r 

h
o
s
p
it
a
l 
s
ta
ff
 f
ro
m
 J
a
n
 –
 J
u
n
 

2
0
1
0
 

 D
r 
K
it
 B
y
a
tt
 

                         C
h
e
ry
l 
P
o
o
le
 /
 

C
a
ro
lin
e
 

A
le
x
a
n
d
e
r 

 

76



  

 

 
W
o
rk
in
g
 t
o
g
e
th
e
r 
fo
r 
th
e
 p
e
o
p
le
 o
f 
H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

D
e
m
e
n
ti
a
 C
a
re
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
  

  T
h
e
m
e
 9
 –
 I
m
p
ro
v
e
d
 I
n
te
rm
e
d
ia
te
 C
a
re
 

 D
a
te
 

N
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
M
il
e
s
to
n
e
s
  

H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 M
il
e
s
to
n
e
s
  

U
p
d
a
te
 N
o
v
e
m
b
e
r 
2
0
0
9
 

L
e
a
d
 

T
im
e
s
c
a
le
  

 
 •
 

In
te
rm

e
d
ia
te
 C
a
re
 r
e
v
ie
w
 

o
f 
2
0
0
1
 D
H
 g
u
id
a
n
c
e
 t
o
 

in
c
lu
d
e
 d
e
m
e
n
ti
a
 

 •
 

Is
s
u
e
 f
o
r 
p
e
o
p
le
 w

it
h
 

d
e
m
e
n
ti
a
 w

ill
 b
e
 

h
ig
h
lig
h
te
d
 a
t 
th
e
 

In
te
rm

e
d
ia
te
 C
a
re
 l
a
u
n
c
h
 

a
n
d
 i
n
 o
n
-g
o
in
g
 p
u
b
lic
it
y
 

 •
 

O
b
je
c
ti
v
e
 9
 W

o
rk
in
g
 G

ro
u
p
 t
o
 b
e
 

e
s
ta
b
lis
h
e
d
 

 •
 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
In
te
rm

e
d
ia
te
 C
a
re
 

s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 t
h
a
t 
a
re
 a
c
c
e
s
s
ib
le
 t
o
 

p
e
o
p
le
 w

it
h
 d
e
m
e
n
ti
a
 a
n
d
 w

h
ic
h
 

m
e
e
ts
 t
h
e
ir
 n
e
e
d
s
 

              •
 

E
x
p
lo
ra
ti
o
n
 o
f 
in
te
g
ra
ti
o
n
 i
n
to
 t
h
e
 

w
id
e
r 
C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 I
n
te
rm

e
d
ia
te
 C
a
re
 

s
tr
u
c
tu
re
 

     

 •
 

W
o
rk
in
g
 G

ro
u
p
 e
s
ta
b
lis
h
e
d
 

(J
o
d
ie
 T
h
o
m
a
s
 l
e
a
d
) 

 •
 
C
o
m
p
re
h
e
n
s
iv
e
 S
p
e
c
ia
li
s
t 

In
te
rm
e
d
ia
te
 C
a
re
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 

e
s
ta
b
li
s
h
e
d
 i
n
 p
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 w
it
h
 

C
a
re
 A
g
e
n
c
y
 –
 c
o
u
n
ty
w
id
e
 

th
e
ra
p
y
 b
a
s
e
d
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 u
ti
li
s
in
g
 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
ts
 i
n
 n
e
w
 

te
c
h
n
o
lo
g
y
 w
it
h
 i
n
te
g
ra
ti
o
n
 o
f 

p
e
rs
o
n
 c
e
n
tr
e
d
 t
ra
in
in
g
 a
n
d
 

a
p
p
ro
a
c
h
 

 •
 
R
e
-T
e
n
d
e
ri
n
g
 e
x
e
rc
is
e
 

re
q
u
ir
e
d
 f
o
r 
a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
 c
a
re
 

p
ro
v
id
e
r 
p
a
rt
n
e
r 
b
a
s
e
d
 u
p
o
n
 

m
o
d
e
l 
d
e
v
e
lo
p
e
d
 i
n
 S
p
e
c
ia
li
s
t 

In
te
rm
e
d
ia
te
 C
a
re
 p
il
o
t 
–
 

a
w
a
it
in
g
 c
a
p
a
c
it
y
 

 •
 

P
h
a
s
e
 T
w
o
 o
f 
C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 

In
te
rm

e
d
ia
te
 C
a
re
 I
n
te
g
ra
ti
o
n
 

p
la
n
 

     •
 
C
o
m
p
re
h
e
n
s
iv
e
 e
v
a
lu
a
ti
o
n
 

 J
o
d
ie
 T
h
o
m
a
s
 

             S
a
ra
h
 B
e
n
n
io
n
 

/ 
C
o
n
tr
a
c
ts
 

T
e
a
m
 

   D
a
v
id
 R
o
b
e
rt
s
 /
 

S
a
ra
h
 B
e
n
n
io
n
 

       

 

77



  

 

 
W
o
rk
in
g
 t
o
g
e
th
e
r 
fo
r 
th
e
 p
e
o
p
le
 o
f 
H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

D
e
m
e
n
ti
a
 C
a
re
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
  

•
 

E
v
a
lu
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 
c
u
rr
e
n
t 
s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 a
n
d
 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
e
v
id
e
n
c
e
 b
a
s
e
 f
o
r 

S
p
e
c
ia
lis
t 
In
te
rm

e
d
ia
te
 C
a
re
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

        •
 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
 i
n
n
o
v
a
ti
v
e
 A
s
s
is
ti
v
e
 

T
e
c
h
n
o
lo
g
y
 a
p
p
ro
a
c
h
e
s
 t
o
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 

p
ro
v
is
io
n
 a
n
d
 e
v
a
lu
a
te
 a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
ly
 

(A
ls
o
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
d
 i
n
 O

b
je
c
ti
v
e
 1
0
) 

re
p
o
rt
 p
ro
d
u
c
e
d
 

 •
 

W
o
rk
in
g
 w

it
h
 T
e
le
h
e
a
lt
h
c
a
re
 

N
e
tw

o
rk
 J
IP
 a
n
d
 r
e
g
io
n
a
l 

p
a
rt
n
e
rs
 (
S
o
u
th
 S
ta
ff
s
) 
to
 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
 a
n
 e
v
id
e
n
c
e
 b
a
s
e
d
 s
tu
d
y
 

c
o
n
c
e
rn
in
g
 t
h
e
 b
e
n
e
fi
ts
 o
f 

s
p
e
c
ia
lis
t 
h
o
m
e
c
a
re
 r
e
-a
b
le
m
e
n
t 

s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 a
n
d
 A
s
s
is
ti
v
e
 

T
e
c
h
n
o
lo
g
ie
s
 

 •
 

A
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
T
e
c
h
n
o
lo
g
y 
p
ro
je
c
ts
 

c
u
rr
e
n
tl
y 
in
 p
ro
g
re
s
s
 o
r 
b
e
in
g
 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
e
d
 i
n
c
lu
d
in
g
: 

 
1
. 
S
a
fe
 W
a
lk
in
g
 T
e
c
h
n
o
lo
g
y
 

(G
P
S
 L
o
c
a
ti
o
n
 D
e
v
ic
e
s
) 
–
 

p
ilo
t 
s
ta
rt
e
d
 J
u
ly
 2
0
0
9
. 

2
. 
T
A
N
D
E
M
 p
ro
je
c
t 
–
 3
 y
e
a
r 

N
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
re
s
e
a
rc
h
 p
ro
je
c
t 
to
 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
 f
u
tu
re
 t
e
c
h
n
o
lo
g
ie
s
 

to
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 p
e
o
p
le
 a
ft
e
r 

d
ia
g
n
o
s
is
 a
n
d
 u
p
s
tr
e
a
m
 

in
te
rv
e
n
ti
o
n
s
 

3
. 
C
IR
C
A
 d
e
v
ic
e
s
 –
 t
o
u
c
h
 

s
c
re
e
n
 m

e
m
o
ry
 r
e
m
in
is
c
e
n
c
e
 

p
ro
d
u
c
ts
 t
o
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 

in
 c
a
re
 h
o
m
e
s
 a
n
d
 d
a
y 

o
p
p
o
rt
u
n
it
ie
s
 –
 c
u
rr
e
n
tl
y 

w
o
rk
in
g
 o
n
 b
u
s
in
e
s
s
 c
a
s
e
 f
o
r 

ta
rg
e
te
d
 p
ilo
t 

4
. 
P
iv
o
te
ll
 p
il
o
t  
–
 w

o
rk
in
g
 w

it
h
 

T
e
le
c
a
re
 T
e
a
m
 a
n
d
 R
e
g
io
n
a
l 

J
IP
 o
n
 a
 l
a
rg
e
 s
c
a
le
 p
ilo
t 
o
f 

a
n
 a
u
to
m
a
ti
c
 p
ill
 d
is
p
e
n
s
e
r 

 A
n
d
re
w
 M

o
rr
is
 

        A
 M

o
rr
is
 /
 J
 

T
h
o
m
a
s
 /
 H
 

S
p
e
n
c
e
r 

78



  

 

 
W
o
rk
in
g
 t
o
g
e
th
e
r 
fo
r 
th
e
 p
e
o
p
le
 o
f 
H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

D
e
m
e
n
ti
a
 C
a
re
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
  

 T
h
e
m
e
 1
0
 –
 C
o
n
s
id
e
ri
n
g
 t
h
e
 P
o
te
n
ti
a
l 
fo
r 
H
o
u
s
in
g
 S
u
p
p
o
rt
, 
H
o
u
s
in
g
 R
e
la
te
d
 S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 a
n
d
 T
e
le
c
a
re
  

 D
a
te
 

N
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
M
il
e
s
to
n
e
s
  

H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 M
il
e
s
to
n
e
s
  

U
p
d
a
te
 N
o
v
e
m
b
e
r 
2
0
0
9
 

L
e
a
d
 

T
im
e
s
c
a
le
  

 
 •
 

E
s
ta
b
lis
h
 l
in
k
s
 w

it
h
 k
e
y
 

s
ta
k
e
h
o
ld
e
rs
 n
a
ti
o
n
a
lly
 

a
n
d
 r
e
g
io
n
a
lly
, 
in
c
lu
d
in
g
 

lin
k
s
 w

it
h
 H
o
u
s
in
g
 a
n
d
 

D
e
m
e
n
ti
a
 R
e
s
e
a
rc
h
 

C
o
n
s
o
rt
iu
m
 

•
 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
 g
u
id
a
n
c
e
 a
n
d
 

tr
a
in
in
g
 m

a
te
ri
a
ls
 f
o
r 
s
ta
ff
 

w
o
rk
in
g
 i
n
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 a
n
d
 

h
o
u
s
in
g
-r
e
la
te
d
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

•
 

S
c
o
p
e
 c
u
rr
e
n
t 
m
o
d
e
ls
 o
f 

h
o
u
s
in
g
 a
n
d
 e
n
s
u
re
 

re
s
e
a
rc
h
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
s
 t
h
e
 

e
v
id
e
n
c
e
 b
a
s
e
 f
o
r 
fu
tu
re
 

n
e
e
d
s
 

•
 

M
a
k
e
 l
in
k
s
 w

it
h
 D
H
 

N
e
tw

o
rk
, 
a
n
d
 t
e
le
c
a
re
 

re
s
e
a
rc
h
e
rs
 

•
 

S
c
o
p
e
 c
u
rr
e
n
t 
u
s
e
 o
f 

te
le
c
a
re
 a
n
d
 e
n
s
u
re
 

re
s
e
a
rc
h
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
s
 

e
v
id
e
n
c
e
 b
a
s
e
 f
o
r 
fu
tu
re
 

c
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
 

 •
 

O
b
je
c
ti
v
e
 1
0
 w

o
rk
in
g
 G

ro
u
p
 t
o
 b
e
 

e
s
ta
b
lis
h
e
d
 

 •
 

M
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 t
h
e
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
o
f 

m
o
d
e
ls
 o
f 
h
o
u
s
in
g
 (
in
c
lu
d
in
g
 e
x
tr
a
 

c
a
re
 h
o
u
s
in
g
) 
to
 m

e
e
t 
th
e
 n
e
e
d
s
 o
f 

p
e
o
p
le
 w

it
h
 d
e
m
e
n
ti
a
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
ir
 

c
a
re
rs
 

 •
 

E
v
a
lu
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 
c
u
rr
e
n
t 
h
o
u
s
in
g
 

p
ro
v
is
io
n
 a
n
d
 c
a
re
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 s
tr
u
c
tu
re
s
 

(i
n
c
lu
d
in
g
 s
k
ill
s
 m

ix
 a
n
d
 

c
o
m
p
e
te
n
c
ie
s
) 

 •
 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
s
k
ill
s
 s
e
t 
fo
r 
s
ta
ff
 

w
o
rk
in
g
 i
n
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 a
n
d
 h
o
u
s
in
g
-

re
la
te
d
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 n
e
e
d
e
d
 t
o
 p
ro
v
id
e
 

b
e
s
t 
q
u
a
lit
y 
c
a
re
 a
n
d
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 f
o
r 

p
e
o
p
le
 w

it
h
 d
e
m
e
n
ti
a
 i
n
 t
h
e
 r
o
le
s
 

a
n
d
 s
e
tt
in
g
 w

h
e
re
 t
h
e
y 
w
o
rk
 

 •
 

E
x
p
lo
ra
ti
o
n
 o
f 
th
e
 e
v
id
e
n
c
e
 b
a
s
e
 o
n
 

a
s
s
is
ti
v
e
 t
e
c
h
n
o
lo
g
y 
a
n
d
 t
e
le
c
a
re
 t
o
 

s
u
p
p
o
rt
 t
h
e
 n
e
e
d
s
 o
f 
p
e
o
p
le
 w

it
h
 

d
e
m
e
n
ti
a
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
ir
 c
a
re
rs
 

 •
 

W
o
rk
in
g
 G

ro
u
p
 s
ti
ll 
to
 b
e
 

e
s
ta
b
lis
h
e
d
 

                    •
 

W
o
rk
 a
lr
e
a
d
y
 s
ta
rt
e
d
 t
o
 e
v
a
lu
a
te
 

a
n
d
 p
ilo
t 
a
 r
a
n
g
e
 o
f 
a
s
s
is
ti
v
e
 

te
c
h
n
o
lo
g
ie
s
 t
a
rg
e
te
d
 a
t 

d
e
m
e
n
ti
a
 (
s
e
e
 O

b
je
c
ti
v
e
 9
) 

 N
o
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 

le
a
d
 

                     A
n
d
re
w
 M

o
rr
is
 

 

79



  

 

 
W
o
rk
in
g
 t
o
g
e
th
e
r 
fo
r 
th
e
 p
e
o
p
le
 o
f 
H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

D
e
m
e
n
ti
a
 C
a
re
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
  

 T
h
e
m
e
 1
1
 –
  
L
iv
in
g
 W
e
ll
 w
it
h
 D
e
m
e
n
ti
a
 i
n
 C
a
re
 H
o
m
e
s
 (
* 
P
ri
o
ri
ty
 T
h
e
m
e
) 

 D
a
te
 

N
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
M
il
e
s
to
n
e
s
  

H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 M
il
e
s
to
n
e
s
  

U
p
d
a
te
 N
o
v
e
m
b
e
r 
2
0
0
9
 

L
e
a
d
 

T
im
e
s
c
a
le
  

 
 •
 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
 G

o
o
d
 P
ra
c
ti
c
e
 

re
s
o
u
rc
e
 p
a
c
k
 

 •
 

E
C
C
A
 t
o
 h
o
s
t 
e
v
e
n
t 
w
it
h
 

p
ro
v
id
e
rs
 t
o
 s
c
o
p
e
 d
e
ta
il 

o
f 
re
s
o
u
rc
e
 p
a
c
k
 a
n
d
 

id
e
n
ti
fy
 f
u
tu
re
 w

o
rk
 

s
tr
e
a
m
s
 

 •
 

O
b
je
c
ti
v
e
 1
1
 W

o
rk
in
g
 G

ro
u
p
 t
o
 b
e
 

e
s
ta
b
lis
h
e
d
 

 •
 

S
e
n
io
r 
s
ta
ff
 m

e
m
b
e
r 
in
 i
n
d
iv
id
u
a
l 

c
a
re
 h
o
m
e
 t
o
 t
a
k
e
 l
e
a
d
 f
o
r 
q
u
a
lit
y
 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
in
 t
h
e
 c
a
re
 o
f 
d
e
m
e
n
ti
a
 

in
 c
a
re
 h
o
m
e
 

 •
 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
a
 l
o
c
a
l 
s
tr
a
te
g
y
 f
o
r 

th
e
 m

a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 c
a
re
 o
f 
p
e
o
p
le
 

w
it
h
 d
e
m
e
n
ti
a
 i
n
 t
h
e
 c
a
re
 h
o
m
e
, 
le
d
 

b
y 
s
e
n
io
r 
s
ta
ff
 m

e
m
b
e
r 

 •
 

A
n
ti
-p
s
y
c
h
o
ti
c
 m

e
d
ic
a
ti
o
n
 c
a
re
 h
o
m
e
 

re
v
ie
w
 s
o
 t
h
a
t 
o
n
ly
 a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
 u
s
e
 

o
f 
m
e
d
ic
a
ti
o
n
 f
o
r 
p
e
o
p
le
 w

it
h
 

d
e
m
e
n
ti
a
 

 •
 

R
e
a
d
ily
 a
v
a
ila
b
le
 g
u
id
a
n
c
e
 a
n
d
 

in
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 f
o
r 
c
a
re
 h
o
m
e
 s
ta
ff
 o
n
 

th
e
 b
e
s
t 
p
ra
c
ti
c
e
 d
e
m
e
n
ti
a
 c
a
re
 

(i
n
c
lu
d
in
g
 t
h
e
 u
s
e
 o
f 
a
s
s
is
ti
v
e
 

te
c
h
n
o
lo
g
y
) 

 •
 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
s
p
e
c
ia
lis
t 
in
-r
e
a
c
h
 

s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 f
ro
m
 o
ld
e
r 
p
e
o
p
le
’s
 m

e
n
ta
l 

h
e
a
lt
h
 t
e
a
m
s
 t
o
 w

o
rk
 i
n
 c
a
re
 h
o
m
e
s
 

to
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 a
n
d
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
 c
a
re
 

 •
 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
o
th
e
r 
in
-r
e
a
c
h
 

 •
 

W
o
rk
in
g
 G

ro
u
p
s
 e
s
ta
b
lis
h
e
d
 

(C
a
ro
lin
e
 A
le
x
a
n
d
e
r 
le
a
d
) 

           •
 

A
n
ti
-p
s
yc
h
o
ti
c
 P
re
s
c
ri
b
in
g
 i
n
 

C
a
re
 H

o
m
e
s
 G

ro
u
p
 e
s
ta
b
lis
h
e
d
 

w
it
h
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 l
e
a
d
 c
lin
ic
ia
n
 

              

 C
a
ro
lin
e
 

A
le
x
a
n
d
e
r 

           T
im

 W
a
lli
n
 

                

 

80



  

 

 
W
o
rk
in
g
 t
o
g
e
th
e
r 
fo
r 
th
e
 p
e
o
p
le
 o
f 
H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

D
e
m
e
n
ti
a
 C
a
re
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
  

s
u
p
p
o
rt
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 (
s
u
c
h
 a
s
 p
ri
m
a
ry
 

c
a
re
, 
p
h
a
rm

a
c
y,
 d
e
n
ti
s
tr
y
 e
tc
) 
to
 

im
p
ro
v
e
 c
a
re
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 

 •
 

C
o
m
p
re
h
e
n
s
iv
e
 T
ra
in
in
g
 P
la
n
 t
o
 b
e
 

e
s
ta
b
lis
h
e
d
 a
n
d
 i
m
p
le
m
e
n
te
d
 t
o
 

im
p
ro
v
e
 c
a
re
 s
ta
ff
 s
k
ill
s
 i
n
 N
u
rs
in
g
 &
 

re
s
id
e
n
ti
a
l 
s
e
tt
in
g
s
 

      •
 

E
x
p
lo
ra
ti
o
n
 o
f 
a
s
s
is
ti
v
e
 t
e
c
h
n
o
lo
g
ie
s
 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
ts
 t
o
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 c
a
re
 

p
ro
v
is
io
n
 a
n
d
 e
n
h
a
n
c
e
 t
h
e
 q
u
a
lit
y
 o
f 

lif
e
 o
f 
p
e
o
p
le
 w

it
h
 d
e
m
e
n
ti
a
 

  

    •
 

D
e
m
e
n
ti
a
 t
ra
in
in
g
 f
o
r 
R
e
s
 &
 

N
u
rs
in
g
 H
o
m
e
s
 

1
. 

N
in
e
 2
 d
a
y
 c
o
u
rs
e
s
 b
o
o
k
e
d
 

a
n
d
 o
v
e
rs
u
b
s
c
ri
b
e
d
 

2
. 

F
o
u
r 
1
 d
a
y
 c
o
u
rs
e
 r
u
n
n
in
g
 t
o
 

p
ro
v
id
e
 a
d
d
it
io
n
a
l 
tr
a
in
in
g
 t
o
 

th
o
s
e
 p
re
v
io
u
s
ly
 t
ra
in
e
d
 

 •
 

C
IR
C
A
 p
ilo
t 
–
 c
u
rr
e
n
tl
y
 w

o
rk
in
g
 

o
n
 t
h
e
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
a
 

b
u
s
in
e
s
s
 c
a
s
e
 t
o
 p
ilo
t 
m
u
lt
i-
to
u
c
h
 

s
c
re
e
n
 m

e
m
o
ry
 d
e
v
ic
e
 t
h
a
t 

im
p
ro
v
e
s
 c
a
re
 p
la
n
n
in
g
 a
n
d
 

p
e
rs
o
n
-c
e
n
tr
e
d
 r
e
la
ti
o
n
s
h
ip
 

b
u
ild
in
g
 b
e
tw

e
e
n
 c
a
re
r 
s
ta
ff
 a
n
d
 

s
e
rv
ic
e
 u
s
e
rs
 i
n
 c
a
re
 h
o
m
e
 /
 d
a
y
 

c
a
re
 e
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
ts
 

•
 

T
A
N
D
E
M
 –
 I
n
v
o
lv
e
d
 i
n
 N
a
ti
o
n
a
l 

b
id
 f
o
r 
re
s
e
a
rc
h
 p
ro
je
c
t 
to
 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
 f
u
tu
re
 d
e
m
e
n
ti
a
 

te
c
h
n
o
lo
g
y 

     C
h
e
ry
l 
P
o
o
le
 /
 

C
a
ro
lin
e
 

A
le
x
a
n
d
e
r 

        A
n
d
re
w
 M

o
rr
is
 

/ 
H
 S
p
e
n
c
e
r 

          

81



  

 

 
W
o
rk
in
g
 t
o
g
e
th
e
r 
fo
r 
th
e
 p
e
o
p
le
 o
f 
H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

D
e
m
e
n
ti
a
 C
a
re
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
  

 T
h
e
m
e
 1
2
 –
 I
m
p
ro
v
in
g
 E
n
d
 o
f 
L
if
e
 C
a
re
 

 D
a
te
 

N
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
M
il
e
s
to
n
e
s
  

H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 M
il
e
s
to
n
e
s
  

U
p
d
a
te
 N
o
v
e
m
b
e
r 
2
0
0
9
 

L
e
a
d
 

T
im
e
s
c
a
le
  

 
 •
 

E
s
ta
b
lis
h
 c
lo
s
e
 l
in
k
s
 w

it
h
 

D
H
 E
n
d
 o
f 
L
if
e
 C
a
re
 

S
tr
a
te
g
y
 T
e
a
m
 

 •
 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
 c
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
 

g
u
id
a
n
c
e
 w

it
h
 e
n
d
 o
f 
lif
e
 

te
a
m
s
 a
n
d
 N
IC
E
 

 •
 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
 d
e
m
e
n
ti
a
 a
n
d
 

e
n
d
 o
f 
lif
e
 c
a
re
 p
a
th
w
a
y
 

 •
 

C
o
lla
te
 a
n
d
 p
u
b
lis
h
 g
o
o
d
 

p
ra
c
ti
c
e
 c
a
s
e
 e
x
a
m
p
le
s
 

 •
 

O
b
je
c
ti
v
e
 1
2
 W

o
rk
in
g
 G

ro
u
p
 t
o
 b
e
 

e
s
ta
b
lis
h
e
d
 

 •
 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
d
 e
n
d
 o
f 
lif
e
 c
a
re
 f
o
r 

p
e
o
p
le
 w

it
h
 d
e
m
e
n
ti
a
 a
c
ro
s
s
 c
a
re
 

s
e
tt
in
g
s
 w

h
ic
h
 r
e
fl
e
c
ts
 t
h
e
ir
 

p
re
fe
re
n
c
e
s
 a
n
d
 m

a
k
e
s
 f
u
ll 
u
s
e
 o
f 

th
e
 p
la
n
n
in
g
 t
o
o
ls
 i
n
 t
h
e
 M

e
n
ta
l 

C
a
p
a
c
it
y 
A
c
t 

 •
 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
 l
o
c
a
l 
e
n
d
 o
f 
lif
e
 c
a
re
 

p
a
th
w
a
y
s
 f
o
r 
d
e
m
e
n
ti
a
 c
o
n
s
is
te
n
t 

w
it
h
 t
h
e
 G

o
ld
 S
ta
n
d
a
rd
 f
ra
m
e
w
o
rk
 a
s
 

id
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 b
y
 t
h
e
 E
n
d
 o
f 
L
if
e
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
 

 •
 

E
n
s
u
re
 p
a
lli
a
ti
v
e
 c
a
re
 n
e
tw

o
rk
s
 

s
u
p
p
o
rt
 t
h
e
 s
p
re
a
d
 o
f 
b
e
s
t 
p
ra
c
ti
c
e
 

o
n
 e
n
d
 o
f 
lif
e
 c
a
re
 i
n
 d
e
m
e
n
ti
a
 

 •
 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
d
 p
a
in
 r
e
lie
f 
a
n
d
 

n
u
rs
in
g
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 f
o
r 
p
e
o
p
le
 w

it
h
 

d
e
m
e
n
ti
a
 a
t 
th
e
 e
n
d
 o
f 
lif
e
 

 •
 

W
o
rk
in
g
 G

ro
u
p
 e
s
ta
b
lis
h
e
d
 (
D
r 

S
a
n
d
ra
 S
a
lt
e
r 
le
a
d
) 

 D
r 
S
a
n
d
ra
 

S
a
lt
e
r 

 

  

82



  

 

 
W
o
rk
in
g
 t
o
g
e
th
e
r 
fo
r 
th
e
 p
e
o
p
le
 o
f 
H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

D
e
m
e
n
ti
a
 C
a
re
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
  

 T
h
e
m
e
 1
3
 –
 A
n
 I
n
fo
rm
e
d
 a
n
d
 E
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
 W
o
rk
fo
rc
e
 (
*P
ri
o
ri
ty
 T
h
e
m
e
) 

 D
a
te
 

N
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
M
il
e
s
to
n
e
s
  

H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 M
il
e
s
to
n
e
s
  

U
p
d
a
te
 N
o
v
e
m
b
e
r 
2
0
0
9
 

L
e
a
d
 

T
im
e
s
c
a
le
  

 
 •
 

D
is
c
u
s
s
io
n
s
 w

it
h
 S
k
ill
s
 f
o
r 

h
e
a
lt
h
, 
S
k
ill
s
 f
o
r 
C
a
re
, 
th
e
 

S
o
c
ia
l 
C
a
re
 I
n
s
ti
tu
te
 f
o
r 

E
x
c
e
lle
n
c
e
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 

E
n
g
lis
h
 C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 C
a
re
 

A
s
s
o
c
ia
ti
o
n
 a
b
o
u
t 
a
c
ti
o
n
 

n
e
e
d
e
d
 

 •
 

C
o
n
s
id
e
ra
ti
o
n
 o
f 

c
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
 m

a
p
p
in
g
 

e
x
e
rc
is
e
 

 •
 

E
a
c
h
 N
D
S
 o
b
je
c
ti
v
e
 t
o
 

h
a
v
e
 c
o
re
 l
e
a
d
 

 •
 

W
o
rk
 w

it
h
 k
e
y
 n
a
ti
o
n
a
l 

s
ta
k
e
h
o
ld
e
rs
 t
o
 s
e
c
u
re
 

e
n
g
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 

 •
 

R
u
n
 c
o
n
fe
re
n
c
e
s
 a
n
d
 

w
o
rk
s
h
o
p
s
 o
n
 s
p
e
c
if
ic
 

th
e
m
e
s
 

 •
 

L
in
k
 w

it
h
 o
th
e
r 
D
H
 o
r 

c
ro
s
s
 g
o
v
e
rn
m
e
n
t 

d
e
m
o
n
s
tr
a
to
r 
p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 

to
 e
n
s
u
re
 i
n
te
g
ra
te
d
 

a
p
p
ro
a
c
h
 

 •
 

O
b
je
c
ti
v
e
 1
3
 W

o
rk
in
g
 G

ro
u
p
 t
o
 b
e
 

e
s
ta
b
lis
h
e
d
 

 •
 

U
n
d
e
rt
a
k
e
 a
 s
c
o
ri
n
g
 e
x
e
rc
is
e
 

e
x
a
m
in
in
g
 t
h
e
 s
k
ill
s
 m

ix
 a
n
d
 

c
o
m
p
e
te
n
c
ie
s
 o
f 
th
e
 w

o
rk
fo
rc
e
 

d
e
d
ic
a
te
d
 t
o
 p
ro
v
id
in
g
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 f
o
r 

p
e
o
p
le
 w

it
h
 d
e
m
e
n
ti
a
 

 •
 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
 a
 w

o
rk
fo
rc
e
 p
ro
fi
le
, 
s
k
ill
s
 

m
ix
, 
re
c
ru
it
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 r
e
te
n
ti
o
n
 

s
tr
a
te
g
ie
s
 a
n
d
 c
o
m
p
e
te
n
c
ie
s
 

fr
a
m
e
w
o
rk
 t
h
a
t 
n
e
e
d
 t
o
 b
e
 i
n
 p
la
c
e
 t
o
 

p
ro
v
id
e
 f
u
tu
re
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
. 

  •
 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
 a
 c
o
m
p
re
h
e
n
s
iv
e
 t
ra
in
in
g
 

p
la
n
 a
n
d
 i
m
p
le
m
e
n
t 

 •
 

W
o
rk
in
g
 G

ro
u
p
 e
s
ta
b
lis
h
e
d
 

(C
h
e
ry
l 
P
o
o
le
 l
e
a
d
) 

              •
 
C
o
m
p
re
h
e
n
s
iv
e
 O
ld
e
r 
M
e
n
ta
l 

H
e
a
lt
h
 P
e
o
p
le
s
 W
o
rk
fo
rc
e
 

P
ro
je
c
t 
e
s
ta
b
li
s
h
e
d
 

1
. 

P
e
rs
o
n
a
lis
a
ti
o
n
 &
 I
n
d
iv
id
u
a
l 

B
u
d
g
e
t 
tr
a
in
in
g
 

2
. 

M
e
n
ta
l 
H
e
a
lt
h
 P
ro
m
o
ti
o
n
 

(i
n
c
lu
d
in
g
 f
u
n
c
ti
o
n
a
l 
s
k
ill
s
 

tr
a
in
in
g
 f
o
r 
6
0
 c
lin
ic
a
l 
s
ta
ff
) 

3
. 

D
e
m
e
n
ti
a
 t
ra
in
in
g
 f
o
r 

R
e
s
id
e
n
ti
a
l 
a
n
d
 N
u
rs
in
g
 

H
o
m
e
s
 (
in
-h
o
u
s
e
 t
ra
in
in
g
 /
 e
-

le
a
rn
in
g
 r
e
s
o
u
rc
e
) 

4
. 

P
h
y
s
io
th
e
ra
p
is
t 
tr
a
in
in
g
 –
 

T
w
o
 x
 t
w
o
 d
a
y
 c
o
u
rs
e
s
 

 C
h
e
ry
l 
P
o
o
le
 

  A
n
d
re
w
 H
a
s
le
r 

     A
n
d
re
w
 H
a
s
le
r 

    C
h
e
ry
l 
P
o
o
le
 

 

83



  

 

 
W
o
rk
in
g
 t
o
g
e
th
e
r 
fo
r 
th
e
 p
e
o
p
le
 o
f 
H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

D
e
m
e
n
ti
a
 C
a
re
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
  

ta
ilo
re
d
 t
o
 m

e
e
t 
s
p
e
c
if
ic
 

g
ro
u
p
 n
e
e
d
s
 

5
. 

G
P
 –
 p
ilo
t 
tr
a
in
in
g
 i
n
 s
o
u
th
 

H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 f
o
r 
G
P
s
 

(i
m
p
ro
v
e
d
 s
p
e
c
ia
lis
t 
re
fe
rr
a
l 

ro
u
te
s
 a
n
d
 e
a
rl
ie
r 
re
fe
rr
a
l)
 

P
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
 n
o
w
 b
e
in
g
 u
s
e
d
 

a
c
ro
s
s
 o
th
e
r 
s
e
c
to
rs
 (
c
a
re
rs
 

g
ro
u
p
s
 /
 A
l’s
 c
a
fé
) 

6
. 

T
ra
in
in
g
 f
o
r 
T
ra
in
e
rs
 –
 1
0
 

O
P
M
H
 c
lin
ic
ia
n
s
 t
ra
in
e
d
 a
n
d
 

s
ig
n
e
d
 u
p
 t
o
 h
o
s
t 
o
n
-g
o
in
g
 

tr
a
in
in
g
 s
e
s
s
io
n
s
 (
in
c
re
a
s
in
g
 

c
a
p
a
c
it
y 
to
 m

e
e
t 
g
ro
w
in
g
 

d
e
m
a
n
d
 f
o
r 
d
e
m
e
n
ti
a
 

tr
a
in
in
g
) 

7
. 

S
p
e
c
ia
lis
t 
C
a
re
 S
e
rv
ic
e
 

tr
a
in
in
g
 –
 p
e
rs
o
n
 c
e
n
tr
e
d
 

tr
a
in
in
g
 c
o
rn
e
rs
to
n
e
 o
f 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
s
p
e
c
ia
lis
t 

In
te
rm

e
d
ia
te
 C
a
re
 S
e
rv
ic
e
 –
 

ro
lli
n
g
 t
h
is
 t
ra
in
in
g
 o
u
t 
a
n
d
 

lo
o
k
in
g
 t
o
 i
n
c
re
a
s
in
g
 p
ro
v
id
e
 

tr
a
in
in
g
 a
n
d
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 t
o
 o
th
e
r 

d
o
m
ic
ili
a
ry
 c
a
re
 p
ro
v
id
e
rs
 

8
. 

P
ro
fe
s
s
o
r 
D
a
w
n
 B
ro
o
k
e
r 

c
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
e
d
 t
o
 p
ro
v
id
e
 

tw
e
lv
e
 h
a
lf
 d
a
y
 s
e
m
in
a
rs
 f
o
r 

1
5
 s
ta
ff
 t
ra
in
e
rs
 o
n
 a
 s
e
ri
e
s
 

o
f 
to
p
ic
s
 r
e
la
ti
n
g
 t
o
 a
ll 

a
s
p
e
c
ts
 o
f 
d
e
m
e
n
ti
a
 c
a
re
. 

9
. 

Y
o
u
n
g
 O

n
s
e
t 
d
e
m
e
n
ti
a
 –
 

p
ro
fe
s
s
o
r 
B
ro
o
k
e
r 

c
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
e
d
 t
o
 p
ro
v
id
e
 

tr
a
in
in
g
 a
s
 p
a
rt
 o
f 
s
e
m
in
a
rs
 

1
0
. 
P
ri
m
a
ry
 c
a
re
 t
e
a
m
s
 –
 n
e
w
 

84



  

 

 
W
o
rk
in
g
 t
o
g
e
th
e
r 
fo
r 
th
e
 p
e
o
p
le
 o
f 
H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

D
e
m
e
n
ti
a
 C
a
re
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
  

tr
a
in
in
g
 p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 b
e
in
g
 

e
s
ta
b
lis
h
e
d
 b
a
s
e
d
 u
p
o
n
 

s
o
u
th
 H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 m

o
d
e
l 

w
o
rk
 

 S
tr
o
n
g
 L
in
k
s
 w

it
h
 W

o
rc
e
s
te
r 

U
n
iv
e
rs
it
y
 t
o
 b
e
 f
u
rt
h
e
r 
 f
o
rg
e
d
 

th
ro
u
g
h
 a
b
o
v
e
 w

o
rk
 w

it
h
 P
ro
fe
s
s
o
r 

B
ro
o
k
e
r 
a
n
d
 h
e
r 
te
a
m
 e
n
a
b
lin
g
 

n
e
tw

o
rk
in
g
 w

it
h
 W

o
rc
e
s
te
rs
h
ir
e
 t
o
 

a
v
o
id
 r
e
p
e
ti
ti
o
n
 w

h
ile
 e
x
p
a
n
d
in
g
  

k
n
o
w
le
d
g
e
 a
n
d
 s
k
ill
s
 b
a
s
e
 

  

85



86



 

 
 Further information on the subject of this report is available from 
 David Penrose, Democratic Services Officer on (01432) 383690 

  

MEETING: ADULT SOCIAL CARE AND STRATEGIC 

HOUSING SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

DATE: 14 DECEMBER 2009 

TITLE OF REPORT: COMMITTEE WORK PROGRAMME 

REPORT BY:  DEMOCRATIC SERVICES OFFICER 

CLASSIFICATION: Open  

Wards Affected 

County-wide. 

Purpose 

To consider the Committee’s work programme. 

Recommendation 

 THAT  

a) the Committee re-examine the current work programme to ensure that 

matters listed for future consideration remain appropriate subjects for 

scrutiny; and  

b) subject to any other comment or issues raised by the Committee the 

Committee work programme be approved and reported to the Strategic 

Monitoring Committee. 

Introduction and Background 

1. As reported to this Committee in September, work has been ongoing in response to 
the findings of the external healthcheck of the scrutiny function, undertaken by the 
Leadership Centre.  Members of the Scrutiny Committees and the Executive 
participated in a facilitated scrutiny event to develop an enhanced external focus to 
the scrutiny committee work programme reflecting the concerns of residents and 
communities of Herefordshire.  After considering the challenges facing the County 
and key issues identified from public consultation and surveys Members identified 
the following five priorities for scrutiny: Housing related issues; Youth; 
Communication; Safeguarding and Transport related issues.   

2. Strategic Monitoring Committee on 19 October requested that all Scrutiny 
Committees re-examine their current work programmes to ensure that matters listed 

for future consideration remain appropriate subjects for scrutiny. 

AGENDA ITEM 14

87



3. The programme may be modified by the Chairman following consultation with the 
Vice-Chairman and the Directors in response to changing circumstances. 

4. Should any urgent, prominent or high profile issue arise, the Chairman may consider 
calling an additional meeting to consider that issue. 

5. Should Members become aware of any issues they consider may be added to the 
scrutiny programme they should contact the Democratic Services Officer to log the 
issue so that it may be taken into consideration when planning future agendas or 
when revising the work programme. 

 

Background Papers 

• None identified. 

88



 

Adult Social Care and Housing Scrutiny Committee Work Programme 2009/10 

Work Programme Presented for Consideration on 14 December 2009 

25 January 2010  

Items • Budget 

• Performance Monitoring 

• Review of Housing Allocation 

• Joint Strategic Needs Analysis 

• Report on a planned Scrutiny event to be held on the Affordable 
Housing Policy linked to the Local Development Forum 

• Review of Cabinet's Response to the Scrutiny Review of the 
Support to Carers in Herefordshire. 

• Review of Cabinet's Response to the Joint Scrutiny Review of the 
Transition From Leaving Care To Adult Life 

31 March 2010  

Items • Budget 

• Performance Monitoring 

• Report on a one day event on the Scrutiny Review of Housing 
Allocation 

• Joint Commissioning – progress report  

June 2010  

Items • Budget 

• Performance Monitoring 

• Action Plan Monitoring: the Scrutiny Review of the Support to 
Carers in Herefordshire, Joint Scrutiny Review Of The Transition 
From Leaving Care To Adult Life 

• Safeguarding Board, Adult Social Care – Improvement Programme 

• Presentation by the Cabinet Member (Environment and Strategic 
Housing) 

July 2010  

Items • Budget 

• Performance Monitoring 

• Scrutiny Review of Home Care Services 

• Review of Cabinet's Response to the Scrutiny Review of Housing 
Allocation 

• Presentation by the Cabinet Member (Older People & Social Care, 
Adults) 

October 2010  

Items • Budget 

• Performance Monitoring 

• Review of Cabinet's Response to the Scrutiny Review of Home Care 
Services 

 

Further additions to the work programme will be made as required 

89



90


	Agenda
	
	4 MINUTES
	6 Revenue Budget Monitoring Report 2009/10
	Appendix 1 - scrutiny report october 09
	Appendix 2 -scrutiny report - Activity (Oct 09) v2

	7 SUPPORTING PEOPLE PROGRAMME GRANT BUDGET POSITION
	8 ADULT SOCIAL CARE PERFORMANCE MONITORING 2009/10
	9 STRATEGIC HOUSING SERVICE PERFORMANCE
	SH Appendix A - Key to Levels of Performance Report
	Strategic Housing Performance to September 09

	11 SCOPING REPORT FOR THE SCRUTINY REVIEW OF HOME CARE IN HEREFORDSHIRE
	Home Care scoping statement

	12 HOMELESSNESS PREVENTION AND ALLEVIATION APPROACHES
	13 LIVING WELL WITH DEMENTIA Œ A NATIONAL STRATEGY - UPDATE ON IMPLEMENTATION
	Dementia Strategy Milestones Nov 09

	14 COMMITTEE WORK PROGRAMME
	work programme asch Dec 09


